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Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the annual report of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

MARKET REVIEW

In 2024, China’s real estate industry continued to face
difficulties, including unstable liquidity due to developers’ debt
problems, weakened consumer confidence, weakened demand
for housing and sales decline, and the continued decline in
housing prices. As a result of the ongoing market downturn,
the sales area and value of commercial housing nationwide fell
year-on-year. In the year of 2024, the total sales area of
commercial housing amounted to approximately 974 million
sg.m., representing a decrease of approximately 12.2% as
compared with the previous year. In terms of monetary value,
the sales volume of commercial housing decreased by
approximately 17.0% year-on-year to approximately RMB9.68
trillion. Besides, the total investment in the real estate sector in
the year of 2024 amounted to approximately RMB10.0 trillion,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 9.6%.
The statistical data illustrated that the sales and investment
performance of real estate market continued to be weaken.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FE®HE A

In the past year, the central government has actively and
steadily implemented policies to regulate the real estate market,
effectively prevented and resolved market risks, and facilitated
the stable development of the real estate market. Despite a
series of relief measures introduced by the central government,
including the introduction of a “white list” policy, lowering of
down payment ratios, reduction of restrictions on housing
purchases and provision of financing support to developers, the
market is still under pressure to adjust, with the industry set to
consolidate further. The social welfare housing and rental
markets will receive more policy support. Investment focus will
shift from sole pursuit of scale to quality and efficiency. Overall,
China’s real estate industry is shifting from high-speed
development to high-quality development. The Group believes
that “stabilizing land prices, housing prices and expectations”
will continue to be the long-term policy direction, and the real
estate market will gradually stabilize and operate in an
appropriate manner.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Amidst the challenges of the real estate industry, the Group
has focused more on stabilizing its operations, exploring
different channels to boost sales, generating cash flow and
controlling costs in order to maintain business stability. As at
the end of 2024, all the bank loans at subsidiaries level had
been repaid in full.

During FY2024, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately RMB99.7 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 84.5% compared to last year’'s sales revenue.
This decline was mainly due to the revenue in FY2024 being
derived from inventory property sales, including Million Cities
Legend Phase 3 and shops in Crown Grand Court in Huizhou,
rather than newly completed and delivered properties, as in
FY2023. However, taking into account the impairment
provisions for the properties of the subsidiaries and the
associates companies, the Group recorded a loss attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB113.8 million for FY2024, representing a
decrease of loss approximately 76.4% as compared to the loss
for FY2023.

For FY2024, the Group attained an aggregated contracted
sales value, including sale of properties by the associates of
the Group at 100% level, of approximately RMB181 million with
a total GFA of approximately 26,400 sqg.m., which was mainly
attributable to the sale of Million Cities Legend Phase 3 and the
Jade Terrace in Huizhou and Dragon Palace in Henan.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

At the Third Session of the 14th National People’s Congress,
Premier Li Qiang’s Government Work Report pointed out the
need to continue to exert efforts to promote the stabilization of
the real estate market, adjust restrictive measures according to
the city’s policies, promote the acquisition of stock of
commercial housing, reasonably control the supply of new land
for real estate, and make more efforts to unleash the potential
of demand for rigid and improved housing. Moreover, it is
critical to continue the works to guarantee the delivery of
housing, and to effectively prevent the risk of debt defaults by
real estate enterprises. Meanwhile, it is necessary to establish
the real estate financing coordination mechanism in order to
build up relevant fundamental systems to continuously optimize
the housing supply structure and accelerate the establishment
of a new model for the development of the real estate sector.
Looking ahead, the prudential management system for real
estate finance will continue to be improved, and it will promote
the transformation of the real estate sector towards high-quality
development.

In addition, the Group will continue to identify and explore
investment opportunities, including certain sustainable
development projects, so as to create long-term value to the
shareholders and investors of the Company.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | hereby express my heartfelt gratitude
to all shareholders, investors, business partners, customers,
and all related parties in the community for their trust and
support, and our staff for their efforts and contributions to the
Group’s development.

Wong Ting Chung
Chairman

31st March 2025
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PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED)
HE B E @&
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PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEN@WmR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue A

Cost of sales $HE KR

Gross loss EEE

Valuation loss on investment properties & & ¥ ¥ (h{E B8

Change in fair value of financial CHIEATFESR
instruments

Other net income H A A% 58

Impairment loss on other receivables — E f [ Ut 70 1B A B &5 1B

Selling expenses HERX

Administrative expenses THHAX

Other expenses Hip %

Loss from operations REEHR

Finance costs BE KR

Share of profits less losses FE G & A A
of associates i F R B 18

Loss before taxation RBAER

Income tax FTis®#

Loss for the year FRABE

Loss for the year attributable to equity 2 72 ) 25 i% 5 fE1&
shareholders of the Company FAEBE
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2024
20244
RMB’000
ARETR

99,710

(116,839)

(17,129)

(410)

14,059
(1,341)
(7,581)

(41,822)
(3,686)

(57,910)

(18)

(64,946)

(122,874)

(20,640)

(143,514)

(113,817)

2023 Increase/(Decrease)

20234 #m,/ Cf )
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
ARETT ARETR %
641,634 (541,924) -84.5
(806,135) (689,296) -85.5
(164,501) (147,372) -89.6
(37,030) (36,620) -98.9
27,944 (27,944) -100
21,289 (7,230) -34.0
- (1,341) -100
(57,285) (49,704) -86.8
(49,579 (7,757) -15.7
(1,756) 1,930 109.9
(260,918) (203,008) -77.8
(6,363) (6,345) -99.7
(258,965) (194,019) -74.9
(526,246) (408,372) -76.7
(80,987) (60,347) -74.5
(607,233) (463,719) -76.4
(482,278) (368,461) -76.4
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWR DN (&)

Revenue

The Group’s revenue mainly represented income from the sale
of properties and gross rentals from properties earned during
the year, net of sales related taxes and discounts allowed.

Revenue from sale of properties has constituted, and is
expected to continue to constitute, a majority of the Group’s
total revenue.

Impairment

Affected by macroeconomic environment of Chinese Mainland,
in particular the real estate industry, impairment was recorded
for (i) properties held for development, properties under
development and completed properties of the Group; (i)
investment properties of the Group; and (iii) properties of the
Group’s associates.

Such impairment was made since there was a drop in the fair
value of all the above mentioned properties that are located in
Chinese Mainland. The values of these properties are
determined by market approach with reference to recent sales
price of comparable properties on a price per square meter
basis, adjusted for a premium or a discount specific to the
location, property size and age of the Group’s properties
compared to the recent sales. Market approach is universally
considered as the most accepted valuation approach for
valuing most forms of property. This involves the analysis of
recent market evidence of similar properties to compare with
the subject under valuation. Each comparable is analysed on
the basis of its unit rate; Each attribute of the comparables is
then compared with the subject and where there are any
differences, the unit rate is adjusted in order to arrive at the
appropriate unit rate for the subject. This is done by making
percentage adjustments to the unit rate for various factors,
such as time, location, building age, building quality and so on.
Same valuation method was used in FY2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

As there was no change in bases and assumptions of inputs,
and valuation methodology, the amount of impairment being
recorded for valuation in FY2024 was primarily driven by the
drop in the prices per square meter basis, which was caused
by various economic and market factors. The unit prices in the
localities of the Group’s properties witnessed a general
decrease over FY2024 due to the recent property market and
economic continued downturn and thus the properties are
subject to relatively discounts in realising the market values as
at the valuation date amid the latest market sentiments, and
potential purchasers of properties similar to the Group’s
properties are sceptical and uncertain about the near-term
situation of the economy, thus delaying their decisions on
purchases, resulting in selling velocities in such localities being
decreased.

Property development

() Contracted sales
Total properties contracted sales (based on GFA of sales
consent), including sale of properties by the associates of
the Group at 100% level, amounted to approximately
RMB181.0 million, representing a GFA of approximately
26,400 sg.m. sold for the year ended 31 December
2024.

(i) Land bank

As at 31 December 2024, the total GFA of the Group’s
land bank was approximately 1,208,981 sg.m., out of
which (i) approximately 348,000 sg.m. GFA was unsold
completed properties projects; (i) approximately 25,612
sg.m. GFA was unsold and under construction; and (iii)
approximately 835,369 sq.m. GFA was reserved for future
development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEENWR DN &)

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
properties held for future development sorted by development
projects as at 31 December 2024:

31 December

TREH AR EFR024FE12A31BILEREIER
EoMBFERABEENDERE

Ownership

interest of the

Group as at
Estimated

No. Project Location Site area Planned GFA 2024 Type completion date
20245
12A318
HEasm
E EH e HEER RUBEER EHEREE EA fEHRIRS
(sq.m.) (sa.m.) (%)
(F7%) (FAHK) (%)
Development projects held for future development
KEAZRRHRERR
1 Million Cities International Baiyunkeng, Danshui, Huiyang District, 61,614 184,842 100  Residential and TBC
Phases 4 and 5 Huizhou, Guangdong Province, commercial
the PRC
ERERMEALTH PEEREEMNTEBEAKEESR EEREE fE
2 Million Cities Royal Court Baiyunkeng, Danshui, Huiyang District, 47,679 143,037 545 Residential and 2026
Huizhou, Guangdong Province, commercial
the PRC
ENEELE FEEREBMNTEREAKEER ETEREE 20065
3 Milion Cities Tonghu Centre Tonghu Ecological Intelligent Zone, Gaoxin 55,596 300,000 50  Commercial 2026
District, Zhongkai, Huizhou, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
BHERRL PEEREEMMERTEENEREEER Bx 2026
4 Dragon Palace Phase 2 South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, 57,447 86,170 30 Residential and ~ TBC
Section VI & VI Zhumadian, Henan Province, the PRC commercial
REE-f PETHEREEETENERS EEREZ #E
ERRELER
5 Dragon Palace Phase 3 South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, 66,676 121,320 30 Commercial TBC
Zhumadian, Henan Province, the PRC
BEE=S hETHERSERTENERE [EES e
Sub-total 289,012 835,369
b
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEN® R DN &)

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s TR AEEN2024F127A31HIZEREIEH
properties under development sorted by development projects Zl D HIERFTWEME -
as at 31 December 2024

Unsold Ownership interest

GFA under of the Group as at Estimated
No. Project Location Site area development 31 December 2024  Type completion date
20245
12R318
BRPRE Hag
&5 BE e BEER BEER REREEE EH B RIAH
(sqm) (sa.m.) (%)
(EFK) (EFHAK) (%)
Development projects under development
ERPHERER
6 Dragon Palace Phase 2 South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, Zhumadian, 29,340 25,612 30  Residential May 2025 to
Section IV Henan Province, the PRC October 2025
BRE-SH PEEERRER T EMNERA TE 025F5A %
EMER 2025510
Sub-total 29,340 25,612

Nt
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEENWR DN &)

TREH AR EBR024FE12A31B D% T Y3
BIEEMBE :

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
completed development projects as at 31 December 2024

Ownership interest
of the Group as at

No. Project Location Site area GFA unsold 31 December 2024 Type
R2024F12A318 19
R/ HE 1t 2 B R AEREHRE F5EEEREER 55
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
(FF7K) (FF7K) (%)
Completed development projects
ERTHERER
7 Jade Terrace Phase 1 No. 181 Xingfa Road, Tonggiao Town, Gaoxin 38,167 22,363 30 Residential and
and Phase 2 District, Zhongkai, Huizhou, Guangdong commercial
Province, the PRC
RER—E-5 FEEREBEMMIESHNE B EEE E1815 EERBE
8 Dragon Palace Phase 1 South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, 24,268 8,137 30 Residential
Section Il Zhumadian, Henan Province, the PRC
BRE-HEZBR FRTHEESERTHMERES k£
9 Million Cities Tycoon Jiahe Road South, Xiazhuzhuang Street, Wuging 46,462 7,234 55 Residential
Place Phase 3 District, Tianjin, the PRC
BRER=H FERXETRER T REGRTER T=x
10 Million Cities Tycoon Jiahe Road South, Xiazhuzhuang Street, Wuging 28,612 7,680 55 Residential
Place Phase 4 District, Tianjin, the PRC
ENEFMH FEXETRER T AEERTER k£
11 Million Cities Baiyunkeng, Danshui, Huiyang District, Huizhou, 50,571 25,311 100 Residential and
International Guangdong Province, the PRC commercial
Phases 1 to 3
BRER-Z=1H FEEREBENTEGRAKAESR TEREE
12 Million Cities Legend Baiyunkeng, Danshui, Huiyang District, Huizhou, 89,899 19,361 54.5 Residential and
Phases 1 to 3 Guangdong Province, the PRC commercial
ENEE-E=H FEEREBNTEBRKKEEN FERHE
13 Sunshine New Court Renmin South 4th Road, Shuikou Town, Huicheng 32,109 13,471 95.39 Residential and
Phases 1 and 2 District, Huizhou, Guangdong Province, commercial
the PRC
BrEm—HR_8 FEEREEMNTEREKAGHE ETEREE
PN
14 Million Cities Tycoon Jiahe Road South, Xiazhuzhuang Street, Wuging 84,808 9,568 55 Residential
Places 1 and 2 District, Tianjin, the PRC
BREs-HR -8 FERXETRER T REHRTER f=x
15 Crown Grand Court No. 8 Hesheng Road, Shuikou Town, Huicheng 43,929 7,050 100 Residential and
District, Huizhou, Guangdong Province, the commercial
PRC
ELEyi FEEREEMNTERRKALGE FERHE

CEM N
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The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
completed development projects as at 31 December 2024:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEE
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RIEBENHE: (&)

(Continued)
Ownership interest
of the Group as at
No. Project Location Site area GFA unsold 31 December 2024 Type
H2024F12A31A 19
5 EE it B it 2 [ R REELEE AEEREEERZ 85
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
(FF7K) (FF7K) (%)
Completed development projects (Continued)
BE#THZERER (&)
16 Dragon Terrace Phase No. 188 Xingfa Road, Tonghu Ecological Intelligent 94,891 110,003 50 Residential and
1 and Phase 2 Zone, Gaoxin District, Zhongkai, Huizhou, commercial
Guangdong Province, the PRC
R —HR-H FEEREBNMERMEENEREERAR FEREE
Kig188%
17 Dragon Palace Phase 1 South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, 65,166 13,235 30 Residential
Section | Zhumadian, Henan Province, the PRC
BRE-HE-BRR FEAEERSEETENERR F=x
18 Dragon Palace Phase 1 South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, 54,284 12,904 30 Residential
Section I Zhumadian, Henan Province, the PRC
ERE-HE_ER FEAEEESERTENERE FE
19 Legend Plaza Jiahe Road South, Xiazhuzhuang Street, Wuging 39,756 76,454 55 Commercial
District, Tianjin, the PRC
ZEES FRIXETRER TREGHRTER [EES
20 Dragon Palace Phase Il South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, 34,236 15,229 30 Residential
Section V Zhumadian, Henan Province, the PRC
BRE_HERLER FENEEESERTENERE FE
Sub-total 727,160 348,000
N
Total 1,045,510 1,208,981
g
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEBEENWE D &)

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
investment properties as at 31 December 2024

No.
iR 5

Address
3k

B

Description and tenure

B & F 2

TREHAREFR2024FE12 AT AR EMED

Particulars of occupancy

ERFER

23

24

A portion of a composite
development, namely Yuehu Ju,
located at No. 39 Xiajiao East
Road, Huicheng District, Huizhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC

TEERAEEMNERRE T ARE
B9 AR A B RIA B MM /E K — &

)

A portion of a commercial

development, namely Port Vehicle
Inspection Yard Office Building,
located at Huifeng 2nd Road,
Huicheng District, Huizhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC

TEERABMERESER K
BEERBABREIEZRBSH
VN E:0Rt=i5s)

Million Cities Holdings Limited B {ZRER AT

The property comprises a portion
of a retail development with a
total gross floor area of
approximately 1,678.17 sqg.m.

The land use rights of the subject
site were granted for a term
expiring on 4 March 2074 for
composite residential use.
ZMEBRERERBLD
1,678 17 F RN TEERZLD -

RN i EREEER
R2074F3 4B fEm » FERA1E
ER% -

The property comprises a portion
of a commercial development with
a total gross floor area of
approximately 443.99 sqg.m.

The land use rights of the subject
site were granted for a term
expiring on 1 November 2042 for
commercial use.

%) K B 4B 2 ST 18 £9443.99
FHANBEEERALD

AR Tt AR

R2042F 11 B1H Em © 1ERE %R
ﬁo

18

The property was completed in
about November 2005 and is
currently available for leasing.

% W) % 2 2006911 A A 12 3%
T BATAIHAEE -

The property was completed in
about September 2006 and is
currently available for retail and
office leasing.

24 % 2 A20064F9 A B 18 3%
T BRIAUHZSERBRLEMR
1=

=5 o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
investment properties as at 31 December 2024: (Continued)

No

. Address

b 3t

BME: (&)

Description and tenure

R &

EEEN W R DN (&)

TREHAREFR2024FE12 AT AR EMER

Particulars of occupancy

ERFER

25 A portion of Unit A2001, Million
Cities International located at
Baiyunkeng, Huiyang District,
Huizhou, Guangdong Province,

The PRC

TEEREEMTERRBENRN
EIMA20015% 78 8 — 28

26 Unit A2002, Million Cities
International, located at
Baiyunkeng, Huiyang District,
Huizhou, Guangdong Province,

The PRC

FEEREEMNTERRAEN
B P A20025% 75 48

T [UFFR « Annual Report 2024

The property comprises a portion
of a commercial development with
a total gross floor area of
approximately 1,637.84 sg.m.

The land use rights of the subject
site were granted for a term
expiring on 11 January 2048 for
commercial use and expiring on
10 January 2078 for residential
use.

ZMEBRBEREEED
1,637.84 F I RHIEEERE D -

HEAERN T ERECER
ER BB rR2048F1 A11HE
W EEER B/ R2078F1 10
H & °

The property comprises a portion
of a commercial development with
a total gross floor area of
approximately 1,765.61 sqg.m.

The land use rights of the subject
site were granted for a term
expiring on 11 January 2048 for
commercial use and expiring on
10 January 2078 for residential
use.

ZMEBREREERELD
1,765.61F T RME X ERD -

HREEN T RAED B
ERE ¥ A B N2048F1 A11HE
W EEER B HR2078F1 10
HEm e

The property was completed in
about March 2013 and is
currently available for leasing.

W) % C A2013E3 A BT 18 3%
T BRiaHBEE-

The property was completed in
about March 2013 and is
currently available for leasing.

Z Y% B M2013F3 A Al & %
T BATAIHAEE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEBEENWE D &)

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
investment properties as at 31 December 2024: (Continued)

BME: (&)

TREHAREFR2024FE12 AT AR EMED

No. Address Description and tenure Particulars of occupancy
fm 5% #h 31 BR & 5 =S
27 Unit 12 and Gate 1-101 on The property comprises a portion The property was completed in
Podium level (Zone 5 & 15) of of a commercial development with about July 2024 and is currently
Block 11 of Legend Plaza, South a total gross floor area of available for leasing.
of Jiahe Road, Xiazhuzhuang approximately 3,069.12 sg.m.
Street, Wuqing District, Tianjin
The land use rights of the subject
site were granted for a term
expiring on 13 June 2053 for
commercial use.
RETRBER TAREHRTER ZVECSRERERED ZYE D R2024F7 A i 188
A% B RS — HISR K12, 1 3,069. 12 F F KM EEERESH - T BRIAIHHESE -
FI-1017H [R5 215
R R T AR B
ER A% - 20536 A13H &
m e
28 Unit 2 on Podium level of Block  The property comprises a portion The property was completed in

11 of Legend Plaza, South of
Jiahe Road,Xiazhuzhuang
Street,Wuqing District, Tianjin

RAEMRBE NREHAREZA

BrEAREES - B1IUREBER2

55 7

Million Cities Holdings Limited B {ZRER AT

of a commercial development with
a total gross floor area of
approximately 739.60 sg.m.

The land use rights of the subject
site were granted for a term
expiring on 13 June 2053 for
commercial use.

ZE BB IE49739.60
FHARNEEERID o

AR Tt AR

ERE A% - R2053%6 130 &
e

20

about July 2024 and is currently
available for leasing.

W) % T 202447 A B8 3%
T BRia#HBEE-
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The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
investment properties as at 31 December 2024: (Continued)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BME: (&)

EEENWE D&

TREHAREFR2024FE12 AT AR EMER

No. Address Description and tenure Particulars of occupancy
fm 5% #h 31 BR & & 8 =S
29 Unit 16 and Unit 17 on Podium The property comprises a portion The property was completed in
level of Block 11 of Legend Plaza, of a commercial development with about July 2024 and is currently
South of Jiahe Road, a total gross floor area of available for leasing.
Xiazhuzhuang Street, approximately 203.86 sg.m.
Wuging District, Tianjin
The land use rights of the subject
site were granted for a term
expiring on 13 June 2053 for
commercial use.
REMRBER TAREHRERT ZIMELELEEMBEL203.86 &Y% B N202457 A Al 18 %
BrEAl2ERS —HREER FTHARNBEEZERID - T BRIATHEE-
16 K175 5 4
RN T RSB
ER A% - R2053F6A13H &
m e
30 Unit 3 on Level 1 of Block 11 of The property comprises a portion The property was completed in

Legend Plaza,South of Jiahe
Road,Xiazhuzhuang Street,Wuqing
District, Tianjin

KEMHRBE NREEHRE =0
BRI R EES— B E1ES
5% 7 4R

T [UFFR « Annual Report 2024

of a commercial development with
a total gross floor area of
approximately 117.61 sg.m.

The land use rights of the subject
site were granted for a term
expiring on 13 June 2053 for
commercial use.
ZMEBRBBERLEEBEL117.61
FHARNEEERID o

AR Tt AR
tERE A% - K20535F6A13H &
e

about July 2024 and is currently
available for leasing.

W) % T 202447 A B8 3%
T BRia@HBEE-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEBEENWE D &)

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
investment properties as at 31 December 2024: (Continued)

BME: (&)

TREHAREFR2024FE12 AT AR EMED

No. Address Description and tenure Particulars of occupancy
fm 5% #h 31 BR & 5 =S
31 Unit 6 in Shopping Arcade of The property comprises a portion The property was completed in
Block 11 on Level 1 of Legend of a commercial development with about July 2024 and is currently
Plaza, South of Jiahe Road, a total gross floor area of available for leasing.
Xiazhuzhung Street, Wuging approximately 137.88 sg.m.
District, Tianjin
The land use rights of the subject
site were granted for a term
expiring on 13 June 2053 for
commercial use.
RETRBER TREHREZT ZVEBREREMBELN137.88 ZWMECK2024F7 A Fi&K
BEAEEES - HREEREe FHARNEEERSD - T BrRIATHESE-
55 7
R R T AR B
ER A% - 20536 A13H &
m e
32 Unit 13-15 in Shopping Arcade of The property comprises a portion The property was completed in

Block 11 on Level 1 of Legend
Plaza, South of Jiahe Road,
Xiazhuzhung Street, Wugqing
District, Tianjin

KEMRBRE NAREFREEZN
EEAZEES —HRERRD
13% 1555 79 4

Million Cities Holdings Limited B {ZRER AT

of a commercial development with
a total gross floor area of
approximately 257.28 sqg.m.

The land use rights of the subject
site were granted for a term
expiring on 13 June 2053 for
commercial use.

ZE BB E 89257.28
FHARNEEERID o

AR Tt AR

ERE A% - R2053%6 130 &
e

22

about July 2024 and is currently
for leasing.

W) % T 202447 A B8 3%
T BRia#HBEE-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

following table sets out a summary of the Group’s

investment properties as at 31 December 2024: (Continued)

EEEN W R DN (&)

TREHAREFR2024FE12 AT AR EMER
WME: (&)

No. Address Description and tenure Particulars of occupancy
fm 55 #h 31 BR & & 8 LAFE
33 Unit 1 in Shopping Arcade of The property comprises a portion The property was completed in
Block 11 on Level 1 of Legend of a commercial development with about July 2024 and is currently
Plaza, South of Jiahe Road, a total gross floor area of for leasing.
Xiazhuzhung Street, Wuqing approximately 116.66 sg.m.
District, Tianjin
The land use rights of the subject
site were granted for a term
expiring on 13 June 2053 for
commercial use.
RAEMRBER TAREHRERT ZIVELELREEBMEBEL116.66 &Y N202457 A A8 %
BEAEEES - HNREER FHARNBEZERISD - T BRIATHEE-
555 7
RN T RSB
ER A% - R2053F6A13H &
e
(i) Revenue (i) YA
Revenue from sale of properties for FY2024 amounted to BHE20240 M FE - AEEEEMER
approximately RMB94.4 million, as compared with B AL AN REEQ,440& JT - M & £2023
approximately RMB637.1 milion reported in FY2023, MHRFEERNARKGITIET - HER
representing a decrease by approximately 85.2%. D HIB5.2% o E E 202481 B F FE MR YU
Revenue recognised for FY2024 was mainly contributed AFERBEMNERBE=ZHRERR
by Million Cities Legend Phase 3 and shops in Crown BEH ASEEEENTEYIERER
Grand Court in Huizhou, the inventories being sold by the D024 N E BB T R E - 48
Group were not properties that were newly completed R 20230 B FEMYEBEETERAE
and delivered properties during FY2024. In contrast, sale ERNNETIRRIMNOMEEE =M
of properties for FY2023 were mainly derived from sale of EWMBE=0 L HEEKRE TR
the then newly completed and delivered properties, such BHBZE20240 B F E A KB D ©
as Million Cities Legend Phase 3 in Huizhou.
Consequently, the sales volume experienced a significant
decrease, resulting in the significant decrease in revenue
FY2024.
Rental income HEa®A

Gross rental income from investment properties and inventories
for FY2024 was approximately RMB5.3 million, as compared

with

approximately RMB4.5 million reported in FY2023,

representing an increase by approximately 17.8%. The increase
in gross rental income was mainly due to the increase in rental

income from the carparks and

investment properties for

FY2024.

ZZZPUFFIR » Annual Report 2024 23

BE2024M B FENREVMERTFENES
WA B /AR ESI0E T - 820230 BF

E 2

WK AR BEA50E TR I K917.8% - H

W ARFTEZINE ZE R AP E E20248 B F
EEESERREYWHENES KA INFTE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWR DN (&)

Cost of sales

Cost of sales for FY2024 was approximately RMB116.8 million,
as compared with approximately RMB806.1 million reported in
FY2023, representing a decrease by approximately 85.5%. The
decrease in cost of sales was mainly due to (i) the decrease in
revenue from sale of properties; and (i) the significant decrease
in impairment amount of certain inventories as compared with
FY2023.

Gross loss

The gross loss for FY2024 was approximately RMB17.1 million,
representing a decrease by approximately 89.6%, as compared
with the gross loss for FY 2023 of approximately RMB164.5
million. The decrease in gross loss was mainly due to
significant decrease in the impairment amount of certain
inventories as compared with FY2023. For further details
regarding the impairment, please refer to the paragraph headed
“Impairment” above.

Valuation loss on investment properties

The Group recorded valuation loss for FY2024 of approximately
RMBO0.4 million representing a decrease of valuation loss by
approximately RMB36.6 million as compared with
approximately RMB37.0 million reported in FY2023. This was
mainly because there was a reduction in the decline of market
value of the investment properties during FY2024 as compared
with FY2023.

Other net income

Other net income for FY2024 was approximately RMB14.1
million, as compared with approximately RMB21.3 million in
FY2023, representing a decrease by approximately 33.8%,
which was mainly due to the gain from disposal of associates
recorded during FY2023, partially offset by the increase in
interest income in FY2024.

Selling expenses

Selling expenses for FY2024 were approximately RMB7.6
million, as compared with approximately RMB57.3 million
reported in FY2023, representing a decrease by approximately
86.8%. The decrease in selling expenses was mainly due to the
decrease in sales.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT 24

BHE R A

HE4 B FENHEERANABARE
1.16818 7T * B2023 N FE 2 MW AR
8.0611B L A #185.5% - SHEM AR EER
BR() Y 3 85 B W AR 2 ¢ R (i) 22023871 B
ERk BETHEEMRSERERDB -

EEE

HE20240BFEHNEBEELN AARKELT10
B B2 BMEENEBENOAR
1.645B TR L #989.6% * EEFEB IV ETELEMA
RE20230 BRFEARL - BT FEMASEA
BRLHY - BRARENE—PFE - FL2H
EXRE]—&-

REMEMEESFE
BE20240FE - AEBSRSHEEBEENA
AR 408 TR E £20230 B F E 4 AR
38,7008 TR LM ARK36608BTL TBREH
A EL20238f B F EHELL © 20248 BN F B E W)
ENMBEETHREBERDAN -

Ht g A F5

BHE024M M EFENEMBAFEHOARE
1,4108 7T - 20230 B F M A A R#2,130
BIUR A #133.8% + E B i 20238 B F fE 6%
BSHEBE QTR - 3D 20248 B F E F
BN DN 8 FT R o

HERMX
HE0UT B FEMNHEER L AARKETE0
87T - 820230 B F E /4 A R ¥5,7308 7T
W #186.8% - HHERI M T ERHNEE
A FTBR o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for FY2024 were approximately
RMB41.8 million, as compared with FY2023 of approximately
RMB49.6 million, representing a decrease by approximately
15.7% which was mainly due to the decrease in staff costs.

Share of profits less losses of associates

Share of profits less losses of associates recorded a loss of
approximately RMB64.9 million for FY2024, and compared with
a loss of approximately RMB259.0 million in FY20283,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB194.1 million.
This was mainly due to the significant decrease in impairment
amount of certain inventories as compared with FY2023,
partially offset by the (i) impairment loss on other receivables of
associates of the Company; and (i) accrued interest expenses
owing to Logan Shenzhen (for details, please refer to note 22
in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”).

Finance costs

Finance costs for FY2024 were approximately RMB18,000, as
compared with approximately RMB6.4 million in FY2023,
representing a decrease by approximately 99.7% due to the
repayment of all bank loans before 31 December 2023.

Income tax

For FY2024, income tax was approximately RMB20.6 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB60.4 million, as
compared with income tax of approximately RMB81.0 million for
FY 2023, as a result of the decrease in profit from operations.

Loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company

Loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company for FY2024 was approximately RMB113.8 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB368.5 million, as
compared with the loss attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company in FY2023 of approximately RMB482.3 million.
The decrease in loss attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company in FY2024 was mainly because of the significant
decrease in impairment provisions made for the properties of
the Company’s subsidiaries and associated companies as
compared to those of FY2023, partially offset by (i) the
significant decrease in revenue in subsidiaries for FY2024; (i)
the recognition of impairment loss on other receivables of the
Company’s associated companies for FY2024; and (i) the
provision made with respect to the accrued interest in the
Company’s associated companies to Logan Shenzhen for
FY2024. (for details, please refer to note 22 in the “Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements”).
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EEENWE D&

THRX
HE0UT B FEMITHRRINABARK
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TR #915.7% » £ B2 BN A LKA D FEr
jt\;j(o

FE 15 B & 0\ B) 0% R RS 18
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWR DN &)

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Liquidity and financial resources

For FY2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
mainly used in the Group’s business operations, to service the
Group’s indebtedness and to fund the Group’s working capital.
The Group financed its funding requirements mainly through a
combination of cash generated from operating activities and
borrowings. As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023,
the Company’s subsidiaries did not have any bank loans.
Therefore, the Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023 was Nil.

The gearing ratio is calculated as interest bearing bank loans
divided by equity.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents, amounting to approximately RMB268.4 million,
were denominated in HK$ (20.1%) and USD (0.1%) and RMB
(79.8%).

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s management has adopted certain policies on
financial risk management with the objectives of: (i) ensuring
appropriate funding strategies being adopted to meet the
Group’s short term and long term funding requirements after
taking into consideration of the cost of funding, gearing ratios
and cash flow projections of the Group; and (i) ensuring
appropriate strategies also being adopted to minimise the
interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the Chinese
Mainland with majority of the transactions settled in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) and RMB. Foreign currency risk arises when
future business transactions or recognised assets or liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional
currency. The Directors consider the Group’s foreign currency
risk exposure is minimal since all of the sales, assets and
liabilities are denominated in RMB and only a small portion of
operating expenses are denominated in HKS$.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Interest rate risk

The Group repaid all bank loans during the financial year
ended 31 December 2023. Thus, the interest rate risk was
immaterial. For FY2024, the Group’s interest rate risk only
arose from cash at bank. Cash at bank issued at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group did
not enter into any financial instruments to hedge against
interest rate risk for FY2024, but the Board will continue to
closely monitor the Group’s cashflow situation in order to
manage the Group’s interest rate risk exposure.

Credit risk

As of 31 December 2024, no material trade debtors of the
Group were past due. The Group normally receives full
payment from buyers before the delivery of the property. For
mortgage sales without full settlement, the Group would not
deliver the property to the customers unless it obtains
confirmation from the banks providing mortgage that the
respective mortgages have been approved. In addition, the
Group would not transfer titles of the properties to customers
until full amount of sales proceeds are received. Accordingly,
the Group is of the view that the expected irrecoverable trade
debtors were immaterial. Thus, no bad debt provision for trade
debtors was recognised during FY2024.

In addition, the Group also reviews the recoverability of other
receivables from time to time and makes bad debts provisions
if necessary. For FY2024, the Group made a bad debts
provision for other receivables of RMB1.3 million (31 December
2023: nil).

As at 31 December 2024, all the Group’s bank balances and
deposits were held with major financial institutions in Hong
Kong and the Chinese Mainland which the Directors believe are
of high credit quality. The Directors do not expect any losses
arising from the non-performance by these financial institutions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWR DN &)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty
in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and long terms. The Group
has not experienced and does not expect to experience any
difficulties in meeting credit obligations when they fall due.

Capital expenditures
During FY2024, property, plant and equipment of RMB1.7
million were acquired (31 December 2023: RMB1.9 million).

Capital commitments

The Group’s capital commitments as at 31 December 2024
amounted to approximately RMB2.9 million (831 December
2023: RMB4.5 million) which were mainly related to
development costs for the Group’s properties under
development.

Charge on assets

As at 31 December 2024, certain properties with carrying
amount of RMB5,765,000 were pledged due to litigation
disputes and sales of which are therefore restricted.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group issued guarantees to
banks to secure the mortgage arrangements of certain property
buyers. The outstanding guarantees to the banks, amounted to
approximately RMB338.5 million as at 31 December 2024
(81 December 2023: RMB373.8 million), will be terminated
upon completion of transferring the legal title of the properties
to the property buyers. The Directors consider loss arising from
these guarantees as a result of default payment by customers
to be insignificant, as the banks have the rights to sell the
properties and recover the outstanding loan balance from sale
proceeds.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect
of these guarantees as their fair values are considered to be
insignificant.

Operating segment information

The Group’s revenue and results for FY2024 were mainly
derived from property development. Performance assessment is
based on the results of the Group as a whole. Therefore,
management of the Group considers there is only one
operating segment.

Significant investments, acquisitions and disposals

On 30 July 2024, the Company issued (i) the circular in relation
to, among others, the allotment and issuance (“Subscription”)
of 99 new shares of Brillant Avenir Investment Company
Limited (“Target Company”) to Fortune Speed Investments
Limited (“Fortune Speed”); and (ii) the notice of the
extraordinary general meeting to seek for independent
shareholders’ approval regarding, among others, the
subscription agreement dated 28 June 2024 (“Subscription
Agreement”) and entered into between, the Company (as
warrantor), Fortune Speed (as subscriber) and the Target
Company with respect to the Subscription.

On 19 August, 2024, the resolution regarding the Subscription
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder was
duly passed by the independent shareholders of the Company
by way of poll.

On 31 December 2024, as additional time was required for the
fulflment of the conditions precedent as set out in the
Subscription Agreement, the Company, Fortune Speed and the
Target Company agreed in writing that the long stop date as
set out in the Subscription Agreement shall be extended to 28
June 2025 (or such later date as the Company, Fortune Speed
and the Target Company may agree in writing).

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 28 June

2024 and 31 December 2024, and the Company’s circular
dated 30 July 2024 for further details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

>
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Loan receivables from third parties

()

Loan to Huizhou Zhongyi Real Estate Co., Ltd

On 5 May 2022, () Huizhou China Field, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as lender; (ii)
Huizhou Zhongyi Real Estate Co., Ltd, an independent
third party, as borrower; and (iiij Mr. Wong Ting Chung
(“Mr. Wong”), the chairman and executive director of the
Company, as guarantor, entered into a loan agreement,
pursuant to which, the Group granted a loan of
RMB96,500,000 to the borrower for a term of 3 years
with an interest rate of 4% per annum.

The Group believes the personal guarantee provided by
Mr. Wong would be able to guarantee the recoverability
of the loan and minimise the credit risks exposed to the
Group under such loan agreement. Therefore, the Board
considered that there is no expected credit loss (“ECL”)
issue in this loan receivable.

By entering into such loan agreement, the Group intended
to increase the rate of return of
equivalents which can improve the investment income and
the profits of the Group. Further, the terms of such loan
agreement, including the applicable interest,
negotiated on an arm’s length basis between the lender
and the borrower, with reference to the prevailing market
interest rates and commercial practices, the financing
needs of the borrower and the Group’s assessment on
the business conditions of the borrower and
creditworthiness of each of the borrower and the
guarantor. The Directors were of the view that the terms
of such loan agreement were entered into on normal
commercial terms and were fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

its cash and cash

were

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 5
May 2022 for further details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Loan to Huizhou Shengtaichang Information
Consulting Company Limited (“Shengtaichang”)

(i) Huizhou Jiahong, an indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as lender; (i) Shengtaichang,
an independent third party, as borrower; and (i) Huizhou
Million Cities, an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a loan agreement, pursuant to
which, the Group granted a loan of RMB39,000,000 to
the borrower for a term of 3 years from 25 December
2024 with an interest rate of 3.5% per annum.

Prior to the date of such loan agreement, Shengtaichang
acquired certain carparks from Huizhou Million Cities, the
value of which amounted to RMB39.0 million. Having
considered the fact that the titles of the carparks had not
been transferred to Shengtaichang, pursuant to such loan
agreement, it was agreed that (i) the transfer of titles of all
of the carparks shall be temporarily suspended from the
date of the loan agreement to the date of the fulfillment
of its obligations under the loan agreement; and (i) in the
event Shengtaichang does not fulfill any of its obligations
under the loan agreement, Huizhou Jiahong shall have the
right to procure Huizhou Million Cities to sell all or any of
the carparks.

The Group believes the value of carparks would be able
to minimise the credit risks exposed to the Group under
such loan agreement, which provides a strong and
confident collateral to the Group. Therefore, the Board
considered that there is no ECL issue in this loan
receivable.

The Group intended to have a higher return on
investment on its idle cash resources by the granting the
loan to Shengtaichang. Such loan carries an interest rate
that is higher than the normal RMB deposit rate. The
Directors were of view that a stable revenue and cashflow
stream from interest income for the Group was expected
to be generated from the loan. The Directors considered
and believed that, the terms of the Loan Agreement were
fair and reasonable and the entering into of such loan
agreement was in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 24
December 2024 for further details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEBEENWE D &)

Interest in Associates

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held interests in Gold
Concept Group and Huizhou Logan Junhong Real Estate
Limited (“Junhong”), which accounted for approximately
13.17% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2024.

(a)

Interest in Gold Concept Group

The Interest in Gold Concept Group represents the
Company’s indirect interest in Gold Concept Group, i.e.
indirectly holding 30 shares in Gold Concept Development
Limited, representing 30% indirect interest in Gold
Concept Group. The Gold Concept Group is principally
engaged in property development. The total cost of
shares and capital loan in the Gold Concept Group was
approximately RMB115 million. As at 31 December 2024,
the carrying amount of the Interest in Gold Concept
Group was approximately RMB84.6 million, which
accounted for approximately 5.9% of the Company’s total
assets as at 31 December 2024.

The Interest in Gold Concept Group is accounted for by
the equity method in which 30% share of the results of
the Gold Concept Group is reflected in the carrying
amount of the Interest. During the year ended 31
December 2024, share of loss from the Gold Concept
Group amounted to approximately RMB6.1 million (2023:
approximately RMB41.0 million) was recognized in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group.

The decrease in loss in share of profit or loss was due to
the decrease in amount of impairment provision of the
inventories compared with that of in FY2023.

As disclosed in the paragraph headed “significant
investments, acquisition and disposals” above, the
Company issued the circular in relation to, among others,
the allotment and issuance of 99 new shares of the
Target Company to Fortune Speed (i.e. the Subscription).
As at 31 December 2024, Gold Concept Group was
indirectly owned as to 30% by the Target Company.
Upon completion of the Subscription, the Company’s
interest in the Target Company will be diluted from 100%
to 1%, and therefore the Company’s indirect interest in
Gold Concept Group will be diluted.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Interest in Junhong

The Interest in Junhong represents the Company’s
indirect 30% interest in Junhong. Junhong is principally
engaged in property development. The total cost of
shares in Junhong was approximately RMB158.8 million.
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the
Interest in Junhong was approximately RMB105 million,
which accounted for approximately 7.3% of the
Company’s total assets as at 31 December 2024.

The Interest in Junhong is accounted for by the equity
method in which 30% share of the results of Junhong is
reflected in the carrying amount of the Interest. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, share of loss from
Junhong amounted to approximately RMB14.3 million
(2023: approximately RMB42.5 million) was recognized in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group.

The decrease in loss in share of profit or loss was due to
the decrease in amount of impairment provision of the
inventories compared with that of in FY2023.

The Group believes that “stabilizing land prices, housing
prices and expectations” will continue to be the long-term
policy direction,and the real estate market will gradually
stabilize. Moreover, there is still a certain demand for
residential properties in Huizhou and the sales will be
increased when the buyer’'s confidence is gradually
restored. The Group believes that the interest in Junhong
will generate profit for the Group. Therefore, the Group
will continue to hold the interest in Junhong for long-
term.

Save as disclosed above, the Company did not have any
significant investments, acquisitions and disposals during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Events after balance sheet date
The Group has no significant event subsequent to the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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HUMAN RESOURCES

Human resources and emolument policy

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 41
(81 December 2023: 60) full-time employees in the Chinese
Mainland and Hong Kong. For FY2024, the total staff costs,
including the Directors’ emoluments, amounted to
approximately RMB18.2 million (31 December 2023: RMB31.0
million), of which approximately RMB1.3 million (FY 2023:
RMB6.4 million) were capitalised into inventories.

The Group’s emolument policies are formulated based on the
performance and experience of individual employee and are in
line with the salary trends in Hong Kong and the Chinese
Mainland. Other employee benefits include performance-linked
bonuses, insurance and medical coverage and share options.

Since human resources management is an important factor in
maintaining and enhancing the Group’s strong expertise in the
property development, the Group will provide appropriate
training programs to the employees as the Group sees fit. From
time to time, different on-the-job training will be provided to
employees in order to ensure continuous staff development and
skills upgrading.

Remuneration policy of Directors and senior
management

The Directors and senior management of the Group receive
compensation in the form of salaries and discretionary bonuses
related to the performance of the Group. The Group also
reimburses them for expenses which are necessarily and
reasonably incurred for providing services to the Group or
executing their functions in relation to the Group’s operations.
The Remuneration Committee will regularly
determine the remuneration and compensation package of the
Directors and senior management, by reference to, among
other things, market level of salaries paid by comparable
companies, the respective responsibilities of the Directors and
senior management and the performance of the Group.

review and
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEKRS

The biographical details of directors and members of senior
management during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up
to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Chairman and executive Director

Mr. Wong Ting Chung (E ) BBS, JP, aged 63, has been
a non-executive Director, the Chairman, a member of the
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee since
November 2016. He was re-designated as an executive
Director and was appointed as a member of the Executive
Committee with effect from 1 April 2021. Mr. Wong is the
founder of the Group, and is primarily responsible for the
overall strategic planning and business direction of the Group.

Mr. Wong has over 21 years of experience in property
investment, property development and management. He
established his business through Huizhou China Field, a project
company engaged in the construction and sale of high quality
residential complexes, in 2003 and was responsible for overall
management of the company. Mr. Wong assumed various
directorships in Nameson and Nameson Group, where he
served as the chief executive officer and the chairman of the
board of directors of Nameson from August 2015 to April
2021.

Mr. Wong graduated from Hong Kong Yee Tong Ye College (&
7S 5B E) in 1978. Mr. Wong is currently a Hong Kong
member of the 14th National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (FF B A B BUA 17 78
CZFETHE2REZESE) and the chief president of Hong
Kong Industrial and Commercial Association General Chamber
Executive Committee (BB TAASSESHITLZEE). He
served as a delegate of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region to the 12th and 13th National People’s Congress of the
PRC (FEARKNBEEFITHRE+ -_LKET=ZEZ2H
ARRKFEKRE). Mr. Wong is brother-in-law of Mr. Lau Ka
Keung (chief executive officer and an executive Director) and
brother of Ms. Wong Wai Ling (an non-executive Director).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEEEEFFE (#A)

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Ka Keung (%) BBS, MH, JP, aged 49, is an
executive Director, the chairman of the Executive Committee
and the chief executive officer of the Company. He was
appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee with effect on 18 June 2021.
Mr. Lau is responsible for execution of strategic planning and
general management of the Group.

Mr. Lau has served as an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Million Cities Development Limited since
August 2016. From January 2006, Mr. Lau has assumed
various directorships in the Group. Mr. Lau held several
positions in the Nameson Group from August 1999 to March
2013, including information technology manager, vice president,
and executive director. From August 2015 to April 2018,
Mr. Lau served as a non-executive director in Nameson.
Mr. Lau has been serving as an independent non-executive
director of three other companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, namely OrbusNeich Medical Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 6929) since September 2021,
Tianjin Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 882) since
March 2023 and West China Cement Limited (stock code:
2233) since March 2025.

Mr. Lau received his bachelor’'s degree in information
technology from Manchester Metropolitan University, the United
Kingdom, in 1997 and obtained his master’'s degree in
business administration from University of Leicester, the United
Kingdom, in 2008. Mr. Lau is currently a delegate of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region to the 14th National
People’s Congress of the PRC (FR#E A R £ FME EF B HFRITTIR
EE+THEE2ZBEARMREXARSE), an executive committee
member of the 15th Tianjin Committee of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (T B A RBUAH R &3 K%
METREEHLELZESE) and the vice chairman of Tianjin
Federation of Industry and Commerce (K2 T E ¥ A €).
Mr. Lau had served as a member of the 13th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (FEIARBUGHE EZE T -E2HELZEE), an
executive member of the 13th of All China Youth Federation
(FE2HESFHEEFT-EFHKEZEE) as well as the
Chairman of the 28th Hong Kong United Youth Association.
Mr. Lau is brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Ting Chung (chairman
and an executive Director). Mr. Lau is spouse of Ms. Wong Wai
Ling (an non-executive Director).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict (Z#iE), aged 58, is the chief
financial officer and company secretary of the Company. He
was appointed as an executive Director and a member of the
Executive Committee with effect on 26 August 2021. Mr. Li is
responsible for overseeing financial management, formulating
financial strategies and managing company secretarial matters
of the Company.

Mr. Li has extensive experience in finance management. Prior
to joining the Group, he held senior finance positions in various
multi-national corporations either listed in the United States of
America, Australia, Japan or Hong Kong. Mr. Li earns his
exposures in different industries including property,
manufacturing, logistics, energy as well as banking.

Mr. Li received his master degree in E-Business from City
University of Hong Kong in 2002 and master degree in
business administration from University of Warwick in United
Kingdom in 1997. He is also a fellow of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate of each of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Wong Wai Ling aged 54, is an non-Executive Director of
the Company. She has extensive experience in business
operations and management. She was responsible for
managing administration, human resources, and production
management of Winner Way Industrial Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Nameson Holdings Limited, whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 1982).
Since February 2024, Ms. Wong has served as administration
and human resources manager at Nameson Industrial Limited,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Nameson Holdings
Limited. Ms. Wong is a sister of Mr. Wong Ting Chung
(chairman and an executive Director) and the spouse of
Mr. Lau Ka Keung (chief executive officer and an executive
Director).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEEEEFFE (#A)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (¥ & %) GBS, JP, aged 73, is an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Ip is responsible for providing
independent opinion and judgement to the Board.

Mr. lp is currently serving as independent non-executive
director of five other companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, namely Lai Sun Development Company
Limited (stock code: 488) since December 2009, Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (stock code: 1888) since May
2011, Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (stock code:
590) since October 2011, Nameson since April 2018 and
C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited (stock code: 3309) since
November 2020. Mr. Ip also served as an independent
non-executive director of China Resources Building Materials
Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 1313) from August
2008 to May 2024. From November 1973 to July 2007, Mr. Ip
held various positions in The Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region, such as Commissioner of
Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic
Services, Secretary for Financial Services and Secretary for
Economic Development and Labour.

Mr. Ip graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor’s degree in social sciences in September 1973, and
he subsequently completed the program for management
development at Harvard University Graduate School of
Business Administration in November 1986.

Mr. Ip received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
2001 and he was appointed as an unofficial Justice of the
Peace in July 2007.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Li Yinquan (Z5| &), aged 69, is an independent non-
executive Director, chairman of the Audit Committee, a member
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
Mr. Li is responsible for providing independent opinion and
judgement to the Board.

Mr. Li has extensive experience in financial management. He
served as an executive director of China Merchants Port
Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as China
Merchants Holdings (International) Company Limited) (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 144)) from June 2001 to March 2015 and as a
non-executive director of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3968) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600036)) from April 2001 to June 2016. He was an
executive director of China Merchants China Direct Investments
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 133)) from July 2008 to April 2017, an
independent non-executive director of Sound Group Inc. (a
company listed on NASDAQ stock exchange (ticker: SOGP)
(formerly known as LIZHI INC.) from January 2020 to June
2021, an independent non-executive director of Kimou
Environmental Holding Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6805)) from June
2019 to December 2022 and an independent non-executive
director of China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
149)) from April 2024 to August 2024. He is currently serving
as an independent non-executive director of five other
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
namely Genertec Universal Medical Group Company Limited
(stock code: 2666, formerly known as Universal Medical
Financial and Technical Advisory Services Company Limited)
since June 2015, Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1001) since July 2018, China Everbright
Bank Company Limited (stock code: 6818) (the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 601818)) since June 2020, Mainland
Headwear Holdings Limited (stock code: 1100)
September 2023 and China Resources Beverage (Holdings)
Company Limited (stock code: 2460) since October 2024.

since
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EEREREEEEEFFE (#A)

Throughout the significant years of employment with certain
Hong Kong listed companies, Mr. Li has performed duties
including supervising on the listed companies’ financial
management, involved in various types of transactions in
relation to the Listing Rules and reviewing and analysing
audited financial statements of listed companies. Mr. Li has
gained relevant experience in, including but not limited to, (i)
review and preparation of comparable and/or audited financial
statements of Hong Kong listed companies; (i) review of
internal control systems; and (iii) analysis of financial statements
and information of Hong Kong listed companies. Moreover,
Mr. Li has also obtained vast experience in collaborating and
dealing with internal and external auditors regarding the
supervision of internal financial controls and the auditing of
financial statements.

Mr. Li received his bachelor’'s degree in economics from
Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (Pt 78 Bf 4 £ %) in
July 1983. He subsequently obtained his master’s degree in
economics from the PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua
University (FEREBRE D 2 @M EZP) (formerly known as
Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China (B A REE1T
BITERATISAT) in July 1986. In October 1988, Mr. Li
obtained his master’'s degree in banking and finance for
development from Finafrica Institute in Milan, Italy. In August
1989, he was accredited as senior economist by the Appraisal
and Approval Committee for Professional & Technical
Qualification of the Agricultural Bank of China.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Chan Hiu Fung Nicholas (R ¥ I£) BBS, MH, JP, aged 51,
is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee. Mr. Chan is responsible for
providing independent opinion and judgement to the Board
(resigned with effect from 1 April 2025).

Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Melbourne,
Australia, in 1997 with a degree of Bachelor of Laws and a
degree of Bachelor of Science (Computer Science). Mr. Chan
was admitted as a solicitor in the High Court of Hong Kong in
May 1999. He was also admitted as a solicitor of Australia
Capital Territory, the State of Victoria in Australia and England
and Wales in June 1997, October 2000 and October 2007
respectively. He is currently a partner of an international law
firm, namely Squire Patton Boggs. He is also a China
Appointed Attesting Officer.

Mr. Chan has been a member of the Hospital Governing
Committee of Castle Peak Hospital and Siu Lam Hospital since
1 April 2019. Since May 2022, he has been the director
leading the operations of the Asian-African Hong Kong
Regional Arbitration Centre which operates under the auspices
of Asian-African Legal Consultative Organisation, a 47-member
inter-government organisation composed most countries in Asia
and Africa. He is also currently a delegate of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region to the 14th National People’s
Congress of the PRC (F 2 AR KX MBH B R RIITHIE F + 1
EEBRARKREKANE), a committee member of Innovation,
Technology and Industry Development and a member of
Communications Authority of the government of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region, a member of the Social
Development Expert Group under the Chief Executive’s Policy
Unit Expert Group, the chairman of the Innovation and
Technology Venture Fund Advisory Committee, a director of
Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited, a
member of the Competition Commission, a member of the
Expert Advisory Group on Legal and Dispute Resolution
Services and vice chairman of Fu Hong Society, a court
advisory committee member of The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology, a council member cum Executive
Committee member, Audit and Risk Management Committee
member as well as Knowledge Transfer Committee’s chairman
under the council of The Chinese University of Hong Kong and
a director of the Football Association of Hong Kong, China
Limited. From December 2014 to May 2019, Mr. Chan was a
council member of the Law Society of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan
was awarded with Medal of Honour (MH) of Hong Kong and a
Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2016 and 2024 respectively, and was
appointed as Justice of the Peace in July 2021.
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Mr. Chan is currently serving as an independent non-executive
director of five other companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, namely Sa Sa International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 178) since September 2019, Q P Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1412) since December 2019, Pangaea
Connectivity Technology Limited (stock code: 1473)
January 2021, Genertec Universal Medical Group Company
Limited (stock code: 2666) since June 2022, and China
Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 144)
since December 2022.

since

Ms. Man Wing Yee, Ginny (X 5818) BBS, JP, aged 51, is an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee. Ms. Man is responsible for
providing independent opinion and judgement to the Board
(appointed with effect from 1 April 2025).

Ms. Man has over 8 years of experience in legal practice
focusing on China inbound and outbound investment, finance,
mergers and acquisitions and corporate restructuring. She has
been also working as a consultant at Tsun & Partners since
January 2015 and was admitted as a solicitor of the High
Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China in August 1999.

She is a deputy of the 14th National People’s Congress and a
member of the Standing Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region. She is currently a member of the Law
Society of Hong Kong. Ms. Man received a Bachelor of Arts
degree majoring in French and International Relations from
Wellesley College at Massachusetts in the USA in 1995. She
has been an executive director of Unitas Holdings Limited, a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8020), since June 2014.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Group is responsible for the
day-to-day management and operation of business of the
Group. The senior management team of the Group is as
follows:

Mr. Ying Ko Fuk (8 & &), aged 42, is the operation director
of the Group. Mr. Ying is responsible for managing the sales
and rental issues of all projects under the Group.

Mr. Ying has over 8 years of experience
management of real estate projects. Mr. Ying joined the Group
in April 2017 and was responsible for operation management of
Million Cities Legend in Huizhou and has been subsequently in
charge of operations of all of the projects under the Group
since 2021. Prior to that, he served as a regional manager of
AIA International Limited.

in operation

Mr. Ying has served as a member of the 13th Huizhou
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (TRIARBGA B EREMNTE+=ZEZEEE
8), deputy director of the 2nd Youth Committee of Huizhou
Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment (B4
BETEHMEE _EEFFZEEE EMT) and vice president of
the 8th Administrative Committee of Huizhou Association of
Enterprises with Foreign Investment (/NN & e 5 N\
EEEZEIER). Mr. Ying is the son- in-law of Mr. Wong Ting
Chung (Chairman and an executive Director), and the
nephew-in-law of Mr. Lau Ka Keung (chief executive officer and
an executive Director) and Ms. Wong Wai Ling (an non-
executive Director).
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Mr. Lu Bingqgian (E X&), aged 51, is the general manager of
Tianjin Jianji and Huizhou Million Cities Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Huizhou Million Cities”). Mr. Lu is
responsible for the overall management and operation of these
project companies.
Mr. Lu has over 17 years of experience in real estate
engineering construction. Mr. Lu joined the Group in August
2007. From August 2007 to March 2013, he worked as finance
manager in Huizhou Cheer Happy, where he was responsible
for financial and marketing management. Since May 2016,
Mr. Lu has served as the general manager of Tianjin Jianjin,
where he is responsible for the overall management of Tianjin
Jianji. He has also served as the general manager of Huizhou

Million Cities since February 2021.

Mr. Quan Jianxu (¥ % §F), aged 44, is the director of human
resources and administration of the Group. Mr. Quan is
responsible for human resources management, administration,
corporate culture management and government relations.

Mr. Quan has over 15 years of experience in human resources
and administrative management and he has been responsible
for human resource affairs and administrative operations.
Mr. Quan joined the Group in August 2016. Prior to that, from
June 2009 to May 2016, Mr. Quan served as the manager of
human resources department of Huizhou Huipeng Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (M EMSFE b ZE & B R 2 7)), and
was subsequently promoted to the human resources and
administrative director in November 2010.

Mr. Quan received his bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from Xi’an University of Technology (78 % 2 T X
2) in June 2009. In November 2009, Mr. Quan was
recognised as human resources manager by the Ministry of
Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC. In January
2014, he was accredited the title of intermediate economist by
the Huizhou personnel bureau.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Ms. Hong Chunni (3#Z&1E), aged 44, is the director of finance
in Chinese Mainland of the Group. Ms. Hong is responsible for
financial management, budgeting and taxation of the Group.

Ms. Hong has more than 18 years of experience in finance and
accounting. Ms. Hong joined the Group in February 2014. She
served as the finance manager of Huizhou Yuefu Real Estate
Co., Ltd. from February 2014 to July 2017 and served as the
finance manager of Huizhou China Field from August 2017 to
April 2020, where she was responsible for financial
management and taxation planning. Prior to joining the Group,
Ms. Hong served as a finance manager of a subsidiary of
Nameson Group from July 2006 to January 2014. She served
as the auditing team leader of Huizhou Zhengda Accountant
Firm Co., Ltd. from May 2005 to June 2006.

Ms. Hong received her bachelor’s degree in management from
Huizhou University (/N2 Fz) in June 2005.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PN

TEERBSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

As the Company believes that good corporate governance can
create value for its Shareholders, the Board is committed to
maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices by
placing strong emphasis on a quality Board, sound internal
controls and effective accountability to the Shareholders as a
whole. The Company has adopted the CG Code as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
complied with all the mandatory code provisions set out in the
CG Code for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Board will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices to ensure that it complies with the CG Code and
aligns with the latest developments.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognises that a good corporate culture is vital to
its corporate governance and has gradually developed a
pragmatic and prudent corporate culture since its
establishment,
operations and management of the Group, in order to facilitate
the long-term sustainability of the Group. The Group is
committed to acting with the highest standards of integrity and
ethics, maintaining business ethics and honesty, fully and
accurately implementing the core values of integrity, honesty,
fairness, impartiality, and ethical business practices of the
Group. The Group promotes this culture throughout the
organization and continues to reinforce the concept of “acting
legally, ethically and responsibly”.
healthy corporate culture and promote high ethical standards
within the Group, the Group has established an anti- corruption
policy and an whistle-blowing policy, which sets out, including
but not limited to, (i) the types of breaches and conduct
issues, and the personnel to which the policies apply; (i)
declaration of conflicting interests mechanisms; (iii)
responsibilities of the relevant department(s) of the Group; (iv)
consequences for breaching the relevant policies; and (v)
whistle-blowing policy, with an aim to encourage our
employees to report behaviour that is not in line with the
principles of ethics and the Group’s policy such as events that
are non-compliant with the Group’s policy, laws, rules,
regulations, general practice of financial reporting and internal
control.

which has been reflected in the overall

In order to establish a
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Board is committed to improving the level of the code of
corporate governance practices and business ethics standards,
and firmly believes that this is crucial for maintaining and
enhancing increasing shareholder
In order to meet equity holders’ expectation for
continuous in corporate governance and to
comply with the increasingly stringent regulatory requirements,
as well as to fulfill the Board’s commitment of upholding
outstanding corporate governance, the Board
corporate governance practices from time to time.

investor confidence and
returns.
improvement

reviews its

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code for securities
transactions by the Directors.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries made
by the Company, that they have fully complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code and the
Company’s code of conduct for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with written guidelines on terms no less exacting than the
required standards set out in the Model Code. Each of the
relevant employees has been given a copy of the written
guidelines.

No incident of non-compliance with these guidelines by the
relevant employees has been notified to the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for, and has general powers under
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company
for, the leadership and oversight of the Company’s
management and performance and the formulation and review
of the Group’s overall policies and strategies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXREBRSE (&)

The Board is also responsible for performing corporate

governance duties, including but not limited to

(@) development and review of the issuer’s policies and
practices on corporate governance, as well as its
recommendations to the Board;

(b) review and supervision of the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management personnel;

(c) review and supervision of the policies and practices of the
issuer in complying with laws and regulatory
requirements;

(d)  development, review and supervision of code of conducts
and compliance manuals for employees and Directors (if
any); and

(e) review of the issuer’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

All major decisions, including but not limited to those decisions
affecting the financial results, operations and the Shareholders,
such as financial statements, business acquisitions, major
transactions and dividend policies, are made by the Board as a
whole. Each Director is aware of his fiduciary duties and duties
and responsibilities as a director under the Listing Rules, the
CG Code and applicable laws and regulations, and has acted
objectively for the benefit and best interests of the Company
and its Shareholders.

Decisions of the Board are communicated to the senior
management through executive Directors. The day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the executive Directors and an independent senior
management team. The senior management team is also
responsible for the supervision and execution of the Group’s
business plans. The Board reviews periodically the performance
of the senior management team.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Certain functions and responsibilities are delegated to
committees established by the Board. For details, please refer
to the sub-sections headed “Executive Committee”, “Audit
Committee”, “Remuneration Committee” “Nomination

Committee” below.

and

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors whose names are listed
below. Each member of the Board brings a wide spectrum of
valuable experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Ting Chung (Chairman)

Mr. Lau Ka Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict

Non-executive Director
Ms. Wong Wai Ling
(appointed with effect from 16 December 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen
Mr. Li Yinquan
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas

(resigned with effect from 1 April 2025)
Ms. Man Wing Tee, Ginny

(appointed with effect from 1 April 2025)

Except for the family relationship between Mr. Wong Ting
Chung, Wong Wai Ling and Mr. Lau Ka Keung as disclosed in
the section headed “Biographical details of directors and
members of senior management” of this annual report, there is
no financial, business, family or other relevant relationship
between the Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXREBRSE (&)

The list of Directors (by category) is disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules. A list of Directors identifying their roles and
functions is also available on the Company’s website at
www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.

Ms. Wong Wai Ling was appointed as a non-executive Director
with effect from 16 December 2024. She obtained the legal
advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 13
December 2024. She has confirmed that she understood her
obligations as a director of the Company. Ms. Man Wing Tee,
Ginny was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 1 April 2025. She obtained the legal advice
referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 13 March
2025. She has confirmed that she understood her obligations
as a director of the Company.

Board independence

Pursuant to code provision B.1.4 of the CG Code, the Board
established mechanism(s) to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board, in particular, (i) independent
non-executive Directors are encouraged to actively participate
in the Board meetings; (i) the number of independent
non-executive Directors must comply with the requirement
under the Listing Rules; and (iii) the independent non-executive
Directors shall devote sufficient time to discharge their duties
as a Director. Furthermore, the Directors may access external
independent professional advice to assist their performance of
duties at the expense of the Company. The Board will review
the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism(s) on
an annual basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules to have at
least three independent non-executive Directors representing at
least one-third of the Board with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise and one female
director representing manifestation of board diversity.

Having considered the factors for assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors under Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the written annual confirmations from each
independent non-executive Director, the Board considers all of
its independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Terms of appointment of Directors

Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract for an initial fixed term of three years. The
appointment may be terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either the relevant Director or the
Company.

Non-Executive Directors

Non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract for
an initial fixed term of three years. The appointment may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either the relevant Director or the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was
appointed by the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years. The appointment may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either the relevant
Director or the Company.

Nomination, appointment, re-election and removal
procedures

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Company’s articles of
association. Every Director is subject to the provisions of
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as
an additional Director shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his or her appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting.

The Nomination Committee has been established on
26 November 2018 to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board at least annually to ensure that the
Board has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to meet the requirements of the Company. The
Nomination Committee will identify individuals who are qualified
or suitable for directorship, assess their qualifications, skills,
prior experience, character and other relevant aspects,
including but not limited to their independence in the case of
an independent non- executive Director candidate, and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors or the filling of casual vacancies on
the Board or any other proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategies. Please refer
to the sub-section headed “Nomination Committee” below for
more details on the Nomination Committee.

ZZZPUFFIR » Annual Report 2024 51

EXERRE H)

EEEH

BITEE
EWTERCIIURBEHO VLB ETHA
H=F - HEAEEXARAAEL DR =
AMNEmBMNRERLBEHERE-

HHTEE

FRTEZCAURBEL  TIZEEEHA
H=F - HEEFHAARAAHL DR =(E
AMNEmBMNRRLIBHERE-

BYFHATEE
RRARBMIFRTEFHAHARBRE 915
BEEM=%F HBAESHAQAAEL D
R_EANEmMBNELEREET-

RE -ZE EBEERZBER

ARARHEBERANSBESONRME  EER
EREFEBE SREFHAETELE=
FHERT-ANKEX EFSLEARHE
FZERFIEMNENEEENEIRERZAE
BROARREERRBFAG  HAIEZAE
FEEEE-

REBEZEBER2018F11 8268/ §REED
BFERIT—ARESTSOEE - ABRAK - #
RESSHNIEENG BT RERERTE -
WEEATERARANEE - HWIRBEZEEHY
BAERKBEBAHIEENAL  FHEFEEW
EF Rt - BALHR RBELREMABAS
B REETRARENBLM(EABIIE
WITEZBREAN) UKRESZEAERETRK
B EEeRNCRAESSEHTANEM
BE2YPUREG AR ANARRKESHE L
MEESIELHHEBEEZ AHREZEENF
B B2 TXIREZEES]IDE-

BiHIZRAEMRAT Million Cities Holdings Limited



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXREBRSE (&)

Board practices and conduct of meetings

Directors are given the opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for Board meetings with notices of regular Board
meetings given or to be given at least 14 days in advance.
Notices and agenda of the Board meetings are prepared by the
company secretary of the Company as delegated by the
chairman. Directors are provided with adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly. They are
allowed to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses.

Directors are encouraged to make a full and active contribution
to the Board’s affairs and to voice out their views and
concerns. Directors are supplied with sufficient information and
given sufficient time for discussion to ensure that Board
decisions fairly reflect Board consensus.

A Director who to his or her knowledge is in any way, whether
directly or indirectly, interested in a contract or arrangement or
proposed contract or arrangement with the Company shall
declare the nature of his or her interest at the meeting of the
Board at which the question of entering into the contract or
arrangement is first taken into consideration, if he or she
knows his or her interest then exists, or in any other case, at
the first meeting of the Board after he or she knows that he or
she is or has become so interested. Subject to the articles of
association of the Company, a Director shall not vote (nor be
counted in the quorum) on any resolution of the Board
approving any contract or arrangement or other proposal in
which he or she or any of his or her close associates is
materially interested.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees
containing sufficient detail of the matters considered and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised or dissenting
views expressed, are sent to each Director for their review,
comment and records within a reasonable time after each
meeting. Final versions of such minutes are kept by the
company secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection by Directors upon reasonable notice.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Board meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2024, four physical Board
meetings were held at which the Directors reviewed and
approved, among other things, (i) the annual results and report
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023; (i) the
interim results and report of the Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2024; (i) the quarterly financial results of the
Group; (iv) monitoring the project progress including ESG
matter of the Group; (v) the appointment of Ms. Wong Wai Ling
as an non-executive Director; (vi) the subscription agreement
(“Subscription agreement”) dated 28 June 2024 and entered
into between the Company (as warrantor), Fortune Speed (as
subscriber) and Brillant Avenir Investment Company Limited (as
the Target Company) in relation to the allotment and issuance
of 99 new shares of target company to subscriber and the
transactions contemplated thereunder; (vii) set up the
independent board committee in relation to advise the
independent Shareholders in respect of the subscription
agreement; (viii) approval for the procedure of circular. engage
independent financial advisers and valuers etc. in relation to the
Subscription Agreement; and (ix) approval a hotel service
contract with Crowne Plaza Hotel Huizhou which not exceeding
HKS$3 million per year and eligible for a “full exemption” from
the disclosure requirements of related party transactions under
the Listing rules. The attendance records of individual Directors
at the aforementioned Board meetings during FY2024, at the
Company’s extraordinary general meeting held on 19 August
2024 and at the Company’s annual general meeting held on
17 June 2024 are set out below:

Name of Director

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Wong Ting Chung (Chairman) TEBREE(EE)

Mr. Lau Ka Keung (Chief Executive Officer) BRBEE(FTRAER)

Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict (Chief Financial Officer, ~ =& 4 (B EH B4
Company Secretary) EFLARNE)

Non-executive Director FHTEE

Ms. Wong Wai Ling FERLL

Independent non-executive Directors BUHHTEE

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen ERBEAE

Mr. Li Yinquan Fo|REHE

Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas R B e 5 A

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman held regular
meetings with Director(s) to consider issues in both formal and
informal settings.
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Annual Extraordinary
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (cONTINUED)
BB WE ()

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr. Wong Ting Chung serves as the chairman of the Company.
He is responsible for the overall strategic planning and
business direction of the Group. With the support of the
executive Directors and the company secretary, the chairman
approves the agenda for, and chairs, Board meetings to ensure
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed in a timely
manner, including any matters proposed by other Directors. He
is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board,
including but not limited to taking steps to ensure that all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings, providing all Directors with adequate information
which is accurate, clear, complete and reliable in a timely
manner, communicating Shareholders’ views to the Board as a
whole and promoting a culture of openness and constructive
debate during Board meetings.

Mr. Lau Ka Keung serves as the chief executive officer of the
Company. He is responsible for the execution of the strategic
planning and general management of the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established on 3 June 2019
with written terms of reference approved and adopted by the
Board on the same date. The primary duties of the Executive
Committee include (but not limited to): (i) discussing and
making decisions on day to day management and operation
matters of the Group; (i) evaluating, determining and presenting
to the Board’s approval the Company’s funding requirement
and strategy; (iiij monitoring and overseeing the financial and
operational performance of the Group; and (iv) assessing and
making recommendations to the Board on major acquisitions of
or investments in business or projects. For year ended
31 December 2024, the Executive Committee consisted of all
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Ka Keung (chairman of the
Executive Committee), Mr. Wong Ting Chung and Mr. Li Wa
Tat,
Committee have been made available on the Company’s
website at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the
Stock Exchange.

Benedict. The terms of reference of the Executive
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph D3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to assist the Board by providing an
independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the
accounting policies of the Group and to perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. For the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee consisted of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li
Yinguan (chairman of the Audit Committee who possesses the
appropriate professional qualification or accounting or related
financial management expertise), Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen,
and Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas.
reference of the Audit Committee has been made available on
the Company’s website at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the
website of the Stock Exchange. The Audit Committee has
reviewed with the management of the Group the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
internal controls and financial reporting matters including a
review of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The written terms of

The Audit Committee held four physical meetings during the
year ended 31 December 2024. In these meetings, the Audit
Committee discussed and reviewed, among other things, (i) the
accuracy and fairness of the Group’s audited annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and unaudited interim
results for the six months ended 30 June 2024; (ii) the work of
the Group’s internal auditor; and (iii) the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems, and the
Group’s internal audit function.
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The attendance records of individual Audit Committee members
at the aforementioned Audit Committee meetings are set out
below:

Name of Audit committee member

ENZEERENRS

BRI EFEZES WEH@L%@%%%E@@%
ZHELEETIIT

Attendance/
Number of

meetings
HERE
BRRH

Mr. Li Yinquan (Chairman) o\ REE(EE) 4/4
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen EHELEAE 4/4
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas PR % 2 2% A 4/4
Remuneration Committee FMZEzEES

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and paragraph E1 of the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee include (but not limited to): (i)
making recommendations to the Directors regarding our policy
and structure for the remuneration of all of the Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (ii)
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management; (i) reviewing
and approving the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and (iv)
reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee consisted
of two executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Ting Chung
and Mr. Lau Ka Keung, and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas (chairman of
the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Li Yinquan and Mr. Ip Shu
Kwan, Stephen. The written terms of reference of Remuneration
Committee has been made available on the Company’s website
at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.
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The Remuneration Committee held two physical meeting during
the year ended 31 December 2024. In the meeting, the
Remuneration Committee (i) discussed and reviewed, among
other things, the remuneration packages of the Directors and
senior management, and (i) the remuneration package of new
non-executive director.

The attendance records of individual Remuneration Committee

members at the aforementioned Remuneration Committee
meeting are set out below:

Name of Remuneration Committee member

FHESEREHRR

TtEEBRRE (@A)

B E2024F12A31HIEFE - HFNEESEH
—ReE FHEZEEeRg L) mMEs (K
FRIBESRGAEEEMNTESE - K)
FERTEETNTHEFE -

fEl 5l % B & B & X
Z B ERRE I

Attendance/
Number of
meeting
HERE
SRRHY

Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas (Chairman) PR g S A& (F ) 2/2
Mr. Wong Ting Chung FTERSE 2/2
Mr. Lau Ka Keung BRAETLE 2/2
Mr. Li Yinquan o REA 2/2
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen ER s 2/2
Nomination Committee REZES

The Nomination Committee was established with written
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B3 of the
CG Code. It is responsible for determining the policy for the
nomination of directors, identifying and recommending to the
Board appropriate candidates to serve as Directors, evaluating
the structure and composition of the Board and developing,
recommending to the Board and monitoring nomination
guidelines for the Company. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the Nomination Committee consisted of two executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Ting Chung and Mr. Lau Ka Keung,
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ip
Shu Kwan, Stephen (chairman of the Nomination Committee),
Mr. Li Yinquan and Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas. The written
terms of reference of this committee has been made available
on the Company’s website at www.millioncities.com.cn and on
the website of the Stock Exchange.
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The Nomination Committee held two physical meeting during
the year ended 31 December 2024. In the meeting, the
Nomination Committee discussed and reviewed, among other
things, (i) the recommendation on re-election of retire Directors
at the AGM,; (ii) the existing structure, size and composition of
the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills
and experience appropriate for the Group’s business and is in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules; and (iii)
the appointment of non-executive director Ms. Wong Wai Ling.

The attendance records of individual Nomination Committee

members at the aforementioned Nomination Committee meeting
are set out below:

Name of Nomination Committee member

REZEEHENHSR

B E2024F12H31HIEFE - REREZEEEH
MAEE REZEENE LimMNERN (A
FEE)ATEE: (\VEERETESNIREE
FAEEZEANERZ (ESSRFEE -
AB KA BRESSHFENG B E
KBERTE BEASEEBRLFTE LR
BERk MNETEETEBR LT AIFERNTES -

ZHEREEHTIWT

Attendance/
Number of
meeting
HERE
BRRHY

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (Chairman) EEELEAE(EE) 2/2
Mr. Wong Ting Chung FERELEE 2/2
Mr. Lau Ka Keung BRATLE 2/2
Mr. Li Yinquan ol REAE 2/2
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas PR % 2 2% A 2/2
Independent Board Committee BUEEgZET

The independent board committee, comprising all independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Yinquan, Mr. Ip Shu
Kwan, Stephen, and Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas formed to
advise the independent Shareholders in respect of the

subscription agreement, and held one physical meeting during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

BUEEELZECHMABBLIIFNTES (A
FE|REE EHBLEERKREERL LA
K REREa B RERREEER WA
F2024F12A31B L FEBRAT —Xg& o

Attendance/

Number of

meetings

HERE

Name of Independent board committee member BEXE
Mr. Li Yinquan ol REAE 1/1
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen EHELE 1/1
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas PR I U 5 A 1/1
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Board diversity

The Company recognises and embraces the importance and
benefit achieving diversity on the Board has on corporate
governance and board effectiveness. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Company monitored the Board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires
board appointments to be made on a merit basis with due
regard for the benefits of the diversity of Board members.
Selection of candidates will be based on a wide range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
race, language, cultural background, educational background,
industry experience and professional experience.

The Nomination Committee will identify and propose
implementation plans and make recommendations to the Board
to assist in building a broader pool of skilled and experienced
employees and Directors that will prepare them for Directors
positions to achieve the goal of gender diversity on the Board.
The Nomination Committee monitors and reviews the
effectiveness and progress of the Board’s diversity annually.

There are currently 41 employees, of which 44% are male and
56% are female. The Group monitors and reviews the
effectiveness and progress of employees’ gender diversity
annually.
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Expertise and skills of the Directors include property E=ZEHNEELFEBEWERE YEZEENL
investment, property development and management, finance &I BHEERSZ -EEZu(LEEWT
management, etc. The following table shows a breakdown of

the diversity information of the Directors:

Categories 3 Directors 1 Director 3 Directors
25l 3IRES 185ESE 3IBRESE

Independent

Executive Director Non-Executive Director Non-Executive Director
HITES FHTES T EE
Gender group 7 Directors
% 71 48 B TRES
Male Female
B egc
6 Directors 1 Director
6REE 1RES
Age group 1 Directors 3 Director 3 Directors
F iR 28 B 1BEE 3RE=E 3REE
50 and below 51-60 61 and above
508% & AT 51-605% 615 & X E
Note: The information is as of 31 December 2024 M - R E E2024512 A31H
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The amount of fees charged by the Company’s external
auditor, KPMG, in respect of their interim review services, non-
audit service and annual audit services for the year ended
31 December 2024 amounted to approximately RMBO0.6 million,
0.73 million and RMB2.5 million respectively. In addition to the
interim review services, KPMG has been provided the non-audit
service in relation to the circular dated 30 July 2024 to the
Company during FY2024.

THE COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary plays a role in supporting the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and also that
Board policy and procedures are followed. The company
secretary is responsible for advising the Board through the
chairman and/or the chief executive officer on corporate
governance matters and should also facilitate induction and
professional development of Directors. Specific enquiry has
been made to the company secretary of the Company, namely
Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict, and he has confirmed that he has
complied with the relevant qualifications, experience and
training requirements under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability
management. The
insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses
and liabilities for any legal action against them arising out of the
Group’s operation.

insurance for its Directors and senior

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code,
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. All the Directors are also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code & £2024F12A31B I FE @ EEHREE —
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code for the year ended HESTOHESTAIMSTANEXECA4ME W2
31 December 2024 and they participated in the following types E2A T BRIMIFEHZ E R -

of continuous professional development:

Type of
continuous
professional

development

BEEX
Name of Director BERVER
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Wong Ting Chung (Chairman) FRERLE4®(FE) M, (1
Mr. Lau Ka Keung (Chief Executive Officer) BREBIEAE(TTHAEH) (), (I
Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict (Chief Financial Officer and TEFhE (BERYBAEE
Company Secretary) Al ) M, (1
Non-Executive Directors HHITESE
Ms. Wong Wai Ling TFER LT o, (n
Independent non-executive Directors BUYHFBHTEE
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen EREBELE 0, (1)
Mr. Li Yinquan FE|REE (), (I
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas ok BEE & 5% A= (), (1)
()  Attending seminars/webinars. () HEMHIE BLHTE-
()  Reading/watching materials in relation to the roles, () HEEBBLETMAREZEZETHNAE B
functions and duties of a listed company director and the BEAREERAARAISEHERNE
latest developments in the relevant rules and regulations. £} o
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INVESTOR COMMUNICATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company considers timely communication to the
Shareholders and/or investors and transparent reporting as key
components of good corporate governance. The Company
aims to maintain frequent and timely communication with its

Shareholders and/or
communication channels,

investors through a variety of
including but not limited to the

following communication channels

(i)

Corporate Communications

Corporate communications (as defined under the Listing
Rules) to the Shareholders refer to any document issued
or to be issued by the Company for shareholder’s
information or action, including but not limited to the
directors’ report and annual accounts together with a
copy of the independent auditor’'s report, the interim
report, a notice of meeting, a circular and a proxy form.
Corporate communications will be provided in plain
language and in both English and Chinese versions to
facilitate Shareholders’ understanding. Shareholders are
entitled to receive the Company’s documents and the
means of receipt (by printed version or in electronic
form).

Shareholders are encouraged to provide, amongst other
things, in particular, their addresses to the
Company in order to facilitate timely and effective
communications. The company secretary of the Company
will collect their queries or suggestions and follow up in a
timely manner. The Company is responsible for handling
the suggestions, following up and keeping relevant
records, and reporting to the Board on the suggestions
collected and handled.

email
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®

(i)

(iii)

XERSR

& (&)

The Company’s website

The Company’s annual
announcements of results,
notices of general meetings and proxy forms are
accessible on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company’s website at www.millioncities.com.cn, where
general information on the Group’s business and activities
is available for public access. Official announcements will
be released from time to time in accordance with the
Listing Rules to update our Shareholders and/or investors
with the comprehensive and latest developments of the
Group. In addition, the Company’s website will provide
the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the members of the Board, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, and the Executive Committee, as well as the
term of reference of members of these committees. The
information on our website is updated from time to time.
All updates on significant events and activities of the
Group will be published on the Company’s website to
keep the Shareholders and/or investors informed of the
latest situations and developments of the Company from
time to time. Shareholders are also welcome to raise any
queries with the company secretary of the Company. The
company secretary will follow up in a timely manner.

and interim
announcements,

reports,
circulars,

General meetings

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the
meetings on their behalf if they are unable to attend the
meetings. meetings provide a platform for
Shareholders to exchange views with the Board and the
Directors are available to answer shareholders’ questions
at the Company’s annual general meetings. The Company
will monitor and review the process of general meetings
on a regular basis, and, if necessary, make changes to
ensure that Shareholders’ needs are best served. Board
members, in particular, either the chairpersons of Board
committees or their delegates, appropriate management
executives and external auditors will attend annual general
meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions.

General
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Effective and timely dissemination of information to
Shareholders and the investment community shall be
ensured at all times. The Company will review the
shareholders’ communication mechanism on an annual
basis to ensure its effectiveness. After the review of the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication mechanism, the Company is of the view
that the policy is effective in providing effective channels
for Shareholders to communicate their views on various
matters affecting the Company and for the Company to
solicit and understand the views of the shareholders.

If Shareholders have any questions about the
Shareholders’ communication policy, they shall deliver the
questions to the company secretary of the Company.

Voting at general meetings of the Company is conducted
by way of poll in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
poll results will be published on both the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company. Pursuant to article 64
of the Company’s existing articles of association, one or
more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings may deposit a written requisition (the “Written
Requisition”) to the Board or the company secretary for
the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in the Written Requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of the Written Requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by
the Company.
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Shareholders and investors are also welcome to submit
any enquiries to the Board and suggestions or proposals
at general meetings directly to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong as provided in the
section headed “Corporate information” in this annual
report.

The Board also encourages Shareholders to attend
general meetings to make enquiries with the Board
directly.

DIVIDEND POLICY

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
adopted a dividend policy on declaration and payment of
dividends. It aims to allow the Shareholders to share the profits
of the Company whilst retaining adequate reserves for the
Group’s future growth and set out the approach to determine
dividend payout ratio of the Company. Depending on the
financial conditions of the Company and the Group, and the
conditions and factors as set out in the dividend policy,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board
during a financial year or period and any final dividend for a
financial year which will be subject to the Shareholders’
approval. The dividend policy is available on the website of the
Company at www.millioncities.com.cn.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on
10 June 2022, the adoption of an amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company (the
“New M&A”) was approved by the Shareholders. For details of
the amendments, please refer to Appendix Ill to the circular of
the Company dated 29 April 2022. The Company has
published its New M&A (in both English and Chinese) on the
Company’s website at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the
website of the Stock Exchange. During FY2024, the Company
did not make any changes to its memorandum and articles of
association.

ACCOUNTABILITY

The Directors have included a management discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2024 under the section headed “Management
discussion and analysis” of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board places great importance on risk management and
internal control and has ultimate responsibilities for overseeing
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control system of the Group
on an ongoing basis. The Board is also committed to review

the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.
The Group established the risk management and internal

control systems with aims to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatements or losses caused by judgement in decision
making process, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

In order to comply with the applicable code provisions set out
in the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules,
the Board has engaged an independent professional firm as the
outsourced internal auditor (the “internal auditor”) with a view to
supporting the Board in reviewing the effectiveness and
adequacy of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, fulfilling its responsibilities for continuously supervising
and managing the design, implementation and monitoring of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems, and
assisting the Board in performing annual
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2024.

reviews on the
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXREBRSE (&)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
reviewed the internal audit charter which defined the scope and
the duties and responsibilities of the internal audit function and
its reporting protocol. The Group has conducted an annual risk
assessment which identified respective strategic risks,
operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks for the
Group. The Group has taken further steps to enhance its risk
management and internal control systems according to some
weaknesses found during risk assessment and examination of
the internal control and strengthen the implementation of all the
risk management and internal control systems. The Board has
also reviewed, through the Audit Committee, the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal
audit, financial reporting functions, as well as those relating to
the Company’s environment, social and governance (ESG)
performance and reporting.

The Group has established procedures in handling and
dissemination of inside information in an accurate and secure
manner and to avoid possible mishandling of inside information
within the Group.

Based on the risk management and internal control systems
established and maintained by the Group, the review performed
by the external auditor, the internal auditor, and
performed by the management, respective board committees
and the Board, the Audit Committee and the Board are of the
view that the Group has maintained sound, effective and
adequate risk management and internal control system during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

reviews
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION
OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has developed an inside information policy which
provides a guidance to the Directors and the Company’s senior
management and relevant employees in handling
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding
to enquiries. The Company should take all reasonable
measures to ensure the confidentiality of inside information until
consistent and timely disclosure of such information is made.

inside

The procedures and measures of internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information are as follows:

o the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules as well as
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
published by the Securities and Future Commission of
Hong Kong in June 2012;

° the Company has developed the inside information policy,
pursuant to which directors and employees should
implement the relevant measures in accordance with the
manner and procedures set out therein to ensure the
proper handling and dissemination of inside information;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of
confidential or inside information; and

° the Group regularly reminds the directors and employees
about due compliance with all policies regarding the inside
information, as well as keeps them appraised of the latest
regulatory updates.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
tERERKRE (#)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 and confirm that the financial statements
contained herein give a true and fair view of the results and
state of affairs of the Group for the year under review. The
Directors consider that the financial statements have been
prepared in conformity with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and reflect amounts which are based on
best estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent judgment
of the Board. Such acknowledgement should be read in
conjunction with, but be distinguished from, the statement of
the external auditor of the Company, KPMG, in relation to their
reporting responsibilities as set out in their auditor’s report on
pages 135 to 145 of this annual report.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Group are property development and
sales in the PRC. Particulars of the principal activities of the
Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year ended 31 December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 and its future development is set out in the
Chairman’s statement from page 5 to page 7 and
management discussion and analysis from page 11 to page 34
of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
on page 146 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
RMBO0.41 million (2023: RMB1.8 million).

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
OF THE COMPANY

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 150 of
this annual report and note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEHRE #H)

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders in accordance with its
articles of association and the laws of the Cayman Islands
amounted to approximately RMB652.3 million (2023:
RMB643.1million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the issued share capital of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and there are no restrictions
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year ended
31 December 2024 attributable to the Group’s major
customers and suppliers are as follows:

Revenue from sales of properties attributable to:

— the largest customer 9.93%

—  five largest customers in aggregate 30.43%

Purchases attributable to:

—  the largest supplier 3.8%

— five largest suppliers in aggregate 5.51%

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules), or any shareholder (which, to
the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital), had any interest in any of the

five largest customers or suppliers of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December
2024 is set out on page 273 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
up to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Chairman and executive Director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung BBS, JP (Chairman)

Executive Directors
Mr. Lau Ka Keung BBS, MH, JP (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Wong Wai Ling
(appointed with effect from 16 December 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen GBS, JP
Mr. Li Yinquan
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas BBS, MH, JP
(resigned with effect from 1 April 2025)
Ms. Man Wing Yee, Ginny
(appointed with effect from 1 April 2025)

Pursuant to articles 109(a) and 109(b) of the Company’s
articles of association, all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years but are eligible for re-
election by Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Pursuant to article 113 of the Company’s articles of
association, the Board shall have power from time to time and
at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an additional Director, provided that the
number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed the
maximum number determined from time to time by the
Shareholders in general meeting. Any Director so appointed
shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of
the Company after his appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years,
which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other.

Non-Executive Directors

Non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract for
an initial fixed term of three years. The appointment may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either the relevant Director or the Company

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was
appointed by the Company for a term of three years in
accordance with their respective letters of appointment with the
Company, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not terminable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions” below and
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Company’s
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, or in which a
Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the
end of the year ended 31 December 2024.

UPDATES ON DIRECTOR’S INFORMATION
Upon specific enquiry by the Company and following
confirmations from the Directors, save as set out below, there
is no change in the information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

o Ms. Wong Wai Ling was appointed as an non-Executive
Director of the Company with effect from 16 December
2024.

° Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas was appointed as an member
of the Competition Commission with effect from 1 May
2024, and appointed as a member of the Expert Advisory
Group on Legal and Dispute Resolution Services and vice
chairman of Fu Hong Society since October 2024. He is
being recognized with a Bronze Bauhinia Star on 1 July
2024.

o Mr. Chan Hiu Fung, Nicholas resigned as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 1 April 2025.

o Ms. Man Wing Yee, Ginny was appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 1
April 2025.

° Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen has resigned as an independent
non-executive director of China Resources Building
Materials Technology Holdings Ltd (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange; stock code:
1313) with effect from 24 May 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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° Mr. Li Yinquan has resigned as an independent non-
executive director of China Agri-Products Exchange
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange; stock code: 149) with effect from 20 August
2024 with effect from 20 August 2024. He has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director of
China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange; stock code: 2460) since October 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision contained in the Company’s
articles of association that is subject to the requirements
specified in the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) for the benefit of the Directors of the
Company was in force during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 30 to the financial
statements. Save as disclosed below, as these related party
transactions constitute fully exempted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, none of them constitutes discloseable connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B RER AT 76

e ZFIIZREACDHAETHREMRIAR
RA(—RRBRZMERLETHAE KR
MR 149 Z2BIYERITE S B
2024F8 208 B ER - 1% B2024F10H
REZERERHRR (ZER)ARAA(—
KRBZMERETHRA  ROKR -
2460) M B L FEHITES ©

EEFREMRXI

D ER B TR M B TR BB A ) 6228
(RAGODRTARERBRZEBARAE
28 2 18 57 B 18 1A R B 202448 12 A31
AEFEREEARFERSE ALY -

HEXZREGEERERS

REBXRBERTETHRE TR ZFEH
R BHRERMEI0 - BRI XHAWEEI @R
ZEBB T X ZRIE L TR AFI4AZERA
NRERZEBENHERERS  WHEEK
EHRAMAENETRERERS -

Annual Report 2024 ¢ —Z — [UFFif



Major and connected transaction in relation to deemed
disposal

References are made to the Company’s announcement dated
28 June 2024 (the “Announcement”) and the Company’s
circular dated 30 July 2024 (the “Circular”), where capitalised
terms used herein shall have the same meanings as those
defined in the Announcement and the Circular:

On 28 June 2024 (after trading hours), the Company (as
warrantor), Fortune Speed (as subscriber) and the Target
Company entered into the Subscription Agreement, pursuant to
which the Target Company has conditionally agreed to allot and
issue to Fortune Speed, and Fortune Speed has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for, the Subscription Shares, representing
99% of the enlarged issued share capital of the Target
Company upon Completion, at the subscription price of US$99
(equivalent to approximately RMB716.8). Upon Completion, the
Target Company will cease to be a subsidiary of the Company.
Thus, the Subscription constitutes a deemed disposal of the
Target Company by the Company under Rule 14.29 of the
Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the Announcement, Fortune Speed held 75% of
the entire issued share capital of the Company, and is the
controlling shareholder of the Company. Fortune Speed is
beneficially owned by East Asia International Trustees Limited,
which is the trustee of the Happy Family Trust, a trust
established by Mr. TC Wong, who is the chairman of the
Board and an executive Director. Mr. TC Wong is the settlor,
the protector and one of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family
Trust. Thus, Fortune Speed is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Subscription
constituted a connected transaction for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and was subject to the
reporting, announcement, circular and the Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEHRE #H)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

The interests and/or short positions of Directors and chief
executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
at 31 December 2024 as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the SFC under the Model Code, are set
out below:

EERFETHBRAERERMS - HEKR
REEZENEERAR

R2024F12A31H » ARBEIEEREZITHA
BRARAINKRORBARND(EERESFK
HIE GO EXVE) h A B ERELFRPE
B E352M6 M EFEN B R MAoMER &=
KEXBEBEEZEETFTUNENE AR RILEES
MiEzm & HABIT

Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company A ATEERWEFA
Number of Approximate
ordinary shares/ percentage of
underlying the issued share
shares held or capital of the
Name of Directors Nature of interests interested in Company®
FrissiESR (ER N
EENEER EBITRAEN
EEnE EEME HERGHE BHABED e
Mr. Wong Ting Chung™® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
F Bz B2 55 A 0@ SREX @ A
Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.4%
EmEAA
Mr. Lau Ka Keung®® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%
18 R 98 5t 4P Fic 48 # &
Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.4%
EmBEAA
Ms. Wong Wai Ling® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
FE®RKLO EREX@mA
Interest of spouse 3,000,000 0.4%
Aic 48 2 &5
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen® Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.2%
HEH B %A EmBEAA
Mr. Li Yinquan® Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.2%
F 5| REHEO EmEAA
Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict Beneficial owner 6,000 0.0008%
FEFERE En#lEAA
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

Mr. Wong Ting Chung is the settlor, the protector and one
of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and
therefore he is deemed to be interested in the shares held
by the Happy Family Trust under the SFO.

Mr. Lau Ka Keung is the spouse of Ms. Wong Wai Ling,
who is one of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust
and therefore he is deemed to be interested in the shares
held by the Happy Family Trust under the SFO.

Ms. Wong Wai Ling who is one of the beneficiaries of the
Happy Family Trust and therefore she is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by the Happy Family Trust
under the SFO and the spouse of Mr. Lau Ka Keung who
has a beneficial interest in the share options granted to
each of them on 29 March 2019 under the Share Option
Scheme and which, if exercised in full, would result in the
issuance of 3,000,000 ordinary shares .
is deemed to be interested in the shares option under the
SFO.

and therefore she

Each of Mr. Wong Ting Chung and Mr. Lau Ka Keung has
a beneficial interest in the share options granted to each
of them on 29 March 2019 under the Share Option
Scheme and which, if exercised in full, would result in the
issuance of 3,000,000 ordinary shares to each of them.

Each of Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen and Mr. Li Yinquan, has
a beneficial interest in the share options granted to each
of them on 29 March 2019 under the Share Option
Scheme and which, if exercised in full, would result in the
issuance of 1,500,000 ordinary shares to each of them.

The calculation is based on the total number of issued
ordinary shares of 750,000,000 shares as at 31 December
2024.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December 2024 as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the SFC under
the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEHRE #H)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
holding companies, or any of the subsidiary undertakings
(within  the meaning of the Companies (Directors’ Report)
Regulation) of such holding companies a party to any
arrangements whose objects are, or one of whose objects is,
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate. Save as disclosed above, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company (including their
spouses and children under the age of 18) had any interests in
or was granted any right to subscribe for the securities of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), or had exercised any such rights.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended and as at 31 December 2024, none of
the Directors had any interest in any business apart from the
business of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, each of the
Company’s controlling shareholders has confirmed to the
Company of his/her/its compliance with the non-competition
undertakings given by him/her/it to the Company under the
deed of non-competition, as defined in the Prospectus, and
he/she/it had not been offered or become aware of any
business opportunity which may compete with the business of
the Group, during the year ended 31 December 2024. There
was no matter requiring deliberation by the Board in relation to
the compliance and enforcement of the deed of non-
competition. The Board, including all the independent non-
executive Directors, is of the view that the controlling
Shareholders have been in compliance with the deed of non-
competition in favour of the Company.
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The Directors are of the view that there are sufficient measures
in place to safeguard the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders against any competition potential
competition issues.

issues or

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has approved and adopted the Share Option
Scheme. Under the Share Option Scheme, the eligible
participants may be granted share options pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme. The following is a summary of the
principal terms of the Share Option Scheme.

(@) Purpose
The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to provide
the eligible participants an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company with the view to achieving the
following objectives:

(i) motivate the eligible participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going
business relationship with the eligible participants
whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group.

(b) Eligible participants
The eligible participants include (i) any full-time or part-
time employees, executives or officers of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries; (i) any directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries; and (iii) any advisers, consultants,
agents, suppliers, customers, distributors and such other
in the sole opinion of the Board will
contribute or have contributed to the Company and/or
any of its subsidiaries.

persons who
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
BEEEgRE#H

(c)

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all the share options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company (if any) shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue (i.e. a
maximum of 75,000,000 shares) immediately after Listing,
provided that:

(i)

(ii)

the maximum number of shares may be renewed,
with the approval of the shareholders in a general
meeting, up to a maximum of 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company at the date of such
shareholders’ approval, inclusive of the maximum
number of shares in respect of which share options
may be granted under another scheme, if any;

the Company may obtain a separate approval from
the Company’s shareholders in a general meeting to
permit the granting of share options which will result
in the number of shares in respect of all the share
options granted exceeding the then maximum
number of shares provided that such share options
are granted only to eligible participants specifically
identified by the Company before shareholders’
approval is sought (in which case such share
options granted shall not be counted towards the
then applicable maximum number of shares); and

the total maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding share
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share options
granted and yet to be exercised under another
scheme shall not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.
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(d)

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Unless approved by the shareholders in a general meeting
(with the relevant eligible participant and his/her close
associates abstaining from voting), no eligible participant
shall be granted an share option if the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
share options granted and to be granted to such eligible
participant in any 12-month period up to the date of the
latest grant would exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time.

An offer of the grant of an option to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates must be approved by
the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of
the options).

Where any grant of share options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or
any of their respective associates, would result in the
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all share
options already granted and to be granted (including
share options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in
issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on the official
closing price of the shares at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5.0 million,

such further grant of share options will be subject to the
by the Company and must be
approved by the shareholders in general meeting on a
poll. The grantee, his/her associates and all core
connected persons of the Company must abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

issue of a circular
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEHRE #H)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Acceptance of an offer of share options

A share option shall be deemed to have been granted
and accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect
when the duplicate offer document constituting
acceptances of the share options duly signed by the
grantee, together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof, is received by the Company on or before the
relevant acceptance date. To the extent that the offer to
grant a share option is not accepted by any prescribed
acceptance date, it shall be deemed to have been
irrevocably declined.

Performance target

A grantee may be required to achieve any performance
targets as the Board may then specify in the grant before
any share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme can be exercised.

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any share option shall
be a price determined by the Board and notified to an
eligible participant (subject to any adjustments made
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme) which must be at least the highest of:

(i) the official closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the
date of grant, which must be a day on which the
Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing
in securities;

(i) the average of the official closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation

sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant; or
(i) the nominal value of the shares.
Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT 84

(e)

(f)

(9)

BEABREEYN

AAT— &R HEREE® A B2 /TR E
AR AL 2R T B AR B i R —
AMPBHXHERN T ARRNIET
RBEERELBERENKER  BRE
IR RERLEREEARAZARE
R o el 35 B R O B AD R T (] AR
ERZEMBERERS ARRAERD
Al H AR 4B o

REBE

AR 5 B P M AT 81 IR B (T BB A AR 1T
2R ARAFREAZINEFENE
B A B S R M ET RIRE AR -

wiEE

THBRENREERAHESTSREL
MeaBER2EE (AN A REBEE
At Bl IR R R ETTEVEM A R) - 1
ZERBEELRTIEEEFNRRE

() MBHREEABHCCARMIMED
EEEZNBF)RBIMEER
ERMMHEXKTIE

(i) BEERHBHAMAERSHERKRDR
BT ERERAFOEA ST
B8 3k

(iy MWMHEE-

Annual Report 2024 ¢ —Z — [UFFif



(h)

Ranking of shares

The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of a share
option will be subject to all the provisions of the articles
of association for the time being in force and will rank
pari passu in all respects with and shall have the same
voting, dividend, transfer and other rights. Shares issued
on the exercise of a share option shall not rank for any
rights attaching to the shares by reference to a record
date preceding the date of allotment.

The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of a share
option will not carry voting rights until completion of the
registration of the grantee (such other person nominated
by the grantee) as the holder thereof.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of 10 years from 20 December 2018 (being the
Listing Date), after which no further options shall be
offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall in all other respects remain in full force and effect to
the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any
share options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme. Share options granted prior
thereto but not yet exercised shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme. As at the date of this report, the Share Option
Scheme had a remaining life of approximately three
years.

No share options have been granted under the Share
Option Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2024,
and the total number of share options available for grant
under the mandate of the Share Option Scheme was
51,300,000 as at 31 December 2024 (1 January 2024:
51,300,000).
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BEEEgRE#H

Details of the movements of the share options granted under & £2024F 128318 [t FE - RIEERETZ
the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December HEHIBEREEHFBWOT
2024 are as follows:

Number of share options
during the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F12A3ALEERREHR

Exercise Balance as at Balance as at
price 1 January 31 December
Name of grantees Date of grant (HK$) Exercise period® 2024  Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed 2024
120245 120245
TEEn 18188 128310 8
ARARER REAH (Br) fTEHe ] g (g Eig k% &
Directors
EE
Mr. Wong Ting Chung 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000
28 March 2029
TEBEE 201935290 2020534290 2
2029F3F28H
Mr. Lau Ka Keung 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000
28 March 2029
BREEE 2019F3A29H 2020F3A298 &
2029F3 5280
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000
28 March 2029
ERBEA 2019438298 202053R29R &
2029F3528H
Mr. Li Yinquan 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000
28 March 2029
T4 2019%3F29R 202053R29H &
2029F3F28H
Employees
B8
Other employees of the 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 5,700,000 - - —  (600,000) 5,100,000
Group 28 March 2029
REEHMES 2019F3 7297 2020F3A29R &
202934280
Total 14,700,000 - - - (600,000) 14,100,000
mar
Weighted average exercise
price of outstanding
options (HKS) 1.362
AR AT R AE R MR TS
TEBOET)

Million Cities Holdings Limited B RAR LA 86 Annual Report 2024 ¢ —Z — [UFFif



Notes: B 7
1. Exercise price of share options granted of HK$1.362 per share 1.
represents the highest of:

(i) the closing price of HK$1.330 on the date of grant, i.e.
29 March 2019;

(i) the average closing price of HK$1.362 for five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i)~ the nominal value of the share of HK$0.01 each.

2. The share options granted to the above Directors and other 2.
employees of the Group shall be vested in three equal tranches.
The vesting periods of the share options are between the date
of grant and the dates of commencement of exercise periods.

The vesting periods and exercise periods of the share options
are as follows:

Share options granted on 29 March 2019
7201953 H29H #% H 1Y 8 IR &

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
BEExEegRE#H

ERHBEREZTEESK1.362E TR T
ZEREE

(i) RIEH B EI(BI201943H298) 1 2
g {8 1.330/8 T

(i) MREERLAHAEZZEAROZF
Bk E1.8628 L &
(i) R EETROOTVETT

MEAEERAREEMES R OBRE

BR-HERRB BRENEBH AR

HEE/TE MG B BHEE - BREN

HRATERMT

Vesting period
5B

Exercise period

1T £ 34

One-third of the share options (rounded to the nearest number of share

options which represents an integral multiples of one board lot)
Zox—HERE(ENEAAZSREI - FEHEHNERESE)

One-third of the share options (rounded to the nearest number of share

options which represents an integral multiples of one board lot)
=z WERBE(NEAAZEEEI —FEHEHNOBERESRR)

The remaining share options

BT BB A
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29 March 2019 to
28 March 2020
201963 H29H &
20203 H28H

29 March 2019 to
28 March 2021
201993 H29H =
20213 H28H

29 March 2019 to
28 March 2022
201993 F29H =
202243 H28H
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29 March 2020 to
28 March 2029
20203 H29H &
20293 H28H

29 March 2021 to
28 March 2029
202193 H29H =
20293 H28H

29 March 2022 to
28 March 2029
202293 F29H =
202993 A28H



DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
BEEEgRE#H

3. The fair value of share options granted is measured at grant date
using the binomial lattice model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The fair
value of the options granted by the Company was
HK$0.401-0.478 per share. The significant inputs into the
binomial lattice model were the exercise price shown above,
expected volatility of 44.22%, expected dividend vyield of 4.06%,
expected option life of 10 years and risk free interest rates of
1.47% (with reference to the yield rates prevailing on HKD
government bond with duration similar to the expected option
life).

As any changes in the subjective input assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimates, the valuation models for
the Share Options granted do not necessarily provide a reliable
single measure of the fair value of the Share Options. The
related accounting policy for the fair value of the Share Options
granted is disclosed at note 2(s)(iii) to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Company is aware that amendments were made to
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, which has come into effect on
1 January 2023, which include, among others, revising the
scope of eligible participants of share option schemes and
setting out the minimum vesting period requirements. The
Company will only grant the share options in compliance with
the amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and pursuant to
the transitional arrangements for share schemes existing as at
1 January 2023 as specified by the Stock Exchange. Going
forward, the Company will also consider to amend the Share
Option Scheme so as to comply with the new requirements
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, in any event not later
than the refreshment or expiry of the scheme mandate; or to
adopt a new share option scheme that comply with the
requirements under the amended Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

Save as disclosed below, so far as known to the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, as at 31 December 2024, the
following persons or corporations (other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company) who had interest and/or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company

Name of substantial shareholder Nature of interest

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERE#H)

FERRERAEMALTRRG RAEE

BOFHERRAR
BRTEXHBEBELN  BEERAAAEETH

ANBFTA - FR2024F12A831H » T3] ALk
BE(ZEERARAETETBRABRINRAR
AIMRMDSBEROFEERBEZFSFLPE
IRBIEXVEFE 2R B30 E AR X g RA A A #
BOEZR RAE  REBEREFLBAEK
PIZE33BIEAEE T FENELMAERE K
FORBMWT ¢

ARABREBRNER

all

Approximate

Number

of ordinary
shares held or
interested in

percentage

of issued

share capital of
the Company®

P #F = AN
BEERN ERITRAEN
TERRER M E ERMtE EREKRHAE BABD e
Fortune Speed Investments Limited™  Beneficial owner 562,500,000 75.0%
A IREBR R A EmBEAA
Winnermax Management Limited® Interest in a controlled 562,500,000 75.0%
corporation
BEEREAERRAFO R GE B R
Happy Family Assets Limited™ Interest in a controlled 562,500,000 75.0%
corporation
FEREERRAFO REZHZE# R
East Asia International Trustees Trustee of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
Limited®
East Asia International Trustees FEREXFA
Limited®
Ms. Wang Kam Chu® Interest of spouse 565,500,000 75.4%

Wang Kam Chuzz £@
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Name of substantial shareholder

Nature of interest

Number

of ordinary
shares held or
interested in

Approximate
percentage

of issued

share capital of
the Company®

Frfssl B A2 F
BEREN EBRITREN
TERREB KA EEMtE HEBER#A L FSEER Al
Ms. Wong Wai Ling® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
FTERLZLO EREX@m A
Interest of spouse 3,000,000 0.4%
(KL
Mr. Wong Ting Kau® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
FRERXEEY EREX@m A
Mr. Wong Ting Chun® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
FREEXEO EREX@m A
Ms. Chan Ka Wai® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%
Chan Ka WaiZz £© [IREER
Ms. Tsoi Suet Ngai® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%

Tsoi Suet Ngaizz £+ [IREER

Notes:
(1) Fortune Speed Investments Limited is a company wholly owned
by Winnermax Management Limited, which is in turn wholly

owned by Happy Family Assets Limited, a company wholly
owned by East Asia International Trustees Limited.

East Asia International Trustees Limited is the trustee of Happy
Family Trust, a trust established by Mr. Wong Ting Chung as the
settlor. Accordingly, each of Happy Family Assets Limited, East
Asia International Trustees Limited and Winnermax Management
Limited, is deemed to be interested in the 562,500,000 ordinary
shares held by Fortune Speed Investments Limited under the
SFO.

Ms. Wang Kam Chu is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Chung and
is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly
or indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Chung under the SFO.
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Asia International Trustees Limited® & & °

East Asia International Trustees LimitedsZ fE
MIEFE(AEEBREEIEAK T ABISZHIERE)
MZEA-EIt  EHREEASRAQA - East
Asia International Trustees Limited & 18 & & 32
ERAFISEBREZES RBEBKRAIEELSR
L 12 & A IR & 7 A5 A #9562,500,0000% &
BRPHEEERD -

Wang Kam ChuZ =+ & F 12 % & 89 B 48 -

It RIBEEFESF R EGORE AR TERSE
EERSFAERANRODHEEEA -
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Ms. Wong Wai Ling, sister of Mr. Wong Ting Chung, is one of
the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore she is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy Family
Trust under the SFO. Ms. Wong Wai Ling is also the spouse of
Mr. Lau Ka Keung and is therefore deemed to be interested in
the shares held by Mr. Lau Ka Keung under the SFO.

Mr. Wong Ting Kau, brother of Mr. Wong Ting Chung, is one of
the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore he is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy Family
Trust under the SFO.

Mr. Wong Ting Chun, brother of Mr. Wong Ting Chung, is one
of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore he
is deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy
Family Trust under the SFO.

Ms. Chan Ka Wai is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Kau and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly or
indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Kau under the SFO.

Ms. Tsoi Suet Ngai is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Chun and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly or
indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Chun under the SFO.

The calculation is based on the total number of issued ordinary
shares of 750,000,000 ordinary shares as at 31
2024.

December

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme and the Subscription
Agreement, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024 or subsisted as at
31 December 2024.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or ended

31 December 2024.

existed during the vyear

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, (i) neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries, has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities; and (i) the
Company did not hold any treasury shares.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits schemes participated by the
Group are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 35 to 45 of this annual report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION BY
BAND

The
whose biography are set out on pages 35 to 37 and 43 to 45
of this annual report, for the year ended 31 December 2024 is
set out below:

remuneration of the Company’s senior management,

Bl IR R
BARAMA  FERRABRERRFBEHM
MR o AF AT B4 OE -

EEEN

B ZE2024F12A318 L FE  BFILKTFE
HRAEEE2HKBRADOEBNEE RIT
BEH -

BE -HEFIBEEART LTRSS

HE2024F12A31BIEFE () AR 8 REE
B ARMERE HEER TR AR
FHESF RAR BN ERE BT A EFR

1/‘\ °

R KE R S
AEBE2ENRKENASFBEHREE M
T A M LT o

EERENEEE
KRR EZELRSREEBNABTIARNKRER
E35% 458 o

REMEES T NEREEEMNS
HE2024F12A31BILFE  ARAR s HEIE

B (BN AFERFEISEI7TEH NIZELLH)H
B

Number of individuals

AE
Remuneration bands B <& &5 B
HK$NIil-HK$500,000 =% 7T £500,0007 7T 2
HK$500,001-HK$1,000,000 500,001/ 7t Z=1,000,0007 7T 1
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 1,500,000/ JT 1
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,000/%8 7T 1
HK$2,000,001-HK$3,000,000 2,000,001/ 7T 2£3,000,0007% JT 2
Over HK$3,000,000 18 33,000,000 7T 0
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG
Code contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules. The
Board is of the view that the Company is in compliance with
the mandatory code provisions of the CG Code for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

For details of the Corporate Governance Report, please refer to
pages 46 to 70 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is
confirmed that there is sufficient public float of the Company’s
issued shares for the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM for the year ended 31 December 2024 is scheduled
to be held on 16 June 2025. A notice convening the AGM wiill
be issued and disseminated to the Shareholders in due course.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to implement policies in environmental
protection in order to conserve natural resources. The Group
strives to minimise the Group’s environmental impact through
reducing electricity and water consumption and encouraging
recycle of office supplies and other materials. The Group is also
committed to ensure that the Group is in strict compliance with
the applicable environmental laws and regulations of the

relevant jurisdictions.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company strives to balance business growth with
environmental protection.

As the major businesses of the Group are property
development and sales in China, the Group (i) evaluates,
manages and mitigates from time to time environmental issues
within the context of the Group’s business activities and
objectives for the conservation of energy and other natural
resources; (i) devises environmental policies and measures for
the Group so as to keep them in line with the standards
required under the applicable laws, rules and regulations to the
extent practicable; and (iiij applies the Group’s philosophy on
environment protection to the Group’s supply chain and
operations. These include but not limited to the scrutiny in the
selection of the Group’s business partners or services
providers and award the bids of construction and other
projects of which the Group is involved to reputable and
environmentally-conscientious corporations and contractors with
good compliant and environmental records.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in the
workplace through (i) appropriately designing, constructing,
maintaining and, if required, modifying facilities wherever
applicable; (i) replacing gradually existing
appliances with more energy efficient appliances for lighting,
heating and ventilation systems to reduce energy consumption
and (i) raising awareness of environmental protection at
workplace.

using or to

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board was not
aware of any material breach or non-compliance with relevant
local laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
the Group’s business.
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WORKPLACE QUALITY

The management of the Group believes that employees
constitute one of the valuable assets of the Group and regard
human resources as the Group’s corporate wealth. The Group
offers employees with competitive remuneration packages and
provides additional bonus in accordance with their performance
and contributions to the growth and development of the Group.
The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance employees’ career progression, these
training programs cover different areas such as management
skills, sales and production, and other courses relating to the
Group and the industry.

The Group is dedicated to promoting equal opportunities for all
of the employees and do not discriminate on the basis of
personal characteristics. All employees are assessed based on
their ability, performance and contribution, irrespectively of their
nationality, race, religion, gender, age or family status. The
Group has employee handbooks outlining terms and conditions
of employment, employees’ rights and benefits, duties and
responsibilities, conducts and behavior.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group is committed to the health and safety of our
employees and provides a safe and effective working
environment. The Group pledges full compliance with all
occupational health and safety legislation. The Group values the
health and well-being of the employees. The Group supply free
first-aid kits and medicine to the employees and they are
entitled to medical insurance benefits.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group is committed to the professional and personal
development and growth of employees and considers
development and training as a continual process. The Group
offers and encourages employees at all levels to participate in
various internal and external courses in order to promote the
advancement of their job-related skills. The Group’s employees
are provided with fair opportunities for adequate learning,
trainings and promotions.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains solid and steady relationship with its
customers and provides products which satisfy their needs and
The Group enhances the relationship by
continuous interaction with customers to gain insights on
market demand and consumer needs so that the Group could
respond proactively. The Group also maintains close
relationship with its suppliers. This leads to a high degree of
cooperative development and enables the Group to deliver the
high-quality solutions as required and expected by the Group’s
customers.

requirements.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the Company’s
auditor will be proposed for shareholders’ approval at the
AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Wong Ting Chung
Chairman

31 March 2025
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRE -HEREBRSE

REPORTING PERIOD AND FRAMEWORK

This section, Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Report of Million Cities Holdings Limited (“Million Cities”,
“Company”, “we” and “our”), and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”), presents and discloses ESG related matters that
are relevant to the Group’s business and have material impacts
on the environment and society for the year ended 31
December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”). Unless otherwise
stated, the Reporting Period is from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2024.

This ESG report of the Group has been prepared in
compliance with the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” set forth in Appendix c2 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and based on actual
conditions of the Company. We have identified relevant ESG
issues and assess their materiality on our businesses as well as
on our stakeholders, through reviewing our operations and
holding internal discussions. Adhering to the reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency,
this report aims at sharing our performance in aspect of
sustainable development and summarising our efforts made on
sustainability for the year ended 31 December 2024. Our
reporting boundary is limited to, Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) unless otherwise specified.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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OUR BUSINESS AND APPROACH TO ESG
AND ESG REPORTING

Million Cities focuses on developing affordable, luxury,
residential, complex and integrated properties in Huizhou, the
Greater Bay Area and other locations in the PRC which we
consider with potential growth opportunities. The Group also
engages in property development and sales in the PRC.
Beyond the delivery of quality properties, we continue to serve
our customers by offering innovative and customer-oriented
products as well as expanding the diversity of properties to be
developed.

The Group commits to improving its ESG performance by
upholding good corporate governance standards, protecting
our environment including reducing greenhouse gas emissions,
reducing energy consumption, protecting the environment and
natural resources, and providing employees with an excellent
and safe working environment while it engages the community
and promotes social integration. The board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) is responsible for the performance of
the Group and clarifies the responsibilities at each level through
the three-level management structure of “Decision-making —
Management — Execution”.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Board Statement

BE -HEREBRS (A

Overall Responsibility of
the Board

EEEMEREE

Execution of ESG Work

BRE - HEREARAIENET

BiR

ESG Risk Management

Important ESG Issues

EENRR HERERBE T
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The Board has the ultimate responsibility for performance of ESG work, and is
responsible for developing and reviewing the company’s environmental, social,
and governance responsibilities, vision, goals, strategies, frameworks, principles,
policies, and significant risks, among others. The Board also reviews progress
made against ESG related goals in board meeting.

= @%ﬁ@ﬁ%iﬁ?\iA BIERBERAREE BEHIERBEERRTN
RE HEgREREML: CBRE KRB ER - RA BERMERERSE -
é%AﬁAE%$A§;§t$ﬁﬁLﬁ CHEREBIENBEREE -

The Board ensures the implementation of the environmental, social and
governance goals, systems and policies, and that sustainable development is
integrated into daily operations of the Group. The Board regularly supports the
review and development of the overall ESG strategy.

EEERRRE HERELAER HIENBENER THREARXEENEE
BEERATRHELRRE EZeTHBECHTERBERER HEaRkEAR

M o

The Board is responsible for assessing and determining the Group’s
environmental, social and governance risks, identifying and evaluating business
risks and opportunities based on the internal and external conditions of the
Group’s business. The Board also reviews and decides on risk response,
mitigation strategies and risk frameworks to ensure that the Group establishes
appropriate and effective sustainable development management and internal
control systems.
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fﬁ%ﬁwﬁuﬂ CIER  BMRASEREVEERBERNAIKEZEEEMAL
T %U%’: L ©

The Board is responsible for supervising the communication channels and
methods between the Group and its stakeholders, and ensuring that relevant
policies are in place to effectively promote the relationship between the Group
and its stakeholders. At the same time, based on the concerns of various
stakeholders, the management of the Group identifies important ESG issues,
and recommends specific ESG actions or decisions for the Board to consider.
EESAREEASEARMECANBBRRERF L BREBREDIG
EHERRERAEEEFNENAR AR FXEBREEEGRBESHNMED
EMBAIERNIIRE e hkE/ME UTREABHERE He8kERE
BEAKRER HEZSES -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE -#HE@kEAHE A

Within the operation of the Group, it applies industry best
practices and abides by laws and regulations, sets and reviews
safety and environmental goals and indicators, effectively uses
energy and raw materials, and reduces pollution and emissions.
Achieving ESG goals can provide customers with better quality
products. In addition to supporting environmental protection,

AEBEEBEETRMBITERER P KB TIX
BAR - ZERRHN R RRFERERER
B RN A BEIR S R ~ IR 5 R K BRI o 2 R
RE #HehEnBRAURnEPLREM; E&’EE’J
Eme R TXRRE AKERRAFHE
BoNATREREHMERRE -

the Group’s development of sustainable building concepts can
also provide citizens with a better living environment as well.

The Board has approved the
For details of environmental

please refer to the official website of the Group & A& & ufi(http:// www.millioncities.com.cn

(http://www.millioncities.com.cn)

value your feedback regarding the review and our overall EZEETI{ENER - %ﬁT—HI EREBZE

content of the ESG report. ARE -(H@8RkERRENANTELEESSH
and corporate governance, /E FARBEACEEANFBZL2HAEE
N F
and the annual report. We #Kz HMESR B THFE %Tﬁzﬁ‘ﬁ?éﬁf—ﬁ—r
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sustainability practices. Please provide your comments by email  ir@Millioncities.com.hk °

to ir@millioncities.com.hk.

Reporting Principles

The reporting principles of materiality, quantitative, and
consistency have been strictly applied in determining and

Ei&/\/\u
Eﬁ&FE'JE’UEE’\E Elek— ﬁIEEE‘JEE%
B oHeglkERREAN-REERKE

compiling the content of this ESG Report.

Materiality

EEM

Quantitative

Bt

Consistency

— B

Million Cities Holdings Limited B E R

The Group conducted regular management meetings and engagements with
stakeholders including but not limited to employees, shareholders/investors,
clients and suppliers to conclude materiality assessment process for ESG
issues, through various communication channels and proactively responds to
their opinions.

AEETTEHRRE HELELCRBERTERESR SATEZQHEEME
& BREETERRET RE TREE FTLLHER #TERTEKE
RPN ER -

For the key performance indicators (“KPI”) of the environmental and social
section in this ESG Report, quantitative indicators such as emissions, energy
consumption and employees information are reported with the relevant
standards, definitions, methodologies and calculation methods to provide clear
explanations of the Group’s performance and ensure they are numerically
comparable over the years. This ESG Report also discloses the ESG targets
based on the ESG strategy.

RRB HEREABMEPRENLSHBEESIER ((HERE xﬂa’fﬁj)ﬁﬁ
PR e RHERME T EAMNEBLERIREEERE & HEARAERE
EW UEWEEBASENENR  VRRZFRNBEFTAELE NIRIKF - #
ERECHRENBREENEE HEREAXBHETHNERE HEREAR
e

The Group ensures consistency with the previous years of the reporting
standards, data collection and calculation methods adopted to allow meaningful
comparison.

AEBBRARKANERZE BHRERFEFZEBEFERSE — B -
NEETEEEMNLLR -

BRATF 100 Annual Report 2024 ¢ —Z—[IEER



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

SCOPE OF REPORTING

This report is organized into two sections, namely
“Environment” and “Social”, focusing on the following

compliance with the ESG standards:

ESG Standard for Reporting

RE HEREABRERE

iﬂ‘?‘ié& nﬁ%(,@)

g
AREDBIRFEIR LG WE - RBERE
HERERBETEUTHE :

Million Cities’ compliance section

BHERBS

A. Environment A1. Emissions

A. BB Al BER

A2. Use of resources

A2. BRF A
A3. The environment and natural
resources

A3. REKRBAER
A4. Climate change

A4, EIRE1
B. Social Employment and labour practices
B. #®g EBERETED
B1. Employment
B1. &%
B2. Health and safety
B2. BEREZRE
B3. Development and training
B3. #EKIFI
B4. Labour standards
B4, S ITFAE
Operating Practices
a4 17
B5. Supply chain management
B5. ftEEEIR
B6. Product responsibility
B6. EmEE
B7. Anti-corruption
B7. RE®
B8. Community investment
Bs. #HEiIKE
ZZZPUFFH o Annual Report 2024 101

1. Governance on air and greenhouse gas
(“GHG”) emissions

1. BEERMEERBHN

2. Waste management

2. EYER

Minimizing energy consumption

D BE R OE FE

Protecting the environmental impact and

natural resources

RERBEFZENBAER

Identifying climate change risk and mitigating

the associated impacts

a8 7l SR M S {1 L B Y0 R BR AR B R

Equal employment practices
FEREEED

Promoting health and safety
RERRRZ D

Talent management

AT ERE

Prohibiting forced child and labor
DHEAET RBBELE

Upholding high procurement standards
REFESRBRE

Delivering unmatched product quality
RHSBERB X

Commitment to anti-corruption
R&5Z A&

Contributing to the welfare of society

R eEMNIER R

BiHIZRAEMRAT Million Cities Holdings Limited



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE HEgkE

B E (&)

CARING FOR THE ENVIRONMENT AND
NATURAL RESOURCES

A.

A1

ENVIRONMENTAL
The Group attaches great importance to its environmental
management ability, formulates internal management

policies and systems on the basis of abiding by laws and
regulations, and implements environmental management
by establishing an environmental management structure.
We strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations,
including the Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({1 # A R £ MERIFERE
7%)), the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Environmental Impact Assessment ({ff A R E MBI IRE
Z ¥ (B5%)), the Water Pollution Prevention and Control
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FR I A R F1E
K55 Z BF 3& K)), the Environmental Noise Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China (K #E AR X M B R E R B I5 L0 AR,
Regulations on the Administration of Construction Project
Environmental Protection ((E2:% 18 B RIFE IR & E E & H))
and the Administrative Measures for the Environmental
Protection Inspection of Completed Construction Projects
KEREBERIRERERKE RN L)), so as to
strengthen internal environmental protection management.

Emissions

Governance on Air and Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”)
Emissions

The Group strongly commits to the long-term
sustainability of the environment and communities in
which we operate. As such, the Group has established
relevant procedures to detect and prevent any possible
pollution incidents which affect the surrounding
environment that may occur in the course of our business
operations. During the year ended 31 December 2024, we
measured and managed our environmental performance in
several aspects throughout our operations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

In terms of the Group’s property development businesses,
we understand there are environmental emissions such as
air emissions, GHG emissions, waste-water discharges,
general waste, and hazardous waste disposals. The
emissions and waste produced at property development
constructions sites are managed by the construction
contractors as stipulated on our agreement with the
contractors. The Group now manages a construction
company where the Group has direct control over its
related emissions specifically including air emissions,
direct and other indirect GHG emissions along with the
management of general waste and hazardous waste
disposals. Having considered the environmental impact on
the construction contractor’s operations along with the
Group’s construction company, we have required both
construction contractors and our construction company to
comply with relevant laws and regulations and we monitor
the ESG performance of construction contractors closely,
especially on regulatory compliance.

The Group encourages and requires the construction
contractors and its construction company to implement
the following environmental protection measures within the
construction site areas with a view to reducing the
impacts on emissions, effectively managing the air
emissions and ensuring compliance with relevant rules and
regulations: entrusting professional firms to formulate soil
and water conservation plans and monitoring procedures,
and to conduct project inspection and acceptance prior to
completion of the development project; promoting green
construction and reducing the use of resources and the
impact of construction activities on the environment
through scientific management and technological
advancement effectively reducing energy consumption
through the regional sunshine planning, district-wide
ventilation planning, noise reduction and noise reduction
design; adopting materials with dust prevention
component; taking measures such as soil cover and
sprinkle water to reduce dust pollution at the project
construction site; and setting up a vehicle washing pool
near the gate of construction sites to ensure that
transportation vehicles do not carry sediment and dust
when leaving the construction sites.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BiE HERE & (&)

The Group also engages engineering supervision
companies to conduct on-site inspections on a regular
basis, apart from strictly requesting our construction
contractors and construction company to comply with the
environmental protection controls.

Air emissions

The Group’s air emissions generated mainly from gasoline
consumption of the Group’s vehicles that were used for
employees’ transportation in 2024. Details of which are as
follows:

Air emissions

BREBEREZERABHNEEARET
f&f%iﬁ;ﬁZﬁl\'$%l7Tﬂv TRREE
NAEREGRE

JER K
AREBR2024AF T EHEESBEHTH
FEMELEERYEN - BUEFESI T ¢

BER BN

Nitrogen oxides (“NOXx”) Aety(Taaewl)
Sulphur oxides (“SOx”) maty((matyl)
Particulate matters (“PM”) R ([N ])

Greenhouse gas emissions and energy conservation

The greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions generated by the
Group are summarized below in direct, indirect, and other
indirect section. The direct emissions are from the
Group’s vehicles’ consumption of gasoline, while the
indirect emissions are via using outsourced electricity with
other indirect emissions generated from air travel by
employees. The following table shows the figures of the
Group’s GHG emissions during the Reporting Period.

GHG emissions

BERBHER

Unit 2024
By 20244
Emissions tonnes M 4.77*10"2
Emissions tonnes M 2.76*10™4
Emissions tonnes M 4.38*10"3

B ER BB R B BE
AEBEANBEREHERNR TXE
B HEREMEEDSBI@M - EEBEK
REAEEEGEEN TR mEESE
BRBERINEE HES  HaEEd
WAIHEBEEMEIRITES  TRETR
SHMASEEREREHEMEUE -

]

Direct emissions of GHG

Indirect emissions of GHG BEREREEN

B

Other indirect emissions of GHG
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

In line with our policies to minimise air and GHG
emissions, the Group’s offices in most cities are equipped
with video and telephone conferencing facilities to
minimise the need for face-to-face meetings and keep
business travelling to a minimum. For the unavoidable
business trip, direct flights are arranged to reduce air
emissions. The Group will continue to monitor GHG
emission each year and will seek feasible measures to
reduce the emission in a year-on-year basis. The Group’s
emission reduction target is to reduce air and GHG
emissions by 5% within five years.

Waste Management

The Group puts significant emphasis on proper storage
and handling of any hazardous waste and non-hazardous
waste at the Group’s construction sites. With a
construction company was managed by the Group, at the
site level, this construction company would have
concrete, brick residue, steel bar, molding plate, and
square timber as waste that are deem not harmful to the
environment. To handle concrete and brick residue, the
Group would use these materials in building temporary
roads along with applying them in the foundational
structure in construction when necessary. Not only can
the Group save in cost from buying extra materials for the
activities mentioned above, but the Group can also help
to protect the environment via being eco-friendly by using
less materials for its activities. For steel bar, molding
plate, and square timber, the Group would sell them to
companies that demand such materials. As the non-
hazardous waste does not cause a significant impact to
the environment, the Group has put a greater emphasis
and resources on hazardous material management
instead. Hence, in terms of waste that are considered
harmful, the Group would appoint related professionals for
the handling of such waste to ensure appropriate
management. The Group will continue to monitor the
amount of hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste
produced each year and will seek to reduce the amount
of waste produced in a year-on-year basis gradually.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BRE -#HEREBRHE &)

Though the Group does not directly handle the waste at
the site level for its construction contractors, the Group
works closely with its construction contractors to ensure
these hazardous waste and construction waste are
properly managed and disposed of. In particular, in order
to reduce the production of waste concrete, the Group
has mainly used commercial concrete and pre-blocked
mortar at the construction site. In addition, the Group has
not allowed any concrete mixing on-site without approval,
as such action is likely to cause material waste and loss
due to the potential of mishandling. To further the
Group’s effort in minimizing production of waste, material
is used also based on appropriate planning and
execution. For instance, special personnel will be engaged
for utilising any material that is related to steel bars and
wood in order to improve the utilization rate. Also, before
any material processing, the material list should be
reviewed, and professional teams should be preferred for
template construction to avoid material loss due to
inadequate oversight.

During the Reporting Period, there was no incidence of
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations with
significant impact on the environment and natural
resources relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

A2 Use of resources

Minimizing energy consumption

The Group strives to minimize the various energy
consumed at all levels in its operations. The types of
energy consumed by the Group are gasoline, electricity,
and tap water. In 2024, total direct energy consumption
from the use of gasoline was approximately 18,778.69
liters, and the total indirect energy consumption from the
use of electricity was approximately 1,240,492.44 kWh.
On the other hand, the Company mainly uses water for (i)
offices purpose; and (i) residential
construction site purpose, which is from the government,
for temporary use with no identified issue for the
respective suitability. Water usage for the Group’s daily
operations and office administration activities was
approximately 10,036.50 m® during the Reporting Period.
The Group did not have any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose during the Reporting Period. The Group
continues to monitor its water usage by comparing
current consumption with historical data.

or commercial

Types of resources

ERER

Gasoline b
Purchased electricity SNEEE
Tap water ERYN

The Group had direct involvement in 2024 in the use and/
or purchase of package materials with the construction
company. Throughout the years, the Group puts forth a
strong emphasis on minimizing the usage of mentioned
materials during our daily operations. At the office level,
the main waste is paper. The following table shows the
figures of material consumption (i.e. paper) in the Group’s
business operations. The Group will continue to monitor
resources consumption each year and will seek feasible
measures to reduce energy and water consumption in a
year-on-year basis gradually. The Group’s reduction target
is to reduce the consumption of gasoline, electricity and
tap water by 5% within five years.
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Unit 2024

B 20245

liter F+ 18,778.69

kWh T E B 1,240,492.44
m? 37 77 K 10,036.50
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Material consumption

1 RUH #E

Unit
B

Paper consumption FH 4%

The Company continues to encourage a paperless
working environment which not only reduce environmental
damage but also fits commercial goals. To minimize the
use of paper, the Company first recommends electronic
office to reduce printing paper. The paper should be
printed on both sides as much as possible, and the
paper printed on one side should be reused. Slogans will
be made on printers and copiers to remind employees to
save printing. The wastepaper that is not confidential is
stored in a centralized manner, and a dedicated person
will collect it for recycling, and encourage information
sharing via IT network. The Group will continue to monitor
paper consumption each year and will seek feasible
measures to reduce the consumption in a year-on-year
basis gradually.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

A3 The environment and natural resources

Protecting the environmental impact and natural
resources

The business activities of the Group have no direct/
significant impact on environment and natural resources.
The Group nonetheless commits to using natural
resources wisely and efficiently while we encourage the
reuse and recycling of materials within our operations. In
addition, the Group is committed in applying industry best
practices and complying with legislation, establishing and
reviewing safety, security, and environmental goals and
targets, effectively using energy and materials,
waste and emissions, and communicating our
environmental protection policy to all employees. During
the Reporting Period, the Group has implemented an
energy-saving initiative in our office and in our property
development projects, and targets to lower the air
emissions, GHG emissions, energy and water
consumption by 5% within five years. The following
actions have been taken and will be reinforced to achieve
the reduction target:

reducing

° In our Office:

—  Switch off lights and air conditioning in rooms
not in use;

— Switch office equipment and electronic
appliances to energy-saving mode;

—  Set air conditioning at optimal temperature;

— Avoid non-essential use of air conditioning and
windows are opened instead,;

—  Pre-set printers to two-sided printing mode and
post paper-saving
photocopying machines;

reminders near

— Turn off the power supply of computers,
printers, copiers and other office equipment
after work;
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— Encourage the use of public transport when
going out for business development;

—  Conference or meetings are conducted through
video or web conferencing whenever possible
to reduce local transportation and out-of-town
travel;

— Advocate water conservation, close the valve
and notify the maintenance staff to repair when
water dripping is discovered.

° For our property development projects and in
construction Plant:

— Use LED lamps;
— Adoption of energy-efficient appliances;

—  Water-efficient fixtures including faucets and
water closets;

— The water pipe network shall be reasonably
arranged to reach the nearest water use, avoid
water pipe damage and leakage, ensure the
tightness of the on-site water equipment, and
handle the leakage as soon as possible;

— When washing mechanical vehicles, pay
attention to saving water and use water-saving
guns;

— Regular and irregular inspections will be carried
and investigation will be made for the causes
and account the responsibilities of relevant
responsible persons;

— Strengthen the management of temporary
electricity use;
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

—  The electrical equipment shall be maintained as
required to keep good working and energy-
saving performance;

—  Strictly prohibit overloading electrical equipment
or idle for a long time.

Meanwhile, the Group recognises that businesses must
take responsibility for their industry’s effects on the
environment and we should bear the responsibilities and
fulfill the obligations in protecting them, while making
appropriate use. In response, the Group has taken three
actionable steps to help promote the sustainable
environment:

Sustainable building philosophy-green building

The Group has taken initiative to incorporate the green
building aspect of building construction into its
construction project design philosophies. As such, the
Group has engaged qualified third party designers to
provide greenery design for several development projects,
with the aim of (i) promoting building efficiency in terms of
energy, water and materials, etc.; (i) constructing
environmentally sound properties with less carbon and
energy footprint; and (i) complying with environment-
related regulatory standards, if necessary.

In addition, the Group has made efforts to add green
elements to its buildings to reduce the environmental
impact and improve environmental quality, such as using
reusable construction materials, maximizing the green
area in the properties etc., the Group strives to comply
with the Assessment Standard for Green Building.
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Sponge city

The Group has adopted the “Sponge city” concept in its
development projects for more effective drainage and
rainwater reuse. “Sponge city” is a modern stormwater
management approach to help solve drainage problems,
fully utilising land resources and promoting sustainable
development. In such case, the Group builds green
sponge facilities to prevent waterlogging after storms and
effectively collect and utilise rainwater resource.

Conservation of water and soil

The concept of soil and water conservation is vital to a
sustainable and poverty-oriented natural resource
management. We have commissioned qualified third-party
units to prepare reports on soil and water conservation
programs in order to better assess soil erosion during our
construction of basement and ground buildings. The
Group continuously enhances its construction direction in
order to utilise natural resources sustainably for the
benefit of the people and the environment.

The Group commits in applying industry best practices
and complying with legislation, establishing and reviewing
safety, security and environment objectives and targets,
using energy and materials efficiently and reducing waste
and emissions and communicating the Group’s
environmental protection policy to all staff.

Climate change

The Group recognises the importance of identifying
climate change risks. Acute risks and chronic risks such
as the risks brought by typhoons, flood, extreme heat,
rainfall changes have been
recognized as the important risks faced by the Group. We
have taken corresponding measures to mitigate the
impact of climate change on business and adapted to
climate and environmental change. At the same time, the
Group will regularly update the identification and
importance ranking of major climate change risks
according to the changes in the internal and external
environment, and constantly strengthen the Group’s ability
to resist climate change.

extreme fluctuations in
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Risk Types
08 Fidl

Acute Risk
214 3 ks

Physical
Risk
ERRRE

Chronic
Risk
18 1 B B
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Risk Parameters
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Typhoon, flood,
extreme heat
BER - KK R i

= /A
=] /m

Extreme fluctuations
in rainfall changes
and weather
patterns, rise in
average
temperature and
rise in sea level
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Response measures
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Comprehensively assess the potential risks of the project
affected by extreme weather events, formulate emergency
plans for extreme weather (strong typhoon, rainstorm and
flood, ice, rain and snow, etc.), issue work notices to deal
with extreme weather, and make emergency preparations;
ZHEEEEZBEHREREGHLEMEERR - & E B
ARCEERE  ZFRAE K BEREZF)EZER - B
FE 5 1R 3 KSR T AE R A - AT PR 2 A

Pay close attention to the warning of high temperature,
formulate heatstroke prevention plan, implement heatstroke
prevention measures, reasonably adjust operation time, and
distribute cooling goods and drugs;
ERHAISBARREL FIEHEIERE  ZEHEE
B AERAEEERE ERERAYmERS

A5

Project the safety stock, keep communication with suppliers,
and prepare the response plan for the risk of supply chain
interruption in advance.
RELT2ERF  BHEENRREE 12706 R e
HR I | B B e S T

Formulate emergency plans for extreme weather (strong
typhoon, rainstorm and flood, ice, rain and snow, etc.),
issue work notices to deal with extreme weather, prepare
for emergency and ensure the safety of employees;

HIEBmARCGREER ZFRHAE K REREZ)EZE
ROEMEHGmRKANIERM  BTRESEH RE

BTLZ%E:

Improve the operation management process and ensure the
provision of necessary back-up systems, such as back-up
power system'

5 EERBUYRRIEHRMENERES  WERSE
j] /‘?/%/b%_f ;

Continue to follow the chronic risks caused by the climate
change trend where the operation is located and future
regional planning, and consider these factors in the
Group’s property development projects;
REMTELMENNRESE(BE I ENEIERR KA
RiERE  WHHEMAREEYEREEINE S
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The Group pays special attention to the impact of
extreme climate on all stakeholders. In the process of
product building, we always consider climate response
measures as a key element in the management and
control of design and construction. At the early stage of
the design of the Group’s property development projects,
we will assess the regional climate characteristics of the
area where the project is located to adjust the specific
design content, so that the products can have a strong
landing and risk resistance.

CARING FOR THE PEOPLE AND SOCIETY

B.
B1

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

SOCIAL

Employment and labour practices

Equal employment practices

The Group puts significant emphasis on the welfare of
employees whom the Group considers to be its most
valuable assets. Hence, the Group strives to attract and
retain talents and reconcile economical imperatives with
well-beings, aiming at reinforcing satisfaction, loyalty and
commitment of human capital.

The Group has adopted comprehensive human resources
manual which includes policies and procedures applicable
to staff. All employees are treated fairly regarding
recruitment, training and development, appraisal of work
performance, promotions, rest periods, remuneration and
benefits. Staff dismissals are based on the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) ((& % & f& 1% fl), the Minimum Wage
Ordinance of Hong Kong PRC (Chapter 608 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) (B B&EITE KM, the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance of Hong Kong PRC
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) ({&# 38 # £ A
B 211&%1), as well as the requirements stipulated in
the employment contracts. The Group is committed to
providing equal opportunity for all employees and
applicants without regard to race, color, religion, national
origin, sex, age, marital status, sexual orientation,
disability, political affiliation, personal appearance, family
responsibilities, matriculation or any other characteristic
protected under local law. During the Reporting Period,
the Group strictly complied with the relevant laws and
regulations of employment, including but not limited to the
Labour Law of the PRC ({(#F ZE A R £ T & 8))%)), the
Labour Contract Law of the PRC ({/ A £ A5 4 &)
& [FJ£)) and the Social Insurance Law of the PRC ({7
FARAMBE L G REIE).
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Throughout Million Cities’ operation, the Group strives to
provide an excel lent and comfortable working
environment. Based on the features of the principal
business, the Group sets appropriate working hours and
rest breaks for all staff members. The Group also
provides paid annual leave, marriage leave, maternity
leave, casual leave and compassionate leave in addition to
statutory holidays.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 41 staffs
in total. As an illustration, the workforce statistic by
gender and age group are illustrated in pie graphs while
the employment type and employment category are
disclosed as bar charts:

Gender and age distribution

Employee breakdown by gender

EMBBsNESL R

44,

004

." "‘
R Male Female ‘?
i Bt 7

With over half of its workforce as female while less than
10% of its workforce of age less than 30, the Group
strives to put both gender distribution and younger
workforce as one of its core priorities to promote a more
dynamic environment with a fresher perspective.
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Employment type and category distribution TEMEA A F
Employee breakdown by employment type Employee breakdown by employment category
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Employee turnover rate by gender Employee turnover rate by age
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All employees mentioned above are within Hong Kong and T EEHMNREERTBEME -
the PRC region.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Group is committed to complying with relevant labour
standards and employment laws and regulations which
are applicable to our business. During the Reporting
Period, no material and significant disputes between the
Group and the employees occurred.

Health and safety

Promoting health and safety

The Group considers health and safety of its employees
as one of its primary responsibilities. As such, the Group
is committed to providing a workplace free from injury and
illness through effective procedures and practice on
occupational health and safety. The Group pays great
attention to the safety of construction sites and strictly
requires the construction contractors to be responsible for
workers’ safety. As a responsible property developer, the
Group ensures that its related construction workers and
contractors comply with the standards and regulations for
safe and civilized construction of the project, and requires
its construction team along with the construction
contractors to provide all related site workers with the
safety equipment and to assure that these construction
workers would wear such equipment at all times with
proper training at regular intervals that can keep them
informed of any potential hazards on tasks. In addition,
the Group will ensure employees will get timely rest and
vacations in aim to promote better health of the workers,
while it will organize employees to conduct occupational
health checkups every year.

Overall, the Group has purchased work injury insurance
for each employee. If an employee is injured on the job
during work, the Group will actively apply for work injury
certification for such employee to ensure that the injured
employee receives timely treatment. Also, the Group will
provide compensation to workers injured at work
depending on the situation.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group ensured full
compliance with relevant occupational health and safety
legislations of Hong Kong, the PRC and other relevant
legislations, including the Occupational Disease Prevention
Law of the PRC (AR KXMBEIB XK AE)) and
the Safe Production Law of the PRC ({ff % A R H F1E
Z 2 HEE L)) No severe work-related injury or fatality
was reported throughout each of the past three years,
including the Reporting Period. In addition, there was no
lost day due to work injury throughout the Reporting
Period.

Development and training

Talent management

The Group acknowledges and highly values continuous
staff training and development of which it considers can
help to improve both its efficiency and productivity. In this
case, the Group provides employees with training and
development courses which cover various areas, including
orientation, leadership and management skills, marketing
skills, legislations updates, etc. with the aim of improving
employees’ efficiency, knowledge and skills for
discharging their duties at work. Also, the Group
encourages employees to apply for work-related external
training, title and qualification certificates, study degrees,
examination, etc.
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During the Reporting Period, the development and training WERHE mMRRZEARE D
statistics by gender and employment category are BEBIGAETEENATIEREE :

disclosed in following bar charts:

Training hours by gender Training hours by employment category
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Average training hours completed

per employee by gender
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Average training hours completed

per employee by employment category
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B4 Labor standards
Prohibiting forced child and labor
The Group prohibits the use of child labor and forced or
compulsory labor at all its units and suppliers. No
employee is made to work against his/her will or work as
forced labor, or subject to corporal punishment or
coercion of any type related to work.

In addition, the Group fully complies with the Provision on
the Prohibition of Using Child Labour of the PRC ({/ %
ARFEFIBEZE FF A E THRE)), the Labour Law of the
PRC (FEARKEMBELE) L)) and the Contract Law of
the PRC (R ZEAREFBE AR ZE)) and will not hire
companies with minors under 18 years of age. A five and
a half day 8-hour work week is implemented, with clear
job responsibilities for different positions to ensure
workers are aware of the Company’s working hour, work
responsibilities and working conditions. According to the
labour contract signed between the Group and its
employees, if the Group uses violence, threats, or illegally
restricts personal freedom to force employees to work, or
if the Group’s management illegally commands, forces
risky operations or even endangers the employees’
personal safety, the employees can immediately terminate
the labour contract with potential compensation on the
part by the Group to the related employee.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Overall, the Group has zero-tolerance to employment of
child labor and forced labor by our construction
contractors. The Group is not aware of any non-
compliance with relevant rules and regulations on

preventing child or forced labor.

Supply chain management

Upholding high procurement standards

With the implementation of strong contract policy and
corresponding evaluation procedures underlying the
importance of supply chain management, the Group
strives to govern the selection of suppliers and
construction contractors. To ensure product and service
quality, and to manage environmental and social risks in
supply chain, the Group only engages suppliers and
construction contractors with licenses that are granted by
relevant regulators or government authorities. The
obligations of suppliers and construction contractors with
respect to environmental protection and compliance with
relevant safety laws and regulations are clearly stated in
signed contracts.

There are currently 149 suppliers in total, with 101
suppliers in Guangdong Province, 31 suppliers in Tianjin
Province, while the rest of the 17 suppliers are scattered
throughout other Provinces in the PRC.
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In the selection of suppliers, priority is given to choose
high-quality suppliers that have previously cooperated with
the Group or based on a list of top ranked local suppliers
within the area that the relevant project is located. For
monopolistic industries, government recommends the
government related subordinate units or third-party
companies for which the Group will carefully consider.
Moreover, the Group has incorporated ESG scores and
database of supplier information (i.e., Qualifications, ESG
related information) into the selection of suppliers and
established a supplier’s social responsibility evaluation and
investigation mechanism. If the supplier fails to meet the
requirements, it will not be included in the Company’s
supplier database. At the same time, the Group aims to
improve the supplier's social responsibility level through
audits, training, counseling and other activities, and take
active measures to encourage suppliers to fulfill their
social responsibilities. The Group has established a
targeted audit mechanism according to different types of
suppliers. The audit process of regional and lower level
suppliers is completed at the project-regional level, and
the audit of Group’s strategic level suppliers is completed
at the Group’s product center and by the production
manager. The supplier will also be required to conduct
self-inspection or entrust a third-party organisation to
periodically evaluate and review the supplier’s
performance of social responsibilities, and the review
results can be used as an important basis for supplier
selection, order increase, rewards and punishments. This
process is monitored and updated regularly every 3
months.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

In order to realize a normalized supplier management
mechanism with high precision, the Group has also
introduced a supplier hierarchical and classified
management mechanism. In terms of hierarchies, we
categorize into three aspects: group level, regional level
and project level. In terms of classification, we categorize
into three aspects: outstanding strategic cooperation
suppliers, general strategic cooperation suppliers, general
cooperation suppliers and unqualified cooperation
suppliers, and build a supplier hierarchical management
model. During the Reporting Period, there were
approximately 600 suppliers that were subject to the
above-mentioned supplier selection process.

In the cooperation agreement with suppliers, the Group
has made precise requirements for suppliers of wall and
floor tiles coatings to manage environmental-related risks,
such as (i) strictly limiting the content of volatile organic
compounds (VOCs), benzene and formaldehyde in plate
products, and maintaining a third-party on-site sampling
rate of more than 30%; and (ii) using LED products with
high lumens per unit power are preferred for indoor
lighting. The supplier must obtain the environmental
impact assessment certificate from the local government
as the necessary qualification certificate. At the same
time, the Group will prioritize cooperation opportunities to
companies that comply with the clean energy policies
such as coal to gas, good ventilation and dust removal
equipment and meet the standards of sewage discharge.
On the basis of strictly controlling the environmental risks
of suppliers, the Group actively purchases green
products, and is committed to working with external
partners to promote the construction of a green supply
chain jointly.
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B6 Commitment to product responsibility

Delivering unmatched product quality

The Group continues to aim at providing the best quality
products to its clients. In such case, the Group strictly
complies with the Construction Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({2 A R HEFEREE L)), Regulations
on Quality Management of Construction Projects ({iE &%
ITREEEIEEM)), the Civii Code of the People’s
Republic of China ((FZEARELFERAH) and other
national laws and regulations and industry standards
which are applicable to the Group’s operation from time
to time. The Group closely monitors the property
development projects at every stage and our project
engineers regularly inspect building materials and
construction works so as to ensure the constructors
strictly abide by the relevant national laws and regulations
to construct reasonable quality and safe buildings and
meet the acceptable reliability level. The Group has a
complete quality control system and experienced
managers who are responsible for on-site management.
Regarding the selection of cooperative units, no matter
the size of the project, the Group will choose the unit with
the corresponding qualifications as potential partners, and
inspect the projects completed or under construction at
early stage, focusing on whether cooperative units have
staff with strong construction and management
experience, technical capabilities, etc. In terms of raw
material entry management, the Group will specify the
scope of brand selection in the contract. When materials
enter the site, re-inspection or on-site inspection shall be
carried out strictly in accordance with national regulations
to ensure raw materials, semi-finished products and
equipment used in the project can meet the requirements

for engineering quality and environmental protection
requirements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Before the start of each process, the corresponding
construction unit is required to complete the process
model and the formal construction can only be carried out
after the model experience is accepted. In terms of the
management and control of the construction site, on the
one hand, we select supervision companies in accordance
with national regulations. Also, the Group has also
equipped professional engineers for on-site management.
According to national regulations and the Group’s
operating procedures, it conducts daily inspections and
acceptance of various processes and sub-projects.
Unqualified projects will not be accepted and require
rectification. After completion of the corresponding
subprojects (such as basic projects, main projects, etc.)
and remaining projects, the government quality
supervision department also participates in the
corresponding acceptance checking, ensuring the quality
of the project complies with the government supervision
level. In addition, when the building is handed over to the
owner after completion of the inspection and acceptance,
the Group will accompany the owner to check the quality
of the house according to the Group’s operating
procedures, and rectify any quality problems within a
specified time. During the warranty period after the owner
signs the acceptance letter of satisfaction, we will send
engineers to deal with quality problems on site to meet
the warranty requirements.

Overall, the Group has entered into contracts with
construction contractors to obtain indemnity agreements
and their commitment to carry out operational and quality
assurance activities, and to comply with regulatory
requirements. We require construction contractors to
immediately resolve any defects or non-compliance
incidences, where necessary.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BRE -#HEREBRHE &)

The Group has established relevant policies to ensure
compliance with applicable laws and regulations and to
fulfill its corporate responsibility towards the customers.
During the Reporting Period, there was no case and
complaint of non-compliance with laws and regulations in
relation to product responsibility within the headquarters
and offices of the Group. In addition, since we are
engaged in property development and sales in the PRC,
there were no products sold by the Group that was
subject to recall for safety and health reasons during the
Reporting Period.

On the other hand, the Group pays attention in protecting
its own intellectual property rights, while also respecting
the intellectual property rights of others. In order to
establish the Group’s brand, it has registered a number of
trademarks. During the Reporting Period, the Group
strictly complied with the Copyright Law of the PRC ({/
#=ARAMEZERL)), the Trademark Law of the PRC
(R FEARKEFMBIFIZE)), the Patent Law of the PRC
(P ZFE AR FEFIEFHFSX)). Besides. the Group takes a
variety of measures to protect intellectual property rights
from infringement, such as strengthening the training of
employees in this area and providing their protection
awareness. In terms of the Group as a whole, a well-
established complete patent and trademark application
system and process is in place. In the case of violations,
legal measures will be taken to fight back.

For consumer data and privacy related issue, the Group
has set up special departments and personnel to be
responsible for keeping customer-related information and
materials. At the same time, it implements strict approval
and registration systems for relevant personnel to retrieve
and consult customer information. At the same time, the
Group occasionally organizes employees to give lectures
on the protection of personal privacy laws, enhances
employees’ awareness of protecting customer privacy,
improves employees’ professional ethics, and effectively
ensures the security of customer information.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

B7 Anti-corruption

Commitment to anti-corruption

The Group commits in maintaining a high standard of
integrity when conducting business as we strongly believe
that it is essential to meet the expectations of our
stakeholders. The Group is committed to acting with the
highest standards of integrity and ethics, maintaining
business ethics and honesty, fully and accurately
implementing the core values of integrity, honesty,
fairness, impartiality, and ethical business practices of the
Group. As such, the Group has formulated several policy,
which, together, form the anti-corruption policy, including
the anti-money laundering management system ({7 L&
YR EEIEH|E)), corporate governance policy ({1 ZEE
JABE)) and the code of conduct ({7 A&SFEI)), the
purposes of which are to regulate the job behaviors of
middle and senior managers and ordinary employees of
the Company, strictly abide by relevant laws, industry
norms and standards, professional ethics and company
rules and regulations, and establish a good atmosphere
of honesty and diligence. During the Reporting Period, the
Group complied with relevant laws and regulations which
are applicable to the Group’s operation from time to time,
such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Anti-money Laundering ({2 A R XM B & %K 8%)), the
Law of the People’s Republic of China Against Unfair
Competition ((FZEARXFMBE R T IEE HF %)), Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FFZE A R F1E
Fl5%)), Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) ({F7 Lt BEBS 15 151)), Organized
and Serious Crimes Ordinance (Chapter 455 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) ((B#B# KEEFIT1EH)) and Drug
Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance (Chapter
405 of the Laws of Hong Kong) ((BRZ (GBEF1B#) 1§
BIy).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BRE -#HEREBRHE &)

The Group promotes integrity and prevents unethical
pursuits. The Group has implemented an effective
whistleblowing policy for reporting employee violations of
the code of conduct, policies or internal controls, fraud
(including corruption and bribery). We encourage the
reporting of suspected business irregularities and provide
clear channels specifically for this purpose. When
suspected wrongdoings are identified, such as breach of
duty, abuse of power, accepting bribes, staff should
report to the Audit Committee of the board (“Audit
Committee”) for investigation and verification. Audit
Committee is responsible for receiving and conducting
follow-up actions on the relevant reports fairly, and report
to the regulator and/or to law enforcement authority,
when necessary. The Group believes that having such
whistle-blowing policy in place could help identify and
prevent any unethical or illegal behavior within the
organisation, and would allow employees to report any
incidents of misconduct, including unethical behavior,
fraud, or other violations of company policies, without fear
of retaliation.

The Audit Committee is responsible for receiving reports,
organizing investigations of cases, issuing investigation
reports and handling opinions, and reporting to the top
management. The Group has set up fraud report email
boxes to publish and accept real-name data on
anonymous complaints or reports from employees at all
levels and parties with economic relations with the
company. The members of the committee should check
the email boxes at least once a week and the chairman
shall notify the members to discuss the handling method.
This shall impose corresponding internal economic and
administrative disciplinary penalties and those who violate
the criminal law shall be transferred to judicial organs for
handling in accordance with law.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Before cooperating with each external party, the Group
will require such external party to sign an integrity
agreement with the Group to ensure that the personnel of
both parties can maintain integrity in the course of
business exchange. The Group’s employees have also
signed a declaration with Company and be provided with
the Code of Conduct to ensure the employees are aware
of the conflict of interest mechanism, anti-monopoly, fair
competition and transaction and abide by the Group’s
anti-monopoly work regulations when performing their
duties.

In order to enhance the awareness of risks of corruption
and fraud for the Group’s directors and employees, their
understanding of the relevant legislations of anti-money
laundering as well as the Company’s anti-money
laundering management system, the chief executive officer
of the Group, financial department and the marketing
director jointly establish a Anti-Money Laundering Working
Group for the daily monitoring of money laundering, the
preparation of the suspicious transaction report and the
preservation of relevant files. The Group also invites
representatives of the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (ICAC) to visit the Company every year to
conduct training on professional ethics, such as
prevention of corruption and fraud for employees and
holds multiple anti-corruption trainings during the
Reporting Period. Participants in the training mainly
include middle and high-level managers and those
involved in procurement, contracts and those who are
prone to conflicts of interest. In order to reduce the risk
of money laundering and terrorist financing activities, the
Group takes appropriate measures such as detecting
unusual high-frequency cash transactions, understanding
the background information of the clients, avoiding cash
transactions and reporting any suspicious transactions
immediately.
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To further enhance employees’ comprehension and
knowledge of anti-money laundering practices, as well as
to enable anti-money laundering personnel to stay up-to-
date with the provisions of anti-money laundering laws,
administrative regulations and rules which are applicable
to the Group, the Group proactively schedules and
conducts anti-money laundering training on a regular
basis. In addition, pursuant to the Group’s anti-money
laundering management system, the content of anti-
money laundering training covers the following topics:

° Legal training, which involves analyzing and
explaining various laws related to anti-money
laundering.

° Internal policy training, which is tailored to the
Group’s business characteristics. The training
provides a comprehensive explanation of the
Group’s anti-money laundering internal monitoring
system, enabling employees to improve their anti-
money laundering capabilities.

° Practical business training, which includes the latest
international and domestic anti-money laundering
developments and case studies. The training
introduces anti-money laundering experience, skills,
and the latest technology to enhance employees’
anti-money laundering expertise. The training
introduces anti-money laundering experience, skills,
and the latest technology to enhance employees’
anti-money laundering expertise. This helps to
improve the vigilance and anti-money laundering
skills of relevant personnel in a consistent manner.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

According to the Group’s corporate governance policy,
the Board regularly reviews the code of conduct,
reporting policies and procedures, and other internal
policies related to anti-corruption. The abovementioned
measures have been carried out to ensure that the
Group’s core value of integrity is fully and accurately
implemented. In addition, the company secretary of the
Group oversees the training and professional development
of Directors and senior management, as well as the
Group’s policies and practices, to ensure they comply
with legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.
The company secretary also takes responsibility for
creating, reviewing, and monitoring compliance manuals
for both employees and Directors.

There were no concluded legal cases regarding corruption
brought against the Group or its employees during the
Reporting Period.

Community investment

Contributing to the Welfare of Society

The Group encourages staff to take part in community
welfare and voluntary work and our Directors actively
maintain communication with non-governmental
organisations to understand community needs for the
sake of fulfilling its responsibility and giving back to the
society.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and despite in
the midst of global pandemic, the Group made a
donation of approximately RMB0.42 million to support the
community services and charitable activities arranged by
non-profit organisations within Hong Kong and the PRC.
The donation contribution made by the Group mainly
focused on education, social community and social
welfare related aspects.
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Organisations

4 &
Tin Shui Wai Women Association

R 7K B b Bt
The Hong Kong Buddhist Association
EEGHEE S

Tin Shui Wai Women Association

KK B 5 B
Tuen Mun Merchants Association
BEe

Hong Kong CPPCC (Provincial) Members
Association Foundation

BRERBRHEEHES

Friends of Caritas

HE 2R
Paso A Paso Foundation Limited
BEBNESBERAR

Hong Kong Professionals and Senior Executives
Association

ERAEXENERITRAEHS
Tuen Mun District National Day Preparatory
Committee

EiERESEERES

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

Donation nature

BRMEE

Event Sponsorship for New Territories Flag Day (Assistance
and Care for the Elderly)

MABEER (KE@IE)EEED
Event Sponsorship
BB E B

Sponsorship of the event expenses for the celebration of
the 27th Anniversary Gala and Celebration Dinner of the Tin
Shui Wai Women'’s Federation

RKBEBITBFENGERENKEEESE B
Event sponsorship
EEBE B

Event sponsorship

AEBE B

Sponsorship for “Caritas Star Studded Charity Show”
Charity Gala Donation Event

(HERELIZEBRSEHEY

Sponsorship for the concert

EEGERDEDY

Sponsorship for event of 18th Anniversary Commemorative
Gala Dinner

18BFRSBEEIED
Sponsorship of event for Celebrating the 75th Anniversary
of the National Day

EMBEE7SEFEESHE B
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Organisations

A

Special Olympic Hong Kong

EARKRRES

Association of Compatriots in Hong Kong for
Celebration of The National Day of The People’s

Republic of China
BERREBENEETREZEESR

Joint Committee For The Promotion Of The
Constitution And Hong Kong Basic Law

BEMBRBERZENBE SR

The Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters

Association
BERERELACNE®
Tuen Mun District Women’s Association
i, P 4 Bk
Hong Kong Guide Dogs Association
EEEEAME
The Hong Kong Buddhist Association

FEGHBA S

F.T.U. Tuen Mun District Service Office

T B & v P 3 (& AR 7% B2

Heung Yee Kuk New Territories

MABER
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Donation nature

BRMHE

Sponsorship of event (Hong Kong Special Olympics Law
Enforcement Torch Run)

(BBRHRESHEABANER)ESHE B

Event Sponsorship

EEER
Sponsored for the Flag Event

BEREFEDED
70th Anniversary Event Sponsorship

TOBEEBER

Event sponsorship

EEE R

Event sponsorship

EBER

Sponsorship of Hong Kong Buddhist Association’s 79th

Anniversary Celebration Vegetarian Banquet and Launch
Ceremony towards the 80th Anniversary

BRI FEREEEEMBOEFMBRBEY
=93

Sponsorship of event expenses for Celebrating the 75th
Anniversary of the People’s Republic of China “National
Day Congratulations Banquet for a Thousand People”
event.

BORAZEARANBEKI7TGBFIBHETAEIESE D
Sponsorship of fundraising charity fund event for the “11th
Rural Committee Cup Golf Charity Tournament.”

[+ EHERRSRAAREEE | EEALZETEDEDY
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Organisations

A

The Hong Kong Federation of Youth Groups

EEEFHE
Hong Kong Industrial & Commercial Association
Limited Tai Po Branch

EEIRRSERARNABSE
Hong Kong CPPCC (Provincial) Members
Association Foundation

BRERBNEEHEE
Heung Yee Kuk New Territories

MABER

Million Cities Holdings Limited B ZRER AT

Donation nature

BRMHE

Sponsorship of event of HKFYG 65th Anniversary Luncheon
and Youth Neighbourhood Festival

BEEFH e RF TEESEFHSHIEDED
Event sponsorship

A E B

Special donation to the standardization construction project
of country public pension institution in Guangan District,
Sichuan.

HERPHIIEZRGARESEREZLELERER
Sponsorship for charity fund event

REEQEDEY

134 Annual Report 2024 ¢« —Z —[IFFif



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Million Cities Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Million Cities Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 146 to 272, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended and notes, comprising material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the Cayman lIslands, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B %AW E (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

FRESSEE
ARBAFHSRERMANERHE  RAY
TG AMBRENBARRSEEZNFTR &
LEFRAERMEABRBEAMBRR LG
ARRRETREN - HMATSHELERE
HEBNER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

AEEETRRFE

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(m).

BRHEE R FEHRMNZ17R B Z2(m) 8 & 5 BOR

The Key Audit Matter
BARETEE

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate carrying
value of the Group’s properties held for development
(“PHD”) and completed properties held for sale
(together “inventories”) totalled RMB566 million. These
inventories principally comprise residential properties,
shops, apartments, car parking bays and land use
rights held for development in Huizhou and Tianjin.
202412 A31H © EEBEFRHEERMNYE ([FHEH#
BYE)EBFELEEZTIVE (BBIFEDMER
BEitRARKSEETL ZEFEZTEBRHEEMEK
RENEE BE 28 FESRFEZEEN L
e FA#E o

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value (“NRV”).

i -

Million Cities Holdings Limited B2 RER AT

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMNETNMERZEE

Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value
of inventories included the following:

BT EFERNERFENEREFEEUT

o assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the assessment of NRV of inventories;
AEEER#RFER MR BE NS ER AR
it B MEER ML

° assessing the competence, capabilities and

objectivity of the external property valuers;

AEINEMELEMNEEL B HREEM
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

FEEFEERNRRFE

B %AW E (A

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(m).

BREGEE N BHEN 7RI ZF2(m) 8 & 5 BOR

The Key Audit Matter
BRESEE

NRV is assessed by management based on valuations
prepared by external property valuers. This
assessment involves significant management
judgement and estimation in selecting the appropriate
valuation methodology as well as in assessing the
estimated selling prices for each type of inventories
(by reference to recent sales transactions in nearby
locations), the estimated selling costs and the relevant
taxes.

AR FEHEREERBINEY EMAEMNGELET
- ZAMIREREEERERENMKERE A
Mt SEFEN MGG EE (2RI R 6 T 5 3
EXRG) HEAHEKARBETRERELE XA G
K A& E -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETOMEEZEE

with the assistance of our internal
valuation specialists, on a sample basis:
EABMELEZERNHS T - BEETATE
17

property

discussing with the external property valuer and
the management of the Group their valuation
methodology and the key estimates and
assumptions adopted in the valuations;
BEONBYEMGEMR EEEEBENREED
EEFTEARMEES KB AR AT NERE

evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards and
challenging the reasonableness of the key
assumptions adopted in the valuations by
comparison with available market data;
2ERIT G EMNRTE TR EEHTERSE
BWRBLRRETISEE  SRMEEMMKA
WEERBREEHE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B %AW E (&)

Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

FEEENRRFE

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(m).

BREGEE R BHEN 7R B 7F2(m) 8 & 5 BOR

The Key Audit Matter
BRESEE

We identified the assessment of NRV of the Group’s
inventories as a key audit matter because of the
significance of inventories to the Group’s total assets
and because of the inherent risks involved in selecting
the appropriate valuation methodology and the net
selling prices for each property development project,
particularly in light of the current economic
circumstances.

B EEENEFERIZ5EFENTLIABES
HEE HEREFEEY ESELZEESEZMN A
REBSENGERNEREMEEREBEENFEET
EEERRE  FrEERINEFLERE -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BPNETOMEEZEE

conducting site visits to property development
sites, on a sample basis, and discussing with
management the progress of each property
development project; and
HYERZWRETHEEHESR
AmEMEERBEENEE K

I 2532

performing sensitivity analyses to determine the
extent of changes in key estimates and
assumptions that, either
collectively, would be required for inventories to
be materially misstated and considering the
likelihood of such a movement in those key
estimates and assumptions arising.
ETHREST  UEEBERMEGTMEREREFK
HFRIHBAEREEN Bt EERIFEHLEERE
o WERBARMGEANBR LIRS AE S A6
1 o

individually or
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B %AW E (A

Assessing the net realisable value of inventories of the associates

WEBEAANTERIRRFE

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(1).

2 g2

AR Z

FI#R e B B AR i 158 B it 2080 & &1 B & -

The Key Audit Matter
BRESEE

As at 31 December 2024, interest in associates and
share of results of associates for the year then ended
amounted to RMB190 million and RMB(65) million
respectively. Included in the interest in associates was
a provision of write-down of inventories shared by the
Group amounting to RMB309 million.

20245 12A31H - BIEZ A L FEREE QA /4
A NEEBRERTEEDIIR/RARBIVETEAR
HO.65)ET - BRENBEATNERAN BEXERE
EFEMRERERARBI.09ET -

As at 31 2024,
associates principally comprise residential properties,
shops, apartments, car parking bays and land use
rights held for development
Zhumadian.

202412 A311H * Bt
HESEENEE -BE-
o {sE P AE -

December inventories of the

in Huizhou and

AK N

E=NAN

=

NEE

ANEEEZEERBEEMNR
FESMFEERRN LT
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETOMEEZEE

Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value
of inventories of the associates included the following:
BPFABEATNTFEAZE FENEZEFBHE
AT :

assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the assessment of NRV of inventories of the
associates;

EREREY RN
22 il ) R &

“=4

AEEAERFEEENERAR
Bk MEER R

assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external property valuers;

AHEINEMEAEEMNEEL BN REEM
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B %AW E (&)

Assessing the net realisable value of inventories of the associates

FEBEAANTFRIRRFME

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(1).

BRHGEEBHEXN 15K B 72008 & 5 BOR

The Key Audit Matter
BRESEE

Inventories of the associates are stated at the lower of
cost and NRV. NRV for each property development
project of the associates, is assessed by management
based on valuations prepared by external property
valuers.
BERNAINTFERBANANERZRFEBEEG
E-BENFSEMEERBENAIEZRFERER
BAREBIINEYEGHEMOGEEETTME -

The assessment of the NRV of these inventories
involves significant management judgement and
estimation in selecting the appropriate valuation
methodology, preparing the updated costs to
complete the property development project for PHD
and PUD as well as in assessing the estimated selling
prices for each type of inventories (by reference to
recent sales transactions in nearby locations), the
estimated selling costs and the relevant taxes.
ZEFENAIERFENEIREBEEEESEN
BEDE RETKFEERYEREZRPYENR
MRA  URFAREBREFENGFEE (2R A
BEIHRAEERS)  HEtHEK AR KB N E K E
B K B R k5t e

Million Cities Holdings Limited BHiZRER LT
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BPNETOMEEZEE

with the assistance of our internal property
valuation specialists, on a sample basis:
EADEGREERNHGY T - MEETUTS
IF .

° discussing with the external property valuer
and the management of the Group their
valuation methodology and the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in the
valuations;

HAOANEMEGREMR ESEEREEN®
RENGEEFEARGET KB AR
FtRIRER

° evaluating the appropriateness of the
valuation methodology with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards and challenging the
reasonableness of the key assumptions
adopted in the valuations by comparison
with available market data;
S2EZRTGFENORE  FEEERE
EERAE WEAKBRRAEMSHE &F
HEMRKANEIZEREEESE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B %AW E (A

Assessing the net realisable value of inventories of the associates

WEBEAANTERIRRFE

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(1).

BRHGEE N BHEXN 15K B iF20)89 & 5 BOR

The Key Audit Matter
BRESEE

We identified the assessment of NRV of inventories of
the associates as a key audit matter because of the
significance of these inventories to the Group’s
interests in the associates and because of the
inherent risks involved in selecting the appropriate
valuation methodology, estimating the costs to
complete each property development project and the
estimated net selling prices for each property
development project, particularly in light of the current
economic circumstances.

B E R RN E A ZRFENT A AERESE
AEEDHREFEYH ESEERBEARNERD
BEEN THREEBESENMELE FHTKEY
FERBEHNRANMAGEDEERBENFEET
FEABERRE  FHEZERIEAKLERSE -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETOMEEZEE

conducting site visits to property development
sites, on a sample basis, and discussing with
management the progress of each property
development project and the development
budgets reflected in the latest forecasts for each
property development project of the associates;
HYEREHBRETHEENER  WEREREE
AR E AR B MEERBENEENS MRS
RIEBESFBAMRENRAZEESR

assessing the reasonableness of the estimated
construction costs to complete each property
development project by comparing those with the
Group’s latest budgets, and on a sample basis,
inspecting the supporting documents of items of
construction cost in the budgets to assess the
reliability of the budgets; and

FHETER B EERIER WE%L“EZZKE’JAEE
M HERBZEXRAE EEENKFEER
THE THEBREPREKKIER E’J"*EEK
- U EENr ST &

performing sensitivity analyses to determine the
extent of changes in key estimates and
assumptions that, either individually or
collectively, would be these
inventories to be materially misstated and
considering the likelihood of such a movement in
those key estimates and assumptions arising.

ETHREST  UHEEERMEGTMEREREFK
HALRMEEEN S EERREFEELE
REEW - WERARGEANRZILREEZHH

ATAL M o

required for
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BY & B RS &)

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Million Cities Holdings Limited B R ER AT 142

II\I

|l

CLEE EE3 N
=B

_T

EXFTHEMERARE EMESEETER
FHRANZHMES ETEREAPHRERLK
AT B9 Az BB R

ﬁﬁ'ﬁ%ﬂ*’—\ﬁﬂki&ﬁ MERY MREEME
JTTﬁTEZ%ﬁﬁM%%%%EﬂRKE’U%Eﬁ

o

B ©
#

2D

FARMYEEMBRROES  RANEE
EHEEMBER  EUHBREF  EEHEMBESR
EREGEEMBERRIXKMESTBIEPH
TR Hﬁla/ﬁrﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂz%w‘jﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
8RB B 15

) & D

ERBACHTHIE  OREMARBBEME
EEEEAERRL RMATERSZEE
HESE BAIREERRE -

EERGEMBRRARENEE

EXZABAERBEBR LG GRMNCER
MEBELIDRBB(RRGRIDNEERE
REBEEMT NG W BERE jrff,\pd%
ﬁﬁi?é\ﬁﬂ%iﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁTTEEﬁ L
ﬁ% BYMEKNGHERRM ﬁﬁﬁE’JW*BT il

Annual Report 2024 ¢« == — [U4FFif



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
put to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

reasonable assurance about

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

error

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

M BERE )

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We
responsible for our audit opinion.

remain solely
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

We communicate with the Audit Committee of the Company
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

in our

The engagement partner on the audit in this

independent auditor’s report is Liu Hin Pan.

resulting

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

meBEmK
— ~

s m 1B m

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B E2024F 12 A31A L FE

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAR3R)

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR TR AR T
Revenue WA 4 99,710 641,634
Cost of sales 85 & B AR (116,839) (806,135)
Gross loss EEE (17,129) (164,501)
Valuation losses on KREMEGHEEE
investment properties 13(a) (410) (87,030)
Change in fair value of financial TR TAAFEZS
instruments 22(d) = 27,944
Other net income H b Ug A F %5 5 14,059 21,289
Impairment loss on other H b B R IBR B E 1B
receivables 7(c) (1,341) -
Selling expenses HERMXZ (7,581) (57,285)
Administrative expenses THRAXZ (41,822) (49,579)
Other expenses HEmRA 6 (3,686) (1,756)
Loss from operations REEE (57,910) (260,918)
Finance costs B & KA 7(a) (18) (6,363)
Share of profits less losses of FE(L Bt = 2 B) s FRUES 1B
associates (64,946) (258,965)
Loss before taxation R BT & 1B 7 (122,874) (526,246)
Income tax Fr 15 %4 8(a) (20,640) (80,987)
Loss for the year FEFE (143,514) (607,233)
Attributable to: UTEFEWN:
Equity shareholders of KRATERBRER
the Company (113,817) (482,278)
Non-controlling interests IR R (29,697) (124,955)
Loss for the year FEEBR (143,514) (607,233)
Basic and diluted losses BEREAREEEE
per share (RMB cents) (AR®ED) 11 (15.18) (64.30)

The notes on page 153 to page 272 form part of these F153EE272B 2 ABZEHBHREN—B
financial statements. 7 e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SEeEEREMEE R ZE KR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
£ E=2024F 12 A31H L FE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAR®3ITR)

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR T T

Loss for the year FEER (143,514) (607,233)
Other comprehensive income FEHMEZEKWESE (BREH

for the year (after reclassification DERAE)

adjustments)
ltems that may be reclassified AEREH D EEZ BB

subsequently to profit or loss: HH
Exchange differences on translation of & LA T B B3R KA IE 5

financial statements of: =5

— the associates — e Rra (1,580) (1,030)

— the Hong Kong and overseas — BAEREINKER A

subsidiaries (3,274) (1,881)

Other comprehensive income FEHMEZEKE

for the year, net of nil tax EHREBIE (4,854) (2,911)
Total comprehensive income FEXHWSALHE

for the year (148,368) (610,144)
Attributable to: LT ALER:

Equity shareholders of the Company VNNV E oy 3] (114,724) (482,032)

Non-controlling interests FEIE e 2= (33,644) (128,112)
Total comprehensive income FEZEHWSEAE

for the year (148,368) (610,144)

The notes on page 153 to page 272 form part of these

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BB R

At 31 December 2024
12024512 A31H
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAR3R)

2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B E AR T ARBET T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment I E N 12 44,844 46,164
Investment properties "EY 13 56,211 54,850
Interest in associates REEE R R 15 189,809 211,602
Deferred tax assets BELEHIBEE 25(b) 50,795 59,769
Other non-current assets HtERBEE 16 - 97,733
341,659 470,118
Current assets RBEE
Inventories and other contract costs & K& H b & 49 AK Ax 17 566,369 660,304
Trade and other receivables 25 KEMEWFRIE 18 240,253 150,095
Prepaid tax TEf IR 25(a) 11,805 11,948
Pledged and restricted deposits B & X R # 1T % 19 12,650 16,641
Cash and cash equivalents BehReEED 20 268,446 363,294
1,099,523 1,202,282
Total assets WEE 1,441,182 1,672,400
Current liabilities REBEE
Contract liabilities EH8E 21 48,539 78,161
Trade and other payables B 5 N E b FE S R 22 493,816 499,599
Lease liabilities MEAE 23 135 28
Tax payable & B IR 25(a) 170,973 223,427
Provision B 15 22,091 18,108
735,554 819,323
Net current assets RBEEFE 363,969 382,959
Total assets less current HWEERARBEE
liabilities 705,628 853,077
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
e BRI x A

At 31 December 2024

12024412 A31H
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AA RS R)
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

P =% AR® T ARETTT

Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 550 —
Deferred tax liabilities EXERIEAE 25(b) 3,551 3,182
4,101 3,182

NET ASSETS EEFE 701,527 849,895
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRREE 26
Share capital Ji% 7% 6,605 6,605
Reserves (ER 564,092 678,816
Total equity attributable to equity AR T EZRERELES

shareholders of the Company HE 570,697 685,421
Non-controlling interests FERER 130,830 164,474
TOTAL EQUITY B 701,527 849,895

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors # £ & 2025938318 #t RIS REEEFT o
on 31 March 2025.

Wong Ting Chung Lau Ka Keung
FTER BxRA
Director Director

EF EF

The notes on page 153 to page 272 form part of these HF153E E2728 2 WF A EHERE L —IF
financial statements. & e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEREREH X

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E2024F 12 A31A L FE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARFTR)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
AAARERRER
Retained
Share profits/ Non-
Share Share option Statutory Exchange (Accumulated controlling
capital Premium reserves reserves reserves losses) Total interests  Total equity
RERF/
B& RAEE BRERE AT EiGE (RHES) @i FERES 3
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARBTr ARETT ARETT ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023F1 A1ANES 6,605 660,653 7,164 53,002 (6,374) 446,403 1,167,453 292,586 1,460,039
Changes in equity for 2023 0BFHEREEH
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (482,078) (482,278) (124,955) (607,233)
Other comprehensive income Et2Els - - - - 246 - 246 (3,157) 2,911)
Total comprehensive income PENESE - - - - 246 (482,278) (482,032) (128,112) (610,144)
Balance at 31 December 2023F12B318 &
2023 and 1 January 2024 2024F1 1B 58 6,605 660,653 7,164 53,002 (6,128) (35,875) 685,421 164,474 849,895
Changes in equity for 2024 0XFHNERED
Loss for the year ERFR - - - - - (113,817) (113,817) (29,697) (143,514)
Other comprehensive income Ep2EkEE = = = = (907) - (907) (3,947) (4,854)
Total comprehensive income *ANEEE = = = = (907) (113,817) (114,724) (33,644) (148,368)
Balance at 31 December 120245128310 & 8
2024 6,605 660,653 7,164 53,002 (7,035) (149,692) 570,697 130,830 701,527

The notes on page 153 to page 272 form part of these
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERERXR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
£ E=2024F 12 A31H L FE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAR®3ITR)

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt &% AR®T AR T T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING K& ZIHRESFKE
ACTIVITIES
Cash (used in)/generated from RESEE (FTA),/
operations FFER& 20(b) (10,813) 469,838
Income tax paid ERFEH (63,634) (99,949)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from RETEHES (RE),
operating activities RANFEE (74,447) 369,889
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REFZHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received E W %I 2 8,694 4,783
Payments for structured deposits wrE ISET ANEN (1,307,650) (1,000,700)
Proceeds received upon maturity of %5 14 77 2 2 8 12 WL &Y
structured deposits ﬁfr BRIE 1,307,650 1,000,700
Acquisition of property, plant and W% - B Mi& 1
equipment (948) (1,908)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BE&
plant and equipment BB FTSIA 39 237
Proceeds from disposal of an & — % RN
associate T8 2T - 50,309
Loans to third parties mME=7 h HER (62,794) —
Repayment of loans to third parties  [A 5 *EL@\ EE N 25,794 5,000
Capital loans to an associate BTHERANEEER (32,587) (30,000)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from BREZFBHES(RE)/
investing activities AR (61,802) 28,426

F153AE272B 2 NERZF U B KM — &

7 e

The notes on page 153 to page 272 form part of these
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

GERERER#E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
EH E2024F12A31H L F &
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARFTR)

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt &% AR®T R AR T T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ®EZHRESFKE
ACTIVITIES
Capital element of lease rentals ENHEEERES
paid 20(c) (112) (134)
Interest element of lease rentals EfHEEHNEE D
paid 20(c) (18) (6)
Repayment of bank loans BERTT f§\ /%T 20(c) - (158,400)
Interest paid on bank loans BT IRITE R E 20(c) - (6,357)
Advances from related parties 2 B EJJA 20(c) - 64,835
Repayment to related parties m B 5 BN 20(c) (517) (101,384)
Advances to non-controlling M) FE 158 IR 25 77 B3R
interests = (39,841)
Repayment from non-controlling IR E K
interests 39,841 —
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from BMEFBHERESRA
financing activities (FH)F8E 39,194 (241,287)
(Decrease)/increase in cash and % % RRSZEEY
cash equivalents W),/ #n (97,055) 157,028
Cash and cash equivalents MBE1ENESR
at 1 January HeEEY 363,294 205,561
Effect of foreign exchange rate @EXSFHHNFTE
changes 2,207 705
Cash and cash equivalents M12B31BEHNEER
at 31 December REeEEY 20(a) 268,446 363,294

The notes on page 153 to page 272 form part of these

financial statements.
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1

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Million Cities Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15 November
2016 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
core business activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) include property
development and sales in Chinese Mainland.

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 comprise the Group and
the Group’s interest in associates.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI -

2

AANRESIR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 2(d) provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period reflected in these financial
statements.

Basis of measurement

These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), rounded to the nearest thousand,
as the Group’s principal activities were carried out in
Chinese Mainland. RMB is the functional currency
for the Company’s subsidiaries established in
Chinese Mainland. The functional currency of the
Company and the Company’s subsidiaries outside
Chinese Mainland are Hong Kong dollars, as these
entities’ principal activities are financing and
investing activities, and Hong Kong dollars are the
primary currency generated from and used in these
activities.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the financial statements is the historical cost basis
except that investments in debt and equity securities
and investment properties are stated at fair value as
explained in note 2(g) and note 2(i).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on
the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BAEFTEASN - KA REFIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Changes in accounting policies

(e)

Amendments to HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

° Amendments to HKAS 1,
financial statements — Classification of liabilities
as current or non-current (“2020 amendments”)
and amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Non-current liabilities
with covenants (“2022 amendments”)

Presentation of

o Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash
flows and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures — Supplier finance arrangements

None of these amendments have had a material
effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented. The Group has not applied
any new standard or interpretation that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

commences until

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI -

2

AANRESIR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statements of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statements of profit
or loss and the consolidated statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive
allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of
the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling
interests and other contractual obligations towards
these holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statements of financial position in
accordance with notes 2(q) and 2(x) depending on
the nature of the liability.

income as an

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are
made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to
reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or
loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see note 2(g)) or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or joint venture (see note 2(f)).
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2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

(f)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(I).

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements under the
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale
(or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale) (see note 2(y). Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost,
adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the associate or joint
venture that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of
the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss
relating to the investment. Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss, whereas
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax
items of the investees’ other comprehensive income
is recognised in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI -

2

AANRESIR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

Associates (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the investee. For this
purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method together
with the Group’s long-term
substance form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate (after applying the ECL model to
such other long-term interests where applicable (see
note 2()(i)).

interests that in

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in the investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant an associate, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former investee at the date when significant
influence is lost is recognised at fair value and this
amount is regarded as the fair value on
recognition of a financial asset.

influence over

initial
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

Other investments in debt and equity
securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and
equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are set
out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus
directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. These
investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.

(i) Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash
flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income
from the investment is calculated using
the effective interest method (see note

2(v)iii).

— fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the
investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest)
are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BAEFTEASN - KA REFIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(h) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair
remeasured. The gain or loss on
remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, except where the
derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting or
hedges of net investment in a foreign operation, in
which case recognition of any resultant gain or loss
depends on the nature of the item being hedged.

value is

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
(see note 2(k)) to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include property that is
being constructed or developed for future use as
investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless
they are still in the course of construction or
development at the end of the reporting period and
their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that
time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair
value or from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property is recognised in profit or loss.
Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 2(v).

When the Group holds property interest under an
operating lease to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, the interest is classified and
accounted for as an investment property on a
property-by-property basis. Any such property
interest which has been classified as an investment
property is accounted for as if it were held under a
(see note 2(k)), and the same
accounting policies are applied to that interest as
are applied to other investment properties leased
under
accounted for as described in note 2(k).

finance lease

finance leases. Lease payments are
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)]

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment loss (see note 2(l)):

— buildings held for own use which are situated
on leasehold land classified as held under
operating lease (see note 2(k)); and

—  other items of plant and equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an
appropriate proportion of production overheads and
borrowing costs (see note 2(x)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI -

2

AANRESIR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)]

(k)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Residual

Useful life value%

Lands 50 years 0%

Buildings 20 years 5%-10%

Office equipment 2-12 years 0%-10%

Motor vehicles 4-5 years 0%-10%

Electronic and other 2-10 years 0%-10%

equipment

Other properties leased unexpired 0%

for own use term of lease

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i) As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s), the
Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for
all leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RE MW R K E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEAREHHEHXK(E)
(Continued)
(k) Leased assets (Continued) (k) HEEZEEE)
(i) As a lessee (Continued) (i) 1ERBEHBEAGE)

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-
value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of
the lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEAREGHHEXK(E)
(Continued)
(k) Leased assets (Continued) (k) HEEZEEE)
(i) As a lessee (Continued) (i) 1EBEBEAGE)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost,
which comprises the initial amount of the lease
liability plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
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accordance with note 2(m).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RE MW R K E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEAREHHEHXK(E)
(Continued)
(k) Leased assets (Continued) (k) HEEZEEE)
(i) As a lessee (Continued) (i) 1ERBEHBEAGE)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is
a change in future lease payments arising from
a change in an index or rate, or there is a
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from
the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or
the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI -

2

AN REESIR)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(k) Leased assets (Continued)
(i) As a lessee (Continued)
In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term lease
liabilities is determined as the present value of
contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.
(i) As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying
assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the
lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with note
2(v).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the
sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or
as an operating lease with reference to the
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the exemption described in
notes 2(j) and (k), then the Group classifies the
sub-lease as an operating lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLs) on the following
items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables
and loans to associates); and

— lease receivables.

Financial assets measured at fair value are not
subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash
flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

assets: current

effective interest rate; and

— variable-rate financial

— lease receivables: discount rate used in
the measurement of the lease receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2

()

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and lease receivables (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to

credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes
account

future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following

bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the

reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
possible
default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model

expected to result from all

applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
lease receivables are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general

economic conditions at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and lease receivables (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to
12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition,
case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

in which

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI -

2

AANRESIR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

U]

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and lease receivables (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or credit rating (if
available);

internal

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and lease receivables (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)
ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change
in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account,
except for investments in debt securities that
are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
fair value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 2(v)(iii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on
the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEAREGHHEXK(E)
(Continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets ) EHRABAREEREE)
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments () =B TEARENHENEH
and lease receivables (Continued) Bx(E)

Basis of calculation of interest income
(Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the
debtor; or

— the disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties
of the issuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

(i)

and lease receivables (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
or lease receivable is written off (either partially
or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Credit losses from financial guarantees
issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETHAEN
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

2

()

(i)

AANRESIR)

Credit losses from financial guarantees
issued (Continued)

Financial guarantees issued are initially
recognised within “trade and other payables” at
fair value, which is determined by reference to
fees charged in an arm’s length transaction for
similar services, when such information is
obtainable, or to interest rate differentials, by
comparing the actual rates charged by lenders
when the guarantee is made available with the
estimated rates that
charged, had the guarantees not been
available, where reliable estimates of such
information can be made. Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no
such consideration is received or receivable, an
immediate expense is recognised in profit or
loss.

lenders would have

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount
initially recognised as deferred income is
amortised in profit or loss over the term of the
guarantee as income from financial guarantees
issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract and
recognises a provision when ECLs on the
financial guarantees are determined to be
higher than the amount carried in “trade and
other payables” in respect of the guarantees
(i.e. the amount initially recognised,
accumulated amortisation).

less
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RE MW R K E R

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(ii) Credit losses from financial guarantees

issued (Continued)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers
changes in the risk of default of the specified
debtor since the issuance of the guarantee. A
12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased
significantly since the guarantee is issued, in
which case a lifetime ECL is measured. The
same definition of default and the same
assessment of significant increase in credit risk
as described in note 2(1)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the specified
debtor in accordance with the terms of the
instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is
estimated based on the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amount that the Group expects
to receive from the holder of the guarantee,
the specified debtor or any other party. The
amount is then discounted using the current
risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the
cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets;

— investments in subsidiaries, and
associates;

—  other non-current assets; and

—  other contract costs

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m)

Inventories and other contract costs
(i) Property development

Inventories in respect of property development
activities are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost and net realisable

values are determined as follows:

—  Property held for develooment and

property under development
The cost

development

cost of land,
development,

borrowing costs capitalised

incurred in selling the property.

of properties held for
development and properties under
comprises specifically
identified cost, including the acquisition
aggregate cost
materials and supplies,
wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads and
(see note
2(x)). Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less estimated
costs of completion and costs to be

—  Completed property held for sale

The cost of completed properties held for
sale comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their

present location and condition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Inventories and other contract costs
(Continued)
(i) Property development (Continued)

Completed property held for sale
(Continued)

In the case of completed properties
developed by the Group which comprise
of multiple units which are sold
individually, the cost of each unit is
determined by apportionment of the total
development costs for that development
project to each unit on a per square
meter basis, unless another basis is more
representative of the cost of the specific
unit. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less costs to be
incurred in selling the property.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised
as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or
loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount
of inventories recognised as an expense
in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETHAEN
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories and other contract costs
(Continued)

2

Million Cities Holdings Limited B {ZRER AT

(m)

(i)

AANRESIR)

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer
or the costs to fulfil a contract with a customer
which are not capitalised as inventory (see
note 2(m)(i)) or property, plant and equipment
(see note 2(j)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are
those costs that the Group incurs to obtain a
contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been
obtained e.g. an incremental sales
commission. Incremental costs of obtaining a
contract are capitalised when incurred if the
costs relate to
recognised in a future reporting period and the
costs are expected to be recovered. Other
costs of obtaining a contract are expensed
when incurred.

revenue which will be

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the
costs relate directly to an existing contract or
to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract; generate or enhance resources that
will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered.

Costs that relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract may include direct labour,
direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that
are explicitly chargeable to the customer and
other costs that are incurred only because the
Group entered into the contract (for example,
payments to sub-contractors). Other costs of
fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

(n)

Inventories and other contract costs

(Continued)

(ii) Other contract costs (Continued)
Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Impairment losses are recognised to the
extent that the carrying amount of the contract
cost asset exceeds the net of () remaining
amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the goods
or services to which the asset relates, less (ii)
any costs that relate directly to providing those
goods or services that have not yet been
recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue to
which the asset relates is recognised. The
accounting policy for revenue recognition is set
out in note 2(v).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 2(v)). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised (see note 2(0)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract liability includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see
note 2(v)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BAEFTEASN - KA REFIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(o) Trade and other receivables

(p)

(a)

(r)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see notes 2(l) and (j)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, property pre-sale
proceeds held by solicitor that are held for meeting
short-term cash commitments and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities
measured in accordance with note 2(l)(ii) trade and
other payables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs
(see note 2(x)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RE MW R K E R

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, employee wages or salaries, bonuses,
social security contributions such as medical
insurance, work injury insurance, maternity
insurance and housing fund, measured at the
amount the applicable
benchmarks and rates, are recognised as a
liability as the employee provides services, with
a corresponding charge to profit or loss or
included in the cost of assets where
appropriate.

incurred or at

Defined contribution plans

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations
of Chinese Mainland, the Group participates in
a defined contribution basic pension insurance
in the social insurance system established and
managed by government organizations. The
Group makes contributions to basic pension
insurance plans based on the applicable
benchmarks and rates stipulated by the
government. Basic pension insurance
contributions are recognised as part of the
cost of assets or charged to profit or loss as
the related services are rendered by the
employees.

The Group also participates in a pension
scheme under the rules and regulations of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
(the “MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong
Kong, which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme. The contributions to the
MPF Scheme are based on minimum statutory
contribution requirement of 5% of eligible
employees’ relevant aggregate income with a
cap of monthly relevant income of HKD30,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BAEFTEASN - KA REFIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(s) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost
with a corresponding increase in a capital
reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the binomial
lattice model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were
granted. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed.
Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve). The equity amount is recognised in
the capital reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is included in the amount
recognised in share capital for the shares
issued) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that it
combination, or items recognised directly in equity or
in OCI.

relates to a business

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or
receivable in respect of previous years. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best
estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or
received that reflects any uncertainty related to
income taxes. It is measured using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date. Current tax also includes any tax arising from
dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is
not recognised for:

— temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;

— temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the
extent that the Group is able to control the
timing of the of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not
reverse in the foreseeable future;

reversal
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(t) Income tax (Continued)

— taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill; and

— those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be used. Future taxable profits are
determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable
temporary differences. If the amount of taxable
temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a
deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for
differences, are considered, based on the business
plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised; such reductions are reversed when the
probability of future taxable profits improves.

reversals of existing temporary
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

(u)

Income tax (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with note 2(j), the amount of
deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at
their carrying value at the reporting date, unless the
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the
property over time, rather than through sale.
other cases, the measurement of deferred tax
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the
reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

In all

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Other provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability,
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or
occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

unless the

non-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BAEFTEASN - KA REFIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(v) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of properties or the use by
others of the Group’s assets under leases in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the
right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax
(“VAT”) deduction of any trade
discounts.

and is after

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months,
measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction with the customer, and interest income
is accrued separately under the effective interest
method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on
the contract liability under the effective interest
method. The Group takes advantage of the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does
not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.

revenue is
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other

income recognition policies are as follows:

(v)

(i)

Sale of properties
Revenue arising from the sale of properties in
the ordinary course of business is recognised:

— when properties are handed over to the
customers which is the point in time
when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits
of the property. Advanced payments
received on properties sold prior to the
date of revenue recognition are included
in the statement of financial position
under contract liabilities (see note 21).

For contracts where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised property exceeds one year, the
transaction price and the amount of revenue
from the sales of completed properties is
adjusted for the effects of a financing
component. If the advance payments by the
regarded as providing a
significant financing benefit to the Group,
interest expense arising from the adjustment of
time value of money will be accrued by the
Group during the period between the payment
date and the date of delivery of property. This
accrual increases the balance of the contract
liability during the period of construction, and
therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the completed
property is transferred to the customer. The
interest is expensed as accrued unless it is
eligible to be capitalised under HKAS 25,
Borrowing costs, in accordance with the
policies set out in note 2(x).

customer are
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI -

AANRESIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Rental income from operating leases
Rental receivable under operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in
profit or integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are
earned.

income

loss as an

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset.

For credit
effective

impaired financial assets, the
interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net
of loss allowance) of the asset (see note 2(l)(i)).

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(w) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

(x)

T [UFFIR « Annual Report 2024

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
the fair value was measured.

The results of Hong Kong and foreign operations are
translated into Renminbi at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Renminbi at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a Hong Kong or foreign operations,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that Hong Kong or foreign operations is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the
profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the
cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BAEFTEASN - KA REFIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(y) Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified
as held for sale if it is highly probable that its
carrying amount will be recovered through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use and
the asset (or disposal group) is available for sale in
its present condition. A disposal group is a group of
assets to be disposed of together as a group in a
single transaction, and liabilities directly associated
with those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified
as held for sale when the above criteria for
classification as held for sale are met, regardless of
whether the Group will retain a non-controlling
interest in the subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all
individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is
brought up-to-date in accordance with the
accounting policies before the classification. Then,
on initial classification as held for sale and until
disposal, the non-current assets (except for certain
assets as explained below), or disposal groups, are
recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions
to this measurement policy so far as the financial
statements of the Group and the Company are
concerned are deferred tax assets, assets arising
from employee benefits, financial assets (other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures) and investment properties. These assets,
even if held for sale, would continue to be measured
in accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in
note 2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(y) Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)
Impairment losses on initial classification as held for
sale, and on subsequent remeasurement while held
for sale, are recognised in profit or loss. As long as
a non-current asset is classified as held for sale, or
is included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale, the non-current asset is not
depreciated or amortised.

(z) Related parties
(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAEETHAI - AAREIIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(z) Related parties (Continued)

@)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (1).

A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

The Group manages its business as a whole as
properties development is the only reporting
segment. The financial statements is presented in a
manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s senior executive
management for the purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

(a)

Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
accounting judgements:

Classification between investment properties
and properties held for sale

The Group develops and purchases properties held
for sale and properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation. Judgement is made by
management on determining whether a property is
designated as an investment property or a property
held for sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND

ESTIMATES (Continued)

(@) Critical accounting judgements in applying

the Group’s accounting policies (Continued)
Classification between investment properties
and properties held for sale (Continued)
For the developed properties, the Group considers
its intention for holding the properties at the early
development stage of the related properties. During
the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties
under development included in current assets if the
properties are intended for sale after their
completion, whereas, the properties are accounted
for as investment properties under construction if the
properties are intended to be held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

For the purchased properties, the Group considers
its intention for holding the properties at the early
stage when obtained control of the related
properties. The related properties are accounted for
as inventories included in current assets if the
properties are intended for sale, whereas, the
properties are accounted for as investment
properties if the properties are intended to be held
to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty
Note 27 contains information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to fair value of
structured deposits. Other key sources of estimation
uncertainty are as follows:

(i) Inventories

As explained in note 2(m), the Group’s
inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Based on the Group’s
recent experience and the nature of the
subject inventories, the Group makes estimates
of the selling prices, the costs of completion in
cases for properties held for development and
properties under development, and the costs to
be incurred in selling the properties based on
prevailing market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion
or a decrease in net sales value, the net
realisable value will decrease and this may
result in provision for inventories. Such
provision requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, the carrying value
and provision for inventories in the periods in
which such estimate is changed will be
adjusted accordingly.

In addition, given the volatility of the property
market and the unique nature of individual
properties, the actual outcomes in terms of
costs and revenue may be higher or lower
than that estimated at the end of the reporting
period. Any increase or decrease in the
provision would affect profit or loss in future
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI -

AANRESIR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(i)

(iii)

Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”)

As explained in note 8(a)(ii), LAT is levied on
properties developed by the Group for sale, at
progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, which under the
applicable regulations is calculated based on
the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including lease charges
of land use rights, borrowing cost and relevant
property development expenditures. Given the
uncertainties of the calculation basis of land
appreciation tax to be interpreted by the local
tax bureaux and the actual appreciation of land
value may be different from the original
estimates, the actual outcomes may be higher
or lower than that estimated at the end of the
reporting period. Any increase or decrease in
estimates would affect profit or loss in future
years.

Recognition of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses
and other deductible temporary differences
carried forward are recognised and measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets, using
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. In determining the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets, expected
taxable profits are estimated which involves a
number of assumptions relating to the
operating environment of the Group and
require a significant level of judgement
exercised by the directors. Any change in such
assumptions and judgement would affect the
carrying amounts of deferred tax assets to be
recognised and hence the net profit in future
years.

tax rates enacted or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial guarantee issued

The Group estimates impairment loss for
financial guarantee issued by using expected
credit loss models. Expected credit loss on
financial guarantee issued is estimated based
on expected timing of settlement of the loan,
expected additional interests and penalties to
be incurred and the valuation of the assets of
the associate at the reporting date.

Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact
the loss allowance of financial guarantee issued
in the periods in which such estimate has been
changed.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are property

development and sales in Chinese Mainland.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARDHBHE (&

(Continued)
(a) Revenue (Continued) (@) WA#E)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue (i) UAHD

WAEBEMRFEERALD
XHeem cHEREERE
BB N&E TN 2

Revenue mainly represents income from sale of
properties and gross rentals from properties,
net of sales related taxes and discounts

allowed, and is analysed as follows: N
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARETFT
Revenue from contracts with (FBMKEHREEL)E
customers within the 1I5REEANEFS
scope of HKFRS 15 £ A
Sales of properties: MEIEE
— Recognised at a point — PO (E B B RERR
in time 94,374 637,108
Revenue from other H b 3R B WA
sources
Gross rentals from properties WEBSBRE 5,336 4,526
99,710 641,634

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by geographic markets is disclosed
in note 4(b).

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group’s customer base is diversified and does
not have a customer with whom transactions
have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue
(2023: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)
(@) Revenue (Continued)

(il Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from contracts with
customers at the reporting date
The following table includes revenue expected
to be recognised in the future related to
performance obligations that are not satisfied
or partially satisfied as at 31 December 2024

4

A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

WARDEESE (&

(@) WAGE)
(i) FERIFEARKEZFREE A
By & F & A 1 A

TREAAEHERKHEREH
202412331 H K fE 17 3 &
DEITEORTEKA -

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T

Remaining performance FEARAUTHBEETERT

obligations expected BHEME:
to be satisfied:
Within one year —F R

59,788 94,873

These amounts represent revenue expected to
be recognised in the future from sales
contracts for properties entered into by the
customers and the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4

(Continued)

(@) Revenue (Continued)

(iii) Total future minimum lease payments

receivable by the Group

Total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable

WARDEHEE (&

(a)

(b)

WA (&)

(iii) FFE G ERAKRIEHEE N
RIEAAHEEEHENEK
ARZKEHREMHARAT

as follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARETFT
Within one year —F R 3,572 3,702
After 1 year but within 2 years —F#EBMRFER 3,517 4,117
After 2 years but within 3 years MFRE=F R 3,792 4,181
After 3 years but within 4 years Z=F#BINFR 3,421 4,585
After 4 years but within 5 years PIEEZEBARAFR 2,933 4,121
After 5 years AFig 14,635 21,639
31,870 42,345

Operating segment

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
is more focused on the Group as a whole, as all of
the Group’s activities are considered to be primarily
dependent on the performance of property
development. Resources are allocated based on
what is beneficial for the Group in enhancing its
property development activities as a whole rather
than any specific service. Performance assessment
is based on the results of the Group as a whole.
Therefore, management considers there is only one
operating segment under the requirements of
HKFRS 8, Operating segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

(b) Operating segment (Continued)
Geographic information
The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from
external customers and (i) the Group’s property,
plant and equipment, investment properties, other
non-current assets and interests in associates
(“specified non-current assets”). The geographical
location of customers is based on the location at
which the properties were developed or leased out.
The geographical location of the specified non-
current assets is based on the physical location of
the asset, in the case of property, plant and
equipment and investment properties, and the
location of operations, in the case of other non-
current assets and interests in associates.

A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTHAN - LARKESTR)

4 WARDHESE (&)

(b)

Revenue from
external customers

REMPREFHBA

2024
202445
RMB’000
AR TR

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARET T

reEsI(E)

HEEHR

TR EBEHEOAEBRBIRE
FPHWARNAEBDE - BE X
BB REYME EMFERDEE
kriEnaEx((IEEFERBE
EDFREHKER - B
ERERIEEVENMLE - BT
ERBEEMAMEMNEREED
ERUE (WBYE  BEREHER
BEME)REBUE (B EAMIE
MBEERREE A rER

Specified
non-current assets

EEFRBEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T IR

Huizhou =M 89,192 596,101 152,742 267,210
Tianjin X 10,518 45,533 53,502 52,235
Zhumadian HSE - — 84,620 90,848
Others Hi - — - 56

99,710 641,634 290,864 410,349
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MWK KE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

5 OTHER NET INCOME 5 HMWAFEZE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARBETIT

Interest income arises from bank REBIRITFRAF B U A
deposits 7,461 4,783

Interest income arises from loans R EERE RS U A
receivable (note 18(c)) (KF3E18(c)) 3,924 3,914
Net exchange gain/(loss) bE W Wz (B 18) 5 88 841 (75)
Gain from disposal of associates E R R E RS = 11,344
Others Efb 1,833 1,323
14,059 21,289

OTHER EXPENSES 6 HfMfxX

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREETIT
Donations 8 407 1,756
Others Efb 3,279 —
3,686 1,756

Million Cities Holdings Limited B R ER AT

206

Annual Report 2024 ¢« == — [U4FFif



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

7 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 7 BREAEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/ B B ATE A T & B (GEA) T3 & 18
(crediting): BER:
(a) Finance costs (a) BERAE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETTT

Interest on bank loans IRITEEF B (M FF20(c))
(note 20(c)) = 6,357
Interest on lease liabilities HMEBEF B (M FF20(c))
(note 20(c)) 18 6
18 6,363
(b) Staff costs (b) BEIRA

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T

Salaries, wages and e IEKHMBER
other benefits 17,854 28,310
Contributions to defined M) S TE 1 FUR KT 84 5K
contribution retirement plan 365 2,656
Less: Staff costs capitalised into & : E &KL EFEH
inventories B T A (1,316) (6,443)

16,903 24,623
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI -

7

AANRESIR)

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

(b)

Staff costs (Continued)

The domestic companies established in Chinese
Mainland (“Mainland Operating Entities”) participate
in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
(the “Schemes”) organised by the Chinese Mainland
and provincial government authorities,
whereby Mainland Operating Entities are required to
make contribution at the rates required by different
local government authorities. The local government
authorities are responsible for the pension
obligations payable to the retired employees covered
under the Schemes. The contributions are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the Schemes.

municipal

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HKD30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

7 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 7 BRBATEIER(E)
(c) Other items (c) HMIEB

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETTT

Depreciation and amortisation & & 8 2,843 7,220
Auditors’ remuneration 1% S A0 B &
— audit service — BEARTE 2,500 2,200
— non-audit service — EEFIRHB 1,335 600
3,835 2,800
Impairment loss on other H b U R R B E B
receivables 1,341 —
Rentals income from investment K B EWEMNE L KA
properties (2,518) (1,644)
8 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8 HMEBEBRXRAMMEBH
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HmEBEBRABERE:

profit or loss represents:

2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T

Current tax B HA $i 18
Provision for Corporate Income B EFTER ([DEMER])
Tax (“CIT") B 938 75,258
Provision for LAT b 3B TR 10,359 (7,649)
11,297 67,609
Deferred tax ELEB A
Origination and reversal of ERMEEZEENELARED
temporary differences 9,343 13,378
20,640 80,987
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents: (Continued)

8

(a)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

CIT and Hong Kong Profits Tax

The provision for CIT is based on the
estimated taxable income at the rates
applicable to each Chinese Mainland subsidiary
of the Group. The income tax rate applicable
to the principal subsidiaries in Chinese
Mainland is 25% during the year (2023: 25%).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was
recognised for the year (2023: nil) as the
subsidiaries in Hong Kong did not have any
assessable profits for the year.

LAT

LAT is levied on properties developed by the
Group for sale, at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, which under the applicable regulations is
based on the proceeds of sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including lease
charges of land use rights, borrowing costs
and relevant property development
expenditures.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman lIslands and the BVI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8 HMEBBEXRAMMEBH (&)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) HERITHEEREARETEZE
accounting loss at applicable tax rates: FTEBRNEER:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETTT

Loss before taxation b T Al B 18 (122,874) (526,246)
Less: LAT B TR ET (10,359) 7,649
Loss before CIT Br{bSEFTS BRI E B (133,233) (518,597)

Notional tax calculated at

RHRASE R EEA

applicable income tax rate of FIEMEAENEBEMN

the relevant Group entities

concerned (19,240) (76,472)
Tax effect of share of results of  fE{G B & A R EE M

the associates Mg 3,444 10,636
Tax effect of non-deductible AR A 2 9 S e B

expenses 2,831 2,928
Tax effect of unused tax losses FIERNABAHRGEIEZ

not recognised Mg e 12,731 6,926
Tax effect of temporary RAERNERER L

difference not recognised M 10,515 144,618
CIT PEMEH 10,281 88,636
LAT T Hb IR E R 10,359 (7,649)
Income tax expense Frisfimx 20,640 80,987
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MWK KE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI -

9
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AARS|TR)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9 EEMS
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 1B & B 7 & 1) 5383(1) 1% & A 7

383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BZE2024F12A31A L EE

(EEEZMRER) R P F280 48 E P K
BzEEMeMT

Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and other Discretionary scheme Share-based
fee benefits bonuses contributions Sub-total Payment Total
EF WK RREE UK G5
EExHe  HtrFRE ML it Mt EBRHAR #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TR AR%®Trn AR¥Tr AR%Tr AR%Trn AR%Trn
Chairman and IERYTES
executive director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung FTEREE 274 2,190 = 16 2,480 = 2,480
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Lau Ka Keung BRBEE 274 2,190 = 16 2,480 = 2,480
Mr. Li Wa Tat FEELAE 274 1,260 = 16 1,550 = 1,550
Independent non- BUFHTES
executive directors
Mr. Li Yinquan FEREE 274 - - - 274 - 274
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, EHBEAE
Stephen 274 = = = 274 = 274
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung BREELAE 274 = = = 274 = 274
Ms. Wong Wai Ling* TERTT 12 - - - 12 - 12
1,656 5,640 = 48 7,344 = 7,344
*  Appointed with effect from 16 December 2024. “ HR2024F12 16 B EEATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

e %R XK TR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

9 EEME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B ZE2023F12A31A L&
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and other  Discretionary scheme Share-based
fee benefits bonuses  contributions Sub-total Payment Total
B BUHR RIRGTE R A
LS H 72 WL A Nt EREAR @it
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETRT ARETR
Chairman and IERYTES
executive director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung TEREE 270 2,160 1,800 16 4,246 = 4,246
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Lau Ka Keung BRARLE 270 2,160 1,800 16 4,246 - 4,246
Mr. Li Wa Tat FEERE 270 1,242 108 16 1,636 = 1,636
Independent non- BUFHTES
executive directors
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, ERNERE
Stephen 270 — - - 270 - 270
Mr. Li Yinquan FEREE 270 = = = 270 - 270
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung REELAE 270 = = = 270 - 270
1,620 5,562 3,708 48 10,938 = 10,938
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MWK KE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

10 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 10 AV BRSHMA L
Of the five highest paid individuals, three (2023: three) are FfusmHFMALTHE = (2023F | =
directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 9. The )ES HFEMAMFOREE - MM
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other two (2023F | M) AW QW T -

(2023: two) individuals are as follows:

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETTT

Salaries and other emoluments HehEMBE 1,652 2,085
Contributions to retirement benefit iR PRAE B A8 3k
scheme 33 33
1,685 2,118
The emoluments of the two individuals (2023: two) are ML A L (2023F : M) WS BR T
within the following bands: HI| € E -
2024 2023
20244 20234
HKD500,001 — HKD1,000,000 500,001 2
1,000,0007% JT 1 1
HKD1,000,001 — HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 T &
1,500,000/ 7T 1 —
HKD1,500,001 — HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7t &
2,000,0007% 7T = 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

11 LOSSES PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic losses per share

The calculation of basic losses per share is based
on the loss attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company of RMB113,817,000 (2023:
RMB482,278,000) and the weighted average number
of issued ordinary shares of 750,000,000 (2023:
750,000,000) during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Diluted losses per share

Diluted losses per share for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 were the same as the
basic losses per share as the deemed issue of
shares under the Company’s share option scheme
was anti-dilutive for both years.

The average market value of the Company’s shares
for the purpose of calculating the dilutive effect of
share options was based on quoted market prices
for the period during which the options were
outstanding.
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e %R XK TR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTHAN - LARKESTR)

11 BERERE
(a) SREAERE

(b)

H E2024F12A31H It FEEFRE
KNEBTIRE AR A R ES
B B A R ¥113,817,0007T (2023
F: A R #482,278,000T) &
750,000,000f% (20234 :
750,000,0000% ) 2 3 17 I 8 A% hn #&
FHEEHE -

BREBEEE

& 220244 20234128318 146
B ARIBEBEAQ A ERERT S
BRIERHOBTEHMFEHIREERE
SERE WMEREEEEESGRE
REEMER -

AR EBEREETRENARF
B dn 2 S A Jh E R i A %
TTESNIE N TS RE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GEMBHRERMNE#E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Bx= BTSN -

AA R

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a)

Reconciliation of carrying amount

12 ME -BERRKE
(a) BREEYE

Other
properties
leased for
own use Electronic
Lands and  carried at Office Motor  and other
buildings cost equipment vehicles  equipment Total
RE A&
Httg Az ETRHEM
THRETF HEMXE BARE RE R @
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT AR®TE ARWBTE AR®TE ARETE AR®T:R
Cost: RA:
At 1 January 2023 202351 A1H 64,367 1,529 1,868 8,485 11,480 87,729
Additions NE - - - 70 1,832 1,902
Disposals e - (1,019) - (834) (260) (2,113)
Exchange adjustments i 5B - - - 44 4 48
At 31 December 2023 and 202356 12H31H
1 January 2024 K2024F1A18 64,367 510 1,868 7,765 13,056 87,566
Additions NE - 769 - 948 - 1,717
Disposals HE - (510) - (1,087) (3,470) (5,067)
Exchange adjustments XA - - - 68 6 74
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31R 64,367 769 1,868 7,694 9,592 84,290
Accumulated depreciation: 2iHE:
At 1 January 2023 7202351 A1H (19,847) (1,371) (1,293) (6,704) (6,926) (36,141)
Charge for the year FRZH (2,877) (118) (31) (601) (3,593) (7,220)
Written back on disposals HERD - 1,019 - 762 252 2,033
Exchange adjustments XA = = - (70) (4) (74)
At 31 December 2023 and 202356 12A31H
1 January 2024 20241 A1E (22,724) (470) (1,324) (6,613) (10,271) (41,402)
Charge for the year FRFH (2,267) (102) (22) (341) (111) (2,843)
Written back on disposals & & - 470 - 1,012 3,470 4,952
Exchange adjustments L = = - (147) (6) (153)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31H (24,991) (102) (1,346) (6,089) (6,918) (39,446)
Net book value: REFE
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31H 39,376 667 522 1,605 2,674 44,844
At 31 December 2023 2023 12A31R 41,643 40 544 1,152 2,785 46,164
216 Annual Report 2024 ¢ —Z — JU4FF i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Reconciliation of carrying amount (Continued)
As at 31 December 2024, the Group was in the
process of applying the certificates of ownership for
certain properties with the net book value of
RMB22,906,000 (2023: RMB25,254,000). There is no
impairment of property, plant and equipment. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
use of and the conduct of operating activities at the
properties referred to above are not affected by the
fact that the Group has not yet obtained the
relevant property title certificates.

A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

12 X -BERRKRE (E)

(a)

REEHERE)
R2024F12A31H » REE IE £
BHMOMERMBRES  ZEWME
7 BR OF B & A K #22,006,0007T
(20234 : A R %25,254,0007T) °
BMEDNE BERZERE - XD
REERAAEEFA RN LA
?E%%Lﬂ%&g/ﬁbl/xﬁlﬁﬁﬂi

SERMEEEMXIERZE

The analysis of net book value of right-of-use assets (b) FAIYE BEIKE]I ZFEHE
included in “Property, plant and equipment” is as BEMNEREFEIMAT
follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETFT
Ownership interests in leasehold A H B KBERFIEES BiZiTE
land and building held for PARANBR B#A THEEIAT
own use, carried at ZHETHEEFHMA
depreciated cost in RS
Chinese Mainland, with
remaining lease term of:
— 20 years or more — 20 s A & 39,376 41,643
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRm BTN - RARKETIR)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13 REY=x
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) PFREIE¥HE
RMB’000
ARBET T
Valuation: fh{E :
At 1 January 2023 2023F1H1H 86,200
Transfer from completed properties for sale ®EREEFIEFLED T LYW 5,680
Fair value adjustment NEEFHE (37,030)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 720234128318 &
2024%1 A1H 54,850
Transfer from completed properties for sale EHEAFIELEE XTI ME 1,771
Fair value adjustment NFEFE (410)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31H 56,211
Completed properties held for sale of HAZEF  RIELEETIYWE
RMB1,771,000 (2023: RMB5,680,000) were A B #1,771,0007% (20234 : A R
transferred from “inventories and other contract #5,680,0007T) B [TFE R HME 4
costs” to “investment properties” as a result of PRAERENREYE] - HEWE
change of use. The properties were measured at fair RERBIZAFTENZ  EFRE
value at the time of transfer and a revaluation gain A K #1,213,0007T (20234 : I &=
of RMB1,213,000 (2023: gain of RMB4,220,000) had A R #4,220,0007T) KR & Bk

been recognised in the consolidated statement of MR o
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties

(i)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s properties measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

° Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or
measurement date

liabilities at the

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable inputs
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e %R XK TR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

13 REWE(E)
(b) MEZLXFEHFE
(i) RAFEER
TERANR/ARERRE R
REBEEEFEZYVERF
B RE(EBWHHEERD
FIBRAFEAFEZEEZRA
FEINDS=EER ~FE
AEERTD2R TG ERM
FHERBABIBZ TBEEE
CEERES D :

e FEMRNEH-EER
F-EREARE R
R ERRERRBRTS
EEHREBCOCRAR)ZH
REEXBBEFERF
(=l

s F_EANH-EARZF
“EARwARE - AR
WERIMEE —ER
P28 ASBE - M3k
ERATABRZERS
ABEFEQRFET
AR ABEBRYTE
™5 8UIE 2 A BUR

o EZEMTME:ERT

TERZEZH AR
SHEATFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MWK KE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmBRTHIN  AARKETIR)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 13 BREWE(Z
(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZAFEE (&)
(Continued)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) RFEELE)

Fair value measurements as at
Fair value at 31 December 2024 categorised into
31 December R2024F12831B D WA FEFE

2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

M20245

12A31H 1
AFE E—fF IS S
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETRE AR¥Tr AR¥Trx AR¥Tx

Investment properties i ciN
in Chinese Mainland HEME
— Commercial - B 56,211 - - 56,211

Fair value measurements as at

Fair value at 31 December 2023 categorised into
31 December ~ F2023F12A31E A EM R FEH 2
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
20235
12A318 &)
A¥E B F= F=E

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT AREBTIT ARETE

Investment properties in - K F B3 K fE )

Chinese Mainland BEME

— Commercial - B% 54,850 — — 54,850
During the year ended 31 December 2024, B E2024F12A31B L FE -
there were no transfers into or out of Level 3 MEE AELE =R
(2023: nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise (20234 : &) - NEB 2 %K
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy BTE N FER B A E R s 5
as at the end of the reporting period in which B EHRE HETRER -
they occur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RE MW R K E R

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties
(Continued)

()

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group’s investment properties were
revalued at fair value as at 31 December 2024
by Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited,
an independent valuer who has
professional qualification and recent experience
in the location and category of properties being
valued. The same valuation techniques were
used by this valuer when carrying out the
valuation as at 31 December 2023. The
Group’s management have discussion with the
surveyors on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results twice a year for financial
reporting.

relevant

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

Valuation
techniques

il {8 2 i

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

13 REWXR(E)
(b) MEZATFENE(H)

(i)

(ii)

Unobservable
input

AHERGAYE

Investment properties:

BREWE
— Commercial Direct market Adjusted market
— Chinese Mainland comparison price (RMB/
approach square meter)
— B - hEXE BHEETSLEE SHREME
(FFEFHK
AR®)

ARFEERE)

& E 2 & E Y EN20245F
12A31B B\ Ak ed AR mAE
RARI(EEHBEXERA
B in RS R R B R U 3
HEZCHRNBIHEM) IR
AFEHRTE - ZIAEME
172023512 A318 4 & & F
RERKEERN NEBE
BEERASMBFRMBERE
AwmEERERGELSREM

Ska
IN

BEHFEF=FRLFETEHE
%/’\;l

Range
gE

2023
20234

3,900-11,000 4,000-12,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBABEFTAN - AARKFIR)
13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties

(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)
The fair value of investment properties located
in Chinese Mainland is determined using the
direct market comparison approach by
reference to recent sales price of comparable
properties on a price per square meter basis,
adjusted for a premium or a discount specific
to the location, property size and age of the
Group’s properties compared to the recent
sales. The higher adjusted market price will
result in a higher fair value measurement.

(c) The analysis of net book value of right-of-use assets
included in “Investment properties” is as follows:

13 REYXR(E)
(b) MEZAFENE(Z)
(i) BEE=FHAFEIEHHE

(c)

Ownership interests in leasehold RHBEIKEZAFEARA
investment property carried at BRTIHEBAN T HERE
fair value in Chinese MERARERER

Mainland, with remaining
lease term of:

#(E)

R FBEAENRENERF
BNEREEMSLBESE
AT B LB E ML EER
(BEBFPHAKERFTE)EE -
I EH T HHEER AR EY
EOMUE - MEXNDREBERE
LB B RITRBE - £
EmEMS AFEE®

=
=1

AAATREMR | 2 EREEENK
HFESIFTOT

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETTT

— 50 years or more — 50 s A E 8,790 9,590
— between 10 and 50 years — 10Z50%F 7 & 47,421 45,260
56,211 54,850

(d) The Group leases out investment properties under
operating leases. The leases typically run for an
initial period of 1 to 10 years, with an option to
renew the lease upon expiry of the initial term.
Lease payments are usually increased every year to
reflect market rentals. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.
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(d)

AEERBELLEHOLAEAREY
% HO—RNFPRB—Z=+%-

BERVSHEHPERREE - R

5\59% mZHE K BOMFEE
REEN - ERAVEEXEES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RE MW R K E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)
14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14 RRBARINRE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARETIT

Unlisted shares, at cost JEEMBEGD - WA 63,478 23,718
Capital loans to subsidiaries (note () # FTHEBARIMNEELER
(B 3EG)) 585,421 607,870
648,899 631,588
()  The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have () HHAEER RERUTEETERE
no fixed terms of repayment, and are expected to RER - FBEAR —F &Y E -

be recovered after one year.

The following tables list out the information relating to TRINEEBEEERNEZEREZ ([
Huizhou Million Cities Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ERESDCAEBHRBARTEAMNME
(“Huizhou Million Cities”) and Million Cities Jianji Real WEMWERZEBR AT (EMNEN] &
Estate (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“Million Cities Tianjin Jianji’), the EHBEEBEE(RB)AERAA(TERX
subsidiaries of the Group which have material non- BEREENDZER - UTEN 2HBEER
controlling interests (“NCI”). The summarised financial MEREMNRAAIMEHEAI 225 -

information presented below represents the amounts
before any inter-company elimination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZEETHR  AAREIITR)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14 RMBABRINEKRE (&)
(Continued)

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T T

Huizhou Million Cities EME R
NCI percentage EERERZADL 45.5% 45.5%
Current assets mBEE 628,187 676,904
Non-current assets EmBEE 28,254 28,632
Current liabilities mEAE (181,235) (213,575)
Net assets BEFR 475,206 491,961
Revenue N 36,439 558,233
Loss for the year FAEE (16,755) (89,880)
Total comprehensive income FHR B (16,755) (89,880)
Reconciliation to the carrying FERESZRTEYR

amount of NCI
Gross amounts of net assets FEERTE 475,206 491,961
Elimination of the unrealised profit B PHE B R & 3R 55 7

upon consolidation (4,148) (4,519)

471,058 487,442

NClI’s effective interest JFIERE S AT B S 45.5% 45.5%
Carrying amount of NCI R ERREE 214,331 221,786
Reconciliation to the loss FERESELNEBRYER

attributable to NCI
Gross amounts of loss EriE R (16,755) (89,880)
NCI’s effective interest FERERFIGERESR 45.5% 45.5%
Loss allocated to NCI DEREEIFTRER 2 EE (7,624) (40,895)
Cash (outflow)/inflow from rEEFHRE ORE),/ A

operating activities (16,200) 82,488
Cash outflow from investing activities & & E IR &K H (100,254) —
Cash inflow/(outflow) from financing BEFHRSRACRLE)

activities 38,270 (74,254)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RE MW R K E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBERTHANN - AARE|TR)
14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14 RMBARINKRE (&)
(Continued)

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T T

Million Cities Tianjin Jianji BERREREER
NCI percentage FERERZZED L 45% 45%
Current assets MENE E 443,553 494,168
Non-current assets FEMEEE 53,502 52,235
Current liabilities mEAaE (719,918) (711,469)
Non-current liabilities FERBAEE (2,344) (1,893)
Net liabilities BEFHE (225,207) (166,959)
Revenue A 10,518 47,152
Loss for the year FREE (47,003) (213,768)
Other comprehensive income E b 2wl (11,245) (7,456)
Total comprehensive income EHEW B RE (58,248) (221,224)
Reconciliation to the carrying FERESREEYRE

amount of NCI
Gross amounts of net liabilities FREMARE (225,207) (166,959)
NClI's effective interest R EEATEER 45% 45%
Carrying amount of NCI FEERE S REAE (101,343) (75,132)
Reconciliation to the loss FEREREGMERYER

attributable to NCI
Gross amounts of loss EriE4a 58 (47,003) (213,768)
NC/I’s effective interest FERERFIGERESR 45% 45%
Loss allocated to NCI DEEIFTERER 2 EE (21,151) (96,196)
Cash (outflow)/inflow from operating &4 E#|RE OR ), KA

activities (3,905) 18,275
Cash inflow from investing activities KEFEHRES WA 38 943
Cash outflow from financing activites &t & /&R & 7 - (20,607)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MWK KE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRm BTN - RARKETIR)

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 15 REE QTN ER
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T
Share of net assets BB EFE 74,307 96,581
Capital loans to associates (note) Mg RIREESER
(B 5E) 115,502 115,021
189,809 211,602
Note: The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed Misk: BEALHEERE 2BBEETER
terms of repayment, and are expected to be recovered B EHIGR —FRigE -
after one year.
The following list contains the particulars of all associates, TRIWNEARFE LT ARERELES

all of which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted BHmECFEBREARNER

market price is not available:

Proportion of
ownership interest
held by the Group’s

Principal activity

IEEHED

subsidiary
HASEREAAREN
BERESLA
Place of Particulars of issued
Form of business incorporation and
Name of associate structure and business paid-up capital 2024 2023
BRTR
BENFER EBEBEA A LRSS HRRARE 2024 20235
Gold Concept Development Limited “Gold Concept” Incorporated BVI usD100 30% 30%
Gold Concept Development Limited [ Gold Concept | AL EEERARES 100% 7T 30% 30%
Asia Image (H.K.) Limited “Asia Image™! Incorporated Hong Kong HKD1 30% 30%
Asia Image (H.K.) Limited [ Asia Image |*' B gAvs Bk 1T 30% 30%
Henan Julongju Real Estate Co., Ltd. Incorporated Chinese Mainland HKD20,000,000 30% 30%
“Henan Julongju™
EREREEARAR(DTEERED Bl hEARE 20,000,000% 7 30% 30%
Henan Julongwan Property Management Co., Ltd." Incorporated Chinese Mainland RMB20,000 30% 30%
AHREENEERERAT K hEARE AR #20,0007 30% 30%

Investment holding

REZR

Investment holding

RERKR

Property development

NEHR

Property management

NEHR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RE MW R K E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEETHIN - AARKTR)
15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 REEERTINER(EF)

Proportion of
ownership interest
held by the Group’s

subsidiary
HASRENEARAREEN
EERESLA
Place of Particulars of issued
Form of business incorporation and
Name of associate structure and business paid-up capital 2024 2023 Principal activity
BRI
BENRER EBRRABEA AR YR AEE HRRARE 2024% 20235 FEEHED
Huizhou Logan Junhong Real Estate Limited Incorporate Chinese Mainland RMB529,409,070 30% 30% Property development
(‘Logan Junhong”)
BENTEAREENERRAR (EARE)" Bl hEAR AR #529,400,0707 30% 30% MEERE
Well Kong Investments Limited Incorporated BVI usD2 50% 50% Investment holding
(“Well Kong Investment”)
BEREBRAR(BERE) EalijZava RERBERES 2% 50% 50% REZER
Well Kong (H.K.) Limited*? Incorporated Hong Kong HKD10,000 50% 50% Investment holding
BEER)ARLA" Eaiif A ik 10,0007 7T 50% 50% RERK
Huizhou Well Kong Real Estate Co., Ltd.*? Incorporated Chinese Mainland RMB88,000,000 50% 50% Property development
BMERBERRAA™ EalijZava FEAE A #88,000,00070 50% 50% MEER
Huizhou Dewanxin Information Consumng Co., LTD Incorporated Chinese Mainland - 50% 50% Management advisory
BMTEBEEEEAARA Ealizava FEAE - 50% 50% EEHN
Huizhou Yayuntong Information Consu\ting Co. LTD Incorporated Chinese Mainland - 30% 30% Management advisory
BMTRZEGEFAARD Ealizava FEAE - 30% 30% EEHN

*1 These companies, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Gold & %% A =l AGold Concept® & # & °
Concept.

*2  These companies are wholly-owned by Well Kong *2 ZELNRHEBBRERERES -
Investment.

# These entities are Chinese Mainland limited liability # ZEERARTEAEAREMERA
companies. The English translation of the companies’ AIEXNEREM2E FAXEBARE 7‘7‘%
names are for reference only. The official names of these 15 o
companies are in Chinese.

All associates are accounted for using the equity method FrEEE AR NERERNES M BRE

in the consolidated financial statements. ABR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB EETHIN - LAARESIR)
15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 REE ARINER (,,,\)
Management considers that Gold Concept together with E 12 [E R AGold ConceptiE 7 H i /&
its subsidiaries (“Gold Concept Group”), Logan Junhong, 7] ([ Gold Concept& B ) « e X 8 & )32
and Well Kong Investment together with its subsidiaries EEREERANBAR(ESBER])
(“Well Kong Group”) have significant impact to the BARMEAREBRNTBERRARKREESE
financial position and performance of the Group BEATE-
individually.
The summarised consolidated financial information on Gold Concept e B ERME (5
Gold Concept Group, adjusted for any differences in SEAREMME ﬂ%ﬁ?ﬁ AR ERF
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying E REMBHERMERAESR) S22 0
amounts in the consolidated financial statements for the ™
year is as follows:
Gold Concept Group
Gold Conceptf €
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T
Gross amounts of associates BENT 2B
Current assets mB)EE 798,117 918,204
Non-current assets EMBEE 106 92
Current liabilities TEE & (894,623) (991,622)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (6,540) (7,250)
Equity 2 (102,940) (80,576)
Included in the above assets and FEERBERE:
liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents and RekReEEYMEHIT
pledged and restricted deposits %R HI1E 46,636 60,972
Revenue A 107,608 210,175
Loss for the year FABHE (20,377) (136,511)
Other comprehensive income H b2 Uz (1,987) (1,299)
Total comprehensive income EHWEBRE (22,364) (137,804)
Reconciled to the Group’s HAEERBEENAN
interest in associates XY
Gross amounts of net liabilities of BEANRNFAEBERSE
associates (102,940) (80,576)
Group’s effective interest AEEMEER E= 30% 30%
Group’s share of net liabilities of REEFEMBEARAERE
associates )= (30,882) (24,173)
Capital loans to associates-non- HTHELANESER
current portion (note) — JERMB AR (M E) 115,502 115,021
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEBERERNEDE
interest 84,620 90,848
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RE MW R K E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 REBEARINER (&)
The summarised consolidated financial information on BABREEUNBERBE (BREFTEER
Logan Junhong, adjusted for any differences in B (] &= 2 AR I N F E %R
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying FOEREEEHR HI AT
amounts in the financial statements for the year is as
follows:

Logan Junhong
EXERER
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T

Gross amounts of associates BENT BT
Current assets mEEE 514,075 610,415
Non-current assets EmMBEE 7,668 13,654
Current liabilities mEEE (168,073) (217,777)
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE (966) (1,067)
Equity 1% 352,704 405,225
Included in the above assets and A EENBERRE

liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents and HekReFEYMDIEA

pledged and restricted deposits &l RER 6,998 24,020
Revenue WA 50,212 671,471
Loss for the year FANEE (47,610) (141,811)
Total comprehensive income FHREERE (47,610) (141,811)
Reconciled to the Group’s HAEERBEZEQXATN

interest in associates EZYER
Gross amounts of net assets of BENRFEERSE

associates 352,704 405,225
Elimination of the unrealised profit B BB bR R IR % 7

upon consolidation (2,232) (2,844)

350,472 402,381

Group’s effective interest AEBR(RERER 30% 30%
Group’s share of net assets of AEEEREBELNREE

associates F R 105,142 120,714
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEERERNEDE

interest 105,142 120,714
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRm BTN - RARKETIR)
15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The summarised consolidated financial information on Well
Kong Group, adjusted for any differences in accounting
policies, and reconciled to the carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements for the year is as
follows:

15 RBE QT NER(F)
BEEEGAMBANEE R BE
MEMEREHAEY BREEESH
BRROEEEHE RIWT -

Well Kong Group

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T T
Gross amounts of associates BENRZBE
Current assets M EE 615,979 804,347
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,919 14,060
Current liabilities meaE (846,193) (968,000)
Equity EE (228,295) (149,593)
Included in the above assets and tEENEBERE
liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents and He kReEFEYMD AT
pledged and restricted deposits N 2R 17 3 1,243 3,225
Revenue WA 5,620 40,782
Loss for the year FAEE (76,735) (357,310)
Other comprehensive income H b2 = (1,967) (1,283)
Total comprehensive income 2 H W E B (78,702) (358,593)
Reconciled to the Group’s HAEERBEEQATNESR
interest in associates HER
Gross amounts of Well Kong Group’s HEE&EBEREEEE
net liabilities (228,295) (149,593)
Elimination of the unrealised profit B PHE bR R IR % 7
upon consolidation (6,591) (6,658)
(234,886) (156,251)
Group’s effective interest AEBEMEERER 50% 50%
Group’s share of Well Kong Group’s Af£EBS(EREBEEFEE
net liabilities (117,443) (78,126)
Financial guarantee to the associate & T B & R 7 &) B 75 12 1R 6,713 -
Capital loans to associates-non- BTHERNRNESER
current portion (note) — FEREBE S (FFFE) 88,639 60,018
Carrying amount in the consolidated 434 B IR &X A K 8RB
financial statements (22,091) (18,108)
Represented: 5 -
Provision — potential obligation to BiE - HBEARNER
the associates ey 22,091 18,108
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Note: The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed
terms of repayment, and are expected to be recovered
after one year.

Aggregate information of associates that are not
individually material is as follows:

15

e %R XK TR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREA TN ARSI
REtEARINER (&Z)
Misr: FAREAKREERR 2EEEETEN
H - BRI RN —F Rl -

BRI FTE I T ERAEZ R AHE R E
BT

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETF T
Aggregate carrying amount of ERIFTEI FERNEE R
individually immaterial associates in AR E M BHREMNEREE
the consolidated financial BR
statements 47 40
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s REBEEZSHENFM
share of those associates’ net FMEesE
profit 47 40
OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 16 HEMERBEE

On 5 May 2022, the Group, Mr. Wong Ting Chung, the
chairman and executive director of the Company and a
third party (the “Borrower”) entered into a loan agreement,
pursuant to which, the Group grants a loan of
RMB96,500,000 to the Borrower for a term of 3 years
with an interest rate of 4% per annum, and Mr. Wong
Ting Chung provides a personal guarantee to the
Borrower in favour of the Group. The Borrower shall
repay the whole principal amount together with all
accrued interest due and payable to the Group on 4 May
2025, or repay part of the principal amount together with
all accrued interest due throughout the term of the loan
by instalments, or on demand by the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
accrued interest income of RMB3,924,000 (2023:
RMB3,914,000) in respect of the loan.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding principal
amount with all accrued interest of RMB100,424,000 has
been reclassified as a current asset included in “Loans to
third parties” (note 18).
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R2022F5R850 A& B - AR R EE
RN TEETEBREAERE=ZF (B
FNAINERGZ Bt XEBME
RARBRBE=F FHNERRBIBRHAR
#96,500,0007T 2 B 3% + M £ EE B 5T 4 W)
BRAFRBEATEBE AZ = AN EAE
1R o &7 BRN2025F5 048 AIAEE
BEE2BASRIBERGEAEBNME
EETFIB XD HEERSAERERK
HEMBERHAE IR AEEE KK

BiE -

H E20245F12A31B IEFE - REE K
EZEXNESFBEWRAAEAREK
3,924,0007T (20234 : A K #3,914,000
JT) °

2024F12A31H - XA EEAXE KT E
& 51 7 8 A K #100,424,0007T E E 1 5
BAFAIRE=ZFERI(HE18) WK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MWK KE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRm BTN - RARKETIR)

17 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT
COSTS

17 EERHEMBEHIRAK

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFT

Inventories 78
Properties held for development HIEEERME 73,845 57,833
Completed properties for sale FEERTYHE 492,524 602,471
566,369 660,304

As at 31 December 2024, certain completed properties
with carrying amount of RMB5,765,000 were pledged due
to litigation disputes and sales of which are therefore
restricted.

(a) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised

H £2024512831H LD BT E
RAEAFLRERMEBRHHE KA
%8 A A R #5,765,0007T °

(a) HERRBRAXAFABZNTFESHE

as an expense and included in profit or loss is as ST
follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETF T
Carrying amount of inventories B &7FEHNEBE
sold 74,780 331,066
Write-down of inventories T &MU 42,059 475,069
116,839 806,135

As at 31 December 2024, the amount of inventories
expected to be recovered after more than one year
is RMB551,754,000 (2023: RMB594,187,000). All of
the other inventories are expected to be recovered
within one year.
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551,754,0007C (20234 : A R #
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT
COSTS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

The analysis of carrying value of land held for property
development for sale is as follows:

e %R KMKE®

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(b)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

17 FEREMENRE(E)

BEGTEYERR T HWHNEEREE
DT ¢

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R AR T T
In Chinese Mainland, with A EKRE - A :
remaining lease term of:
— 50 years or more — 50F gk M E
(long leases) (REFFA) 59,974 57,377
— between 10 and 50 years — 102=50%F 7 @
(medium-term leases) (R ERFE4Y) 65,414 67,700
125,388 125,077
Other contract costs (c) EMEHRAK

Other contract costs capitalised as at 31 December
2024 relate to the incremental sales commissions
paid to property agents whose selling activities
resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties
which are still under development as at 31
December 2024.

Other contract costs are recognised as part of
“selling expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the period in which revenue from the
related property sales is recognised. Other contract
costs of RMB3,587,000 were recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB33,819,000).

There were no capitalised contract costs that are

expected to be recovered after more than one year
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).
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20246 12A318 iAW ERE
IAMGEHERSBEME LK
RER(L BRAMERENHEEE
FFRF ALK E2024F12/31H
MERENMETLEEWZ -

HMAHRARBEREABMEHEE
W BRNGAIBERERABIHE
ERZIN—8D - EEHKAA
R #3,587,0007T 1A & £2024F12 A
31H L F [E #) 18 %5 7 3R (20234
A R #33,819,0007T) °

MR2024F12 8318 - #f £ 78 87 X 8
B—FRWEKE RS L KE
(20234 : #E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MWK KE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRm BTN - RARKETIR)

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18 E5 K H B FKIE

2024 2023
20244F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR FIT
Trade debtors, net of loss allowance  FEURBR X (N4 18 < B )
(note (a)) (FF 5% (a) )
Gross rentals from properties VB S B 330 314
Amounts due from associates JiE A B R A FR I8
(note (b)) GEISY 18,000 18,000
Amounts due from non-controlling JE W FE 28 P HE % SRIE
interests (note (b)) (KF3ED)) 24,570 64,411
Loans to third parties (note (c)) mME=FERFIFC) 139,424 —
Other debtors, net of loss allowance — H & Yg Tk 18 (F1 % 18 5k
B1HE) 44,547 48,236
Financial assets measured BEMBKATENEREE
at amortised cost 226,871 130,961
Deposits e 284 869
Prepayments (note (d)) T8+ 5k 38 (B 3% (d) ) 13,098 18,265
240,253 150,095

PrEE 5 K H AR
WERERRER -

REHAR —FR

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

As at 31 December 2024, the ageing analysis of
trade debtors, based on the date the trade debtors
recognised, net of allowance for doubtful debts, is as
follows:

e %R XK TR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

18 E5

(a)

(2 BA TS - SAA RMEFIR)
REMEWEIEE)
R2024F12831H » fE W BR (B2

FOBR R AR % ) 2 10 B LKUBR  RE R
B REDTAOT

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Within 1 month 11 A 17 —
1 to 3 months 1231 A 1 1
3 to 6 months 3£61E A 1 2
Over 6 months 6fE A A 311 311
330 314

The Group’s credit policy is set out in note 27(a).

As at 31 December 2024, no trade debtors were
past due (2023: nil). Based on experience,
management believes that no loss allowance is
necessary in respect of the trade debtors as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality.
The Group is of the view that the expected
irrecoverable trade debtors were insignificant. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

The amounts due from associates and non-controlling
interests were interest-free, unsecured and
recovered within one year.

As at 31 December 2024, the balance included loans
to third parties together with the accrued interests
of RMB100,424,000 (note 16) and RMB39,000,000,
respectively. On 24 December 2024, Huizhou Million
Cities entered into a loan agreement with a third
party to grant a loan of RMB39,000,000 to such
third party for a term of one year with an interest
rate of 3.5% per annum.
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(b)

(c)

AEBEEBRRSNHE27() °

H E2024F 128318 » W EEWER
R HA (20234F : ) - ER KB -
EEERSBANEEEZRLESFA
W WHERBERERTIRBAL
BiE - ASBRATEEEKEE
WEERH K RIE - NEE W&
ZEEBFEEAERR -

FE U B & R A MR AR i s SRR
RES  BEFRAER—FAKE -

2024128318 * £ B 1E M F
=HFEREREAFNEDRAAR
#100,424,0007T (ff 5E16) Rk A R ¥
39,000,0007T ° 7202412 248 -
BMNEREE=FTLERHE
MZE=AFELAH—F FHX
3.5% - & % A A R %#39,000,0007T

M E R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MWK KE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRm BTN - RARKETIR)

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18 ESRHMEKRKIE(E)

(Continued)

(d) As at 31 December 2024, the balance mainly (d) M2024F12A31H ElEEHRTE
included prepayments for VAT and surcharges with PEEETR LW MENENRIES
an aggregated amount of RMB12,461,000 (2023: # A ARM12,461,0007T (20234 :
RMB17,364,000). A R #17,364,0007T) °

19 PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS 19 BEEFRZREHER

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETTT

Pledged for mortgage arrangements  Fi#1 % B RIL 1B L HEER T

of the property buyers (note (a)) (Kt 7E(a)) 7,639 13,320
Others (note (b)) H Ao (B 5 (b)) 5,011 3,321
12,650 16,641
Notes: B 7
(@)  The balance represents cash deposits placed in banks to () HEHHREFHRRBRTHRESES EAR
secure the banks’ mortgage loans granted to property MEBERMFRITEBERNERR -
buyers. Such deposits will be released after the property ZERC RN EBYMENEEME#EF
ownership certificates of the relevant properties are G T IRITIRARBR o
pledged to the banks.
(b) As at 3 December 2024, deposits of RMB5,011,000 (b) R2024F12A3H * A B ¥5,011,0007C
(31 December 2023: RMB3,321,000) were restricted from By 42 & B 3 72 A 4 T 4% PR il 58 R (2023
use due to litigation disputes. F12H318 : AR #3,321,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20 RERKREEEY
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise of: (a) RekReFZEVWRLE:

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETTT

Cash at bank and on hand LTI ESEGTENRITR

denominated in: FHERE

— RMB — AR 214,340 291,125

— HKD — BT 54,090 72,158

— USD — Xt 16 11

268,446 363,294

As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash H E2024F12A31H » (L A H B K
equivalents situated in Chinese Mainland amounted ENREERREFEMARARKE
to RMB213,831,000 (2023: RMB291,119,000). 213,831,0007T (20234 : A R ®
Remittance of funds out of Chinese Mainland is 291,119,0007T) ° B # B K B= [E 3
subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign tH 35 78 18 <7 40 B SN B ) AR Al K AE
exchange control. Bl o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZEETHR  AAREIITR)
20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20 BEeRBEEEY (2
(Continued)

BRRAEEREEMBFREMNERK

(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash (b)

generated from operation:

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥ T ARBT T
Loss before taxation b B A B 1B (122,874) (526,246)
Adjustments for: (EGhEEEE- S
Write-down of inventories T & #UR 17(a) 42,059 475,069
Depreciation and PreE R
amortisation 7(c) 2,843 7,220
Net loss/(gain) on disposals H&E Y - HE L& #
of property, plant and mEE () F 8
equipment 76 (200)
Finance costs B & B A 7(a) 18 6,363
Interest income M B WA 5 (11,385) (8,697)
Net valuation loss on KEMERNGEERE
investment properties HRE 13(a) 410 37,030
Share of profits less losses — J&1f B & X &]3& F &
of associates [} 64,946 258,965
Changes in fair value of TR TAERAFEEZS
financial instruments = (27,944)
Net unrealised exchange BIE N (W),
(gain)/loss Eri8F R (841) 74
Changes in working EEESEH
capital:
Decrease in inventories and 7&K H L& LKA
other contract costs A 50,105 314,536
Decrease in trade and B 5 & H b E W RIE
other receivables VR 7,451 26,125
Decrease in pledged and B K2R #1177 5K
restricted deposits Ve 3,991 50,073
(Decrease)/increase in BHBEEEM CRd)
contract liabilities (29,623) 11,855
Decrease in trade and other & 5 K H b JE [ 7 18
payables Ve (21,972) (172,493)
Increase in provision TEiR B 1 0 15 3,983 18,108
Cash (used in)/generated KE (A /MiEE e
from operations (10,813) 469,838
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20 RERBREEEY (&

(Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) METHFAMELAGNWHIER
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRFIIASERETBMELS
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash BzEy BRERAELRIFHESE
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from PoRETHELENEBEARER
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows EXRRRERENAE  WHKIE
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the AREBEFRDHAFREREFTALE
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as Emismeliengske

cash flows from financing activities.

Bank loans Amounts due
and interest to related Lease
payables parties liabilities Total
BRETER ENBEBEL
A2 RIE HEAE &t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB®TRE AR%®Tz AR%®Trz AR%Tx
(note 30(c)) (note 23)

(Bt &E30(c) ) (B 3£23)

At 1 January 2024 202451818 - 364,878 28 364,906

Changes from financing MEHSRELS !

cash flows:
Capital element of lease rentals =t & & A &5

paid - = (112) (112)
Advances from related parties B 5 3% = = - -
Repayment to related parties R B3 E 5 B - (517) - (517)
Interest element of lease ERNHEENEHS

rentals paid = - (18) (18)

Total changes from financing BERE&RELEAH
g

cash flows = (517) (130) (647)
Exchange adjustments ERAE - 2,906 - 2,906
Other changes: Hitn 2% :

Interest on lease liabilities RITE XM B (M

(note 7(a)) 7(a)) = = 18 18
Increase in lease liabilities from MAFEFTVHAEMF

entering into new leases HEAGEM

during this year = = 769 769
Total other changes Hih &8 a5 = = 787 787
At 31 December 2024 2024128310 = 367,267 685 367,952
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BrBAEETRIN » AARKET|R)
20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20 BERBREEEY (&)
(Continued)

(c) MEETBRMELAEENHIR(E)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities (Continued)

Bank loans  Amounts due
and interest to related Lease
payables parties liabilities Total
ERBTER EO@EHS
&S, A HEARE s
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARET:R
(note 30(c)) (note 23)
(B £30(c)) (Pt 5£23)
At 1 January 2023 12023F181H 158,400 426,007 210 584,617
Changes from financing MEHRSRELD !
cash flows:
Repayment of bank loans BRRTER (158,400) - - (158,400)
Capital element of lease rentals 2t & & A5
paid - - (134) (134)
Advances from related parties &b 5 24 3 - 64,835 - 64,835
Repayment to related parties  [RIBEEE 77 I8 3¢ - (101,384) - (101,384)
Interest paid on bank loans BRRITERFE (6,357) - - (6,357)
Interest element of lease ENEeF S
rentals paid - - 6) )
Total changes from financing BER & REEHEHE
cash flows (164,757) (36,549) (140) (201,446)
Exchange adjustments fE 5 A - 3,364 (48) 3,316
Other changes: Hitn 28 :
Interest on bank loans RITERFE
(note 7(a)) (P 5E7(a)) 6,357 - - 6,357
Change in fair value of financial €@ T AAFEEE
instruments - (27,944) - (27,944)
Interest on lease liabilities MEEEFE
(note 7(a)) (BT3E7(0)) - - 6 6
Total other changes Hin& s @eE 6,357 (27,944) 6 (21,581)
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12A31H - 364,878 28 364,906
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20
(Continued)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for
leases comprise the following:

A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B RBETHSN - AAREIIR)
RERREEEY (&

(d HEZRESRHAHE
REEHARERERZEEERRE
MR

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETTT

Within operating cash flows FFAKRER e RE 669 732
Within financing cash flows AFABRERESRE 112 134
781 866
21 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 21 GHEE

The following table provides information about contract
liabilities from contracts with customers:

TRIFEBEFAEDEENER

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T

Contract liabilities — Receipts BHEBE — WEHEE
in advance from property sales T8 B

48,539 78,161

Contract liabilities represented payments received from
customers on sale of properties. Contract liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss when the related properties
are delivered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MWK KE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZEETHR  AAREIITR)

21 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 21 EHNEEE
Movements in contract liabilities EHNEEESR

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETTT

Balance at 1 January M1A1H &5 78,161 66,307
Decrease in contract liabilities ERBERF AR AFH]

as a result of recognising revenue EHEBENSEERAI

during the year that was included AT

in the contract liabilities at the

beginning of the year (31,182) (43,000)
Increase in contract liabilities BHBERFHNMNI2H31

as a result of receipts in advance B3R R R AR ) 2

from property sales during the year 5 5 7B U SR i 3 a0

in respect of properties with

revenue recognition not being met

as at 31 December 1,560 54,860

Balance at 31 December M12A31H /Y & &4 48,539 78,161
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22 EFRHMENKE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETF T
Trade creditors (note (a)) FE A BR 3 (M 5% (a)) 63,103 74,423
Other payables and accruals HMENE IE&J'EEJr 2 H 47,718 59,794
Amounts due to related parties J& 1< 8 Bt 75 3k 38 (FfY 5% (o) )
(note (b)) 318,965 312,984
Financial liabilities measured at NESKATENSREE
amortised cost 429,786 447,201
Financial guarantee issued (note (c)) O % 8 EER
(M5 (c)) 15,728 4,096
Amounts due to the controlling JE 1 AR 3R B FE 2= R #E %5 1B
shareholder and non-controlling (B 5E(d))
interests (note (d)) 48,302 48,302
493,816 499,599
(a) Ageing analysis of trade creditors included in trade (a) H2024F12A31BREHRESE
and other payables as at 31 December 2024, based NHRBEHBZENERGIAES
on the date of the trade payables recognised: N B Ath P& 1 5RIR) M BR R D AT ¢
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR ARET T
Within 3 months 3ME A A 65 1,737
3 to 6 months 3ZE61E A 68 1,606
6 to 12 months 62 121d A 2 2,724
Over 12 months 1218 A A £ 62,968 68,356
63,103 74,423
Al trade and other payables are expected to be FEES RAMENREEHER
settled within one year or are repayable on demand. —FREERILKFENR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Bx= BTSN -

AA R

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

The amounts due to related parties are interest-free,
unsecured and repayable on demand.

On 17 March 2021, Huizhou Logan Junhong Real
Estate Limited (“Logan Junhong”), an associate of
the Group, entered into a loan agreement (“Loan
Agreement”) with total bank facility amounted to
RMB420,000,000 which was 100% guaranteed by
Logan Group Company Limited (“Logan Group”). On
10 May 2021, the Group and Logan Group, entered
into a counter-guarantee agreement (“Counter-
guarantee”) pursuant to which the Group has
agreed, subject to the terms and conditions
contained therein to provide a counter-guarantee to
Logan Group with regard to the Loan Agreement in
proportion to the Group’s respective equity interest
in Logan Junhong (80%). As at 31 December 2024,
the total bank loan secured by the Counter-
guarantee attributable to the Group was
RMB15,600,000 (2023: RMB29,100,000). Deferred
income in respect of the financial guarantees issued
was RMB2,301,000 (31 2023:
RMB4,096,000).

December

On 18 May 2024, the Group, Huizhou Well Kong
Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Well Kong PRC”), the
associate of the Group, and Shenzhen Logan
Holdings Company Limited (“Logan Shenzhen”, the
other shareholder of the associate) entered into a
guarantee agreement in relation to the existing loan
consisting of an outstanding amount together with
the accrued interest till 30 June 2025 of
approximately RMB13,427,000 owing from Well
Kong PRC to Logan Shenzhen (the “Existing Loan”).
To secure the repayment of the Existing Loan, the
Group undertakes to provide a guarantee to Logan
Shenzhen in favour of Well Kong PRC to secure the
repayment of the amount due to Longan Shenzhen.
As at 31 December 2024, provision of
RMB13,427,000 (31 December 2023: nil) has been
made for this guarantee.
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22

ESREMEMNREE)

(b)

FEfNREEE T RIARR S - EIEM R

EREFEE

20215F3H17TH - AEE M E & 2
AEMNMELREZEHERERA
AEABERDITLRITHE L
% A& A R ¥420,000,0007T 8 & &
mE(ERMZE])  ZEEXA
EXEBERAA(EXER]
2 £ R R2021F5H108 -
AEEHEXEEZRERD
BZ(IRERD B - A"&EEMA
BR R & P E AR R R AR IR
7N & B P i BE Ot BR R A AR R Lt A
(30%) Bt B 2 17 5% M) BE Ot S B 1R it
R & 1R - B £2024F12H31H -
RERTHEBAEBEMNRITER
% A A R 15,600,000t (2023
F: A R #29,100,0007T) ° & 2
M BERNEERARBARKE
2,301,0007T (2023F12A31H : A
R #4,096,0007T) °

2024658188 » NEE - KEE
ML AR BMNEEEEARAA
(TEBPEDEFRITELERE
AR (TEEXRYI]  BERRNS
—RER)FTUERBZE AAE@E
BEBRELEREXFINRES
X IE & A & 2202596 8308 B fE
2T F B 4 A R #13,427,0007T B9 IR
EER(BEER]  -BERES
BEER  AEBEAEME R
RENEBPE AT SZANER
AEREERMAEXRIIAKRIE -
2024128318 » Bz R 1E
H A R #13,427,0007T (2023512 8
318 : E|)EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

(Continued)

(d)  Pursuant to the Capital Injection Agreement between
Huizhou Yuefu Real Estate Co., Ltd and its
shareholders signed on 25 June 2018 (the
“Agreement”), an amount representing the sum of
the retained profits as at 31 May 2018, and the
estimated unrealised gain arising from the unsold
inventories as at 31 May 2018, should be
distributed to the original shareholders in
accordance with share proportion before the capital
injection. The balance is recognised at fair value.
The balance is unsecured and expected to be
settled upon disposal of the relevant inventories.

23 LEASE LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the lease liabilities were
repayable as follows:

e %R XK TR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B RBETHSN - AAREIIR)
EZREMEMNKEE)

) BEEMNIEEFHEARARIER
A% R 201868250 & 5] M) )x &
& ((ZzEl) - ©BHEER2018
F5HA31H 2R 8B& | k2018F5A4
JBREEFE 2Bt REHR W
ZHEFIBBIRRBIEE AT
BIDIETRIRE - BAIE QAT ERE
ReoEHrABEEKE BHRBEERT

SEhEREH -

23 HEESEE

R2024F12A31H - HEA B AU T

Ry A (8 5% -

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR FT

Within 1 year 1R 135 28
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F B H2FE R 550 -
685 28

24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

On 29 March 2019, 23,700,000 share options were
granted for nil consideration to the directors and certain
employees of the Group under the Company’s employee
share option scheme. The share options have a term of
10 years commencing from 29 March 2019, or until the
early termination of the share options in accordance with
the share option scheme. Each option gives the holder
the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the
Company. These share options will vest in 3 equal
tranches in three years, and become exercisable until 28
March 2029. The exercise price is HKD1.362, being the
weighted average closing price of the Company’s ordinary
shares for five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant.
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24 UESERIROABERNRS

201993 A29H - 23,700,00017 B L # 1R
BRAREEBEREAENSTRERT
EERAEEEE - ZEERETR
20193 A29H B10F R1TE ' KEER
BERESESIRIKILEERE - §HE
BREAHBEARE—RAQAT LA
B-ZEBBREBR=FAD —HEH
SRB - B E202943H28B I AT 1T1F © 17
FEAR1.3626 T NEERHBSMA
BEERARAI LT AR Z NEFH KT
{go
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBAEFTHIN - LARKEDIR)

24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 24 DUHEGEEURDAERNRRS
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (%)
(a) The major terms and conditions of the share options (a) BERENEZEZERARBEHEHEDOT

are as follows:

Number of
instruments  Vesting conditions Exercise period
TARE BEHH 78
Options granted to directors:
0] B 5 4% 0 B AR A
— on 29 March 2019 5,000,000 1 year from the date of grant 29 March 2020 to
28 March 2029
— 201953A29AH R BHBE—F 2020%3A29H &
202943 H28H
— on 29 March 2019 5,000,000 2 years from the date of grant 29 March 2021 to
28 March 2029
— 2019%3H29H REOABERE 2021563A29H &=
202943 A28H
— on 29 March 2019 5,000,000 3 years from the date of grant 29 March 2022 to
28 March 2029
— 201953H29H REHBHRE=F 2022%3A29R &
202953 H28H
Options granted to employees:
fa) & B 4% ) B AR A
— on 29 March 2019 2,900,000 1 year from the date of grant 29 March 2020 to
28 March 2029
— 201953A29AH RHBAHE—F 2020%3A29H &
202943 H28H
— on 29 March 2019 2,900,000 2 years from the date of grant 29 March 2021 to
28 March 2029
— 2019%3H29H REABEREF 2021563A29H &=
202943 A28H
— on 29 March 2019 2,900,000 3 years from the date of grant 29 March 2022 to
28 March 2029
— 201953H29H REHBHRE=F 2022%3A29R &
202953 H28H
Total share options granted 23,700,000
REMBREAH
Million Cities Holdings Limited B RER A 246 Annual Report 2024 ¢ — = — JU4E 4



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RE MW R K E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 24 UEBEEURORERNRS
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (%)
(b) Movement of share options during the year ended 31 (b) EH ZE2024F12A31BILFE - BR
December 2024 are as follows: EEHOT :
Weighted
average Number of
exercise price options
IEFIGTEE BREHE
000
T

Outstanding at 1 January 2023 72023%F1 A1H k20244

and 31 December 2023 12A31H M KRTTE HKD1.3627% 7T 14,700
Lapsed during the year FRKK 1.362%8 7T (600)
Exercisable at 31 December 2024512 A31B A 1T HKD1.362/% 7T

2024 1.3627% JT 14,100

No options were exercised during the year ended 31 H E2024F12A31H It FE W 1T
December 2024 (2023: nil). 56 1 o] B8 A% # (2023%F : &) -

The options outstanding as at 31 December 2024 2024F12A31H -+ i AR 1T1F B AR #2
had an exercise price of HKD1.362 and a weighted BI1T B B1.36278 7T » hnAE F 19 T
average remaining contractual life of 4 years (2023: BRE #)F Hl R4 (20234 : 64F)
5 years).

No share-based payment expenses was recognised H E2024F12A31H IE FE W E 1
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: BRI X 15 52 (20235 : &) »

nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MWK KE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmBRTHIN  AARKETIR)

25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents:

25 REEUBMRRRNAEDR

(a) RESHBMRRAEMHIRE :

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T

CIT payable B EMEH 51,872 60,604
LAT payable JE A~ £ 3 18 (B FY 119,101 162,823
170,973 223,427

Prepaid tax in the consolidated statement of

financial position represents:

REEMHBRRROEANHE

-

2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREET T

Prepaid CIT RN EMER 10,039 9,638
Prepaid LAT 8 1+ + b 1B (B F 1,766 2,310
11,805 11,948
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
(i) Movement of each component of deferred
tax assets/(liabilities)
The components of deferred tax assets/
(liabilities) recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:

ll‘li\

R E N AE Y

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

25 REEMBRRARNAER (&

(b) B

(i)

Temporary Revaluation

REEREEERERE

BEHALE (A EEA
582 B
ERRES M BRREND i’
RELHELE (B N
MEHREBBMT :

Unused tax difference on
losses on revenue investment Unrealised Accrual
(note) recognition properties profits for LAT Total
AEA
BEFE WARIN ERE AREHR Bt
() EREE L/ D BEH @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETr ARBTT ARETT ARETRT AR%ETR
Deferred tax arising BEHERR
from:
At 1 January 2023 A2023F1 A1H 1,925 (4,614) (15,723) 38,938 49,439 69,965
(Charged)/credited to () /FABE
profit or loss (note 8(a)) (GEE)) (1,925) 4,584 9,257 (7,703) (17,591) (13,378)
At 31 December 2023 72023412318 - (30) (6466) 31,235 31,848 56,587
At 1 January 2024 A2024F1 418 = (30) (6,466) 31,235 31,848 56,587
(Charged)/credited to (k) /Gt ABR
profit or loss (note 8(a)) (P 58(a)) - (130) 103 (180) (9,136) (9,343)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12 318 - (160) (6,363) 31,055 22,712 47,244
Note: The unused tax loss can be carried forward to s RBEABESEILEE
offset against taxable profits of subsequent N EZERIEBBE
years for up to five years from the year in ENFERHRZ AT

which they arose. These tax losses will expire
between 2025 to 2029.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MWK KE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRm BTN - RARKETIR)

25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

25 REGEMBRRARNAES (&)

(Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERAELEBHEEERERE:
(Continued) &)
(i) Movement of each component of deferred () EBEHEEE () F4A4
tax assets/(liabilities) (Continued) BB E(E)
Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of RE BRI KRB :

(ii)

financial position:

2024 2023
20244F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREET T

Representing: K& :
Deferred tax assets BEHIBEE 50,795 59,769
Deferred tax liabilities EXERIEBAE (3,551) (3,182)
47,244 56,587

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy
set out in note 2(t), the Group has not
recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of RMB97,925,000 (2023:
RMB46,116,000) and deferred tax assets in
respect of write-down of inventories and other
temporary differences of RMB640,941,000
(2023: RMB619,468,000) as it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in
the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The
tax losses do not expire under current tax
legislation.
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1B HR T E2(t) BT 8 & 5T B
AEEWEG ZFHIBEEA
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MEMEREBHRARE
640,941,0007T (20234 : A R
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BEE RHAREHEBREA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 25 REESHBERRERWABE (&
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: ERAELEHBEEEREE:
(Continued) ()
(iii) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (iii) KRB ELFIEE E
As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax 20245128318 - BEAR
liabilities in respect of the dividend withholding a)FfT 8 2 7 7] it 5 R g FI 89 AR
tax relating to the distributable profits of the BTEHMAEERIER B R
Company’s subsidiaries were not recognised TR - ARARRRES %
as the Company controls the dividend policy of ZWBRRNREBUR - BIE
the subsidiaries. Based on the assessment T 1B B R2024F12H318 &
made by management as at 31 December HE RS - AR RIKB A E A
2024, it was determined that the distributable SRR MNEERTERA]
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries would R RmEEKEIMNERRAF]
not be distributed to the Hong Kong and DR o AN BB A B A AT it
overseas holding companies in the foreseeable DEkENESEHIN AT
future. The amounts of distributable profits of
the Company’s subsidiaries are set out below:
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBET T
Distributable profits earned A1 B X [z fff /& & &) 742008
by Chinese Mainland FIA1B R 2 BRI A
subsidiaries on or H 5K 5
after 1 January 2008 305,730 383,405
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GEMBHRERMNE#E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRm BTN - RARKETIR)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a)

Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated

statement of changes

in equity. Details of the

changes in the Company’s individual components of
equity between the beginning and the end of the

year are set out below:

26 EX - -REEERKRE

(a) EBARII 2BE
REE iR A RS & HERE D B B
NHIREHR AN HRE NGRS #E
DEHR -FNEFHEAZIHAR
AERIEREK DN E B F B
FIgnR

Share Share Share option  Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserves reserves losses Total
B A& ROEE BRERE ERGE R ER h
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARET:R
Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023F1 1A W& & 6,605 660,653 7,164 9,162 (40,816) 642,768
Changes in equity for 2023 020FHEZEET
Loss for the year FREAR - - - - (2,322) (2,322)
Other comprehensive income Hitz Bk - - - 9,270 - 9,270
Total comprehensive income 2EREESE - - - 9,270 (2,322) 6,048
Balance at 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31A &
and 1 January 2024 2024F1A1AMES 6,605 660,653 7,164 18,432 (43,138) 649,716
Changes in equity for 2024 04FHEZET
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (4,985) (4,985)
Other comprehensive income Htt2mba - - - 14,196 - 14,196
Total comprehensive income 2EREEE = - - 14,196 (4,985) 9,211
Balance at 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31 A & 8 6,605 660,653 7,164 32,628 (48,123) 658,927
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RE MW R K E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 26 EX- - RERRE (&)
(Continued)
(b) Share capital (b) B
Authorised share capital of the Company: AKRAREERA :
No. of shares Amount in
R4 &E -}
HKD
BT
Ordinary shares of BFRRO01E T
HKDO0.01 each B
As at 31 December 2023, R2023F12H31H -
1 January 2024 and 20241 A1H &
31 December 2024 202412 A31H 1,400,000,000 14,000,000
Preference shares of HFhR0.01B T2
HKDO0.01 each B
As at 31 December 2023, H2023F 128318 -
1 January 2024 and 2024F1A1H &
31 December 2024 2024912 A31H 600,000,000 6,000,000
The share capital as at 31 December 2023 and 20234 N2024F12 A318 Z R A K
2024, represented the share capital of the RARRZ|/A -
Company.
No. of shares Amount in Amount in
% & B Kok ¢
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: HKD RMB
ERTRBEEER: BT ARBTT
As at 1 January 2023, M2023F1A1A8 -
31 December 2023, 2023F12A318 -
1 January 2024 and 2024F1H18 &
31 December 2024 202412 A31H 750,000,000 7,500,000 6,605,250
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Bx= BTSN -

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves

(c)

Million Cities Holdings Limited B R ER AT

(i)

(i)

(iii)

AANREITR)

Statutory reserves

According to the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”) Company Law, the Company’s
Chinese Mainland subsidiaries are required to
transfer 10% of their profit after taxation, as
determined under the PRC accounting
regulations, to statutory surplus reserve until
the reserve balance reaches 50% of the
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distribution of a dividend
to shareholders.

Statutory surplus reserve can be used to
reduce previous years’ losses, if any, and may
be converted into paid-in capital in proportion
to the existing equity interest of investors.

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the Company’s share
premium account are distributable to the
shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall
due in the course of business.

Exchange reserves

The exchange reserves comprise all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of Hong
Kong and foreign operations to RMB. The
reserves are dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(w).
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26 EXR--HERRKRE (&)

(c)

REEERE®

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv) Share option reserve
Capital reserve comprises the portion of the
grant date fair value of unexercised share
options granted to employees of the Company
that has been recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in note 2(s)(iii).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For
this purpose, adjusted net debt is defined as
interest-bearing loans and borrowings and less cash
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity and the amounts due to
related parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRm BTN - RARKETIR)
26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 26 EX-REERRE (&)

(Continued)
(d) Capital management (Continued) (d EXEE(Z)
The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 KEBER2024F12A31 B K AR
December 2024 was as follows: FEEEARLXIHNAT -
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B % AR® T ARETFT
Cash and cash equivalents ¥4 RIS EEY 20(a) 268,446 363,294
Total equity 1R 701,527 849,895
Add: Amounts due to hn o FEA R 5 5RIE
related parties 318,965 312,984
Adjusted capital BHREEAR 1,020,492 1,162,879
Adjusted net debt-to- RARFEBEELR LR N/A N/A
capital ratio THE A 1 E A
(e) Dividends e BE
No dividends have been declared or paid by the B E2024F12A31B IEEE AR
Company and its subsidiaries during the year ended A R H KB A R EE K kR (A%
31 December 2024. The Board resolved not to E-BEEEgREFTEBRNEZR
recommend a final dividend for the year ended 31 2024F12A31B IEFE Z RHKE
December 2024 (2023: nil). (20234 1 &) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a)

(b)

—ZT U FIR « Annual Report 2024

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk
is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risks
arising from cash and cash equivalents and
structured deposits are limited because these
financial assets held by the Group are mainly
deposited in financial institutions such as
commercial banks which maintain sound reputation
and financial situation, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

The Group’s trade debtors are immaterial. The
Group does not expose to material credit risks on
trade debtors.

In respect of other debtors and amounts due from
related parties, the Group has assessed that the
expected credit loss are not significant under the 12
months expected losses method. Thus no bad debt
provision was recognised during the year.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the
Group as set out in note 29, the Group does not
provide any other guarantees which would expose
the Group to credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and long terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MWK KE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Bx= BTSN -

AANREITR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Million Cities Holdings Limited B R ER AT

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on current rates at the end of
the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

For bank loans subject to repayment on demand
clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole
discretion, the maturity analysis shows the cash
outflow based on expected repayment dates with
reference to the schedule of repayments set out in
the banking facilities letter and, separately, the
impact to the timing of the cash outflow if the
lenders were to invoke unconditional rights to call the
loans with immediate effect.

27 SMABEERSMIAATHE

(&

(b)

B R B (AF)
TRAFBEPRAEEEHAE
MRS NBEAE - DERBSLOR
BRASRE(BEEZREHONX
AENNMENK EREHMNE
AIRERERARNBITHNERGTE)
MAEENRFEERAFTHE -

HRIBITAZEBBEZRERENIR
TER JHOMBTR2ERITRE
BHATEE KRG EIENFAHEER
HIMIR R R {8 SRATT R & 5 A
A 225K S7 BAE R IR & O B
MR E -

Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or on less than
amount cash flow demand 2 years
BRAMRRE —-FRARER —FHULERM
BHE ¢RELH EkEE EUR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12831H
Trade and other payables B REMEMNKE
(exclude the financial (TREER)
guarantee) 478,177 478,177 478,177 =
Financial guarantee issued: BE AT EER
Maximum amount guaranteed BREREHE
(note 22(c)) (i 3E22(c)) 15,728 30,640 29,963 677
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(b)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 27 cRIEKREEREMIAATE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (%)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) FREMER (&)
Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or on less than
amount cash flow demand 2 years
BHNRUE —FRNER —FNE
EEE ReREgs ZXEE ERENUR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT AR®Tr ARBTt ARETn
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12A31H
Trade and other payables B R EMERTKE
(exclude the financial (FBEER)
guarantee) 495,503 495,503 495,503 =
Financial guarantee issued: EEHNFBER
Maximum amount guaranteed BEREREHE
(note 22(c)) (K #E22(c)) 4,096 29,487 29,487 =
Interest rate risk (c) F=EE B

(c)

(d)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R KMKE®

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group does not hold
any interest bearing bank loans. The Group does not
expose to significant interest rate risks.

Currency risk

(d)

The Group is not exposed to significant foreign
currency risk since financial assets and liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries are

not significant.

—ZT U FIR « Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZEETHR  AAREIITR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Fair values

(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair

value
Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

- Level 1 Fair value measured using only
valuations: Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

- Level 2 Fair value measured using Level 2
valuations: inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not
available

- Level 3 Fair value measured using
valuations:  significant unobservable inputs
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Fair values (Continued)

()

Financial instruments measured at fair

value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continueq)

A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BATHI - AAREIR)
27 cRIEREEREMIAATE
(&

() DFEE)
() BAFEHFAEHZHETA (Z)

N FEERGE)

Fair value measurements as at

Fair value at 31 December 2024 categorised into
31 December R20245F12A1A D BN A FER B
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
20244
12A318 1
AYE F-ER FER EZBH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR¥BT T AR¥BT T AR¥BT T
Recurring fair value REMEATESE
measurement
Financial liabilities: THAR
Derivative financial TESBTA:
instruments:
Amounts due to the JER R R R 3k
shareholder and 7T 1 2 TR
non-controlling interests 48,302 = = 48,302
Fair value measurements as at
Fair value at 31 December 2023 categorised into
% Freeamoe 2023512 A31B D BN A FE:H B
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
120234
12A31E 1
AFE  E-ER E-ER E=ER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
Recurring fair value REMENTLETE
measurement
Financial liabilities: tRER:
Derivative financial TEeBEIT AR
instruments:
Amounts due to the EAERERRIFE
shareholder and TR S TR
non-controlling interests 48,302 - - 48,302
The forward contract was fully settled during H ZE2024F12A318 L FE -

the year ended 31 December 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MWK KE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRm BTN - RARKETIR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 27 cEEREERSMITENFE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (&
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(e) Fair values (Continued) (e) 2AFEE)
(i) Information about Level 3 fair value (il BEAE=ERLFEITEHNE
measurements #

At 31 December

M12H31H
Valuation Significant unobservable
techniques inputs 2023
1t 1B # i TUABEEEZHAHE 20234
Amounts due to the Market method  Market value (RMB/sg.m.) 639~6,286 639~6,286
controlling
shareholder and non-
controlling interests
ERERRRERIFER mTHE mE(ARE/FEHK)
1% BUR
The fair value of the amounts due to JE 1~ AR BR K2 FE 458 AR #E 2 SR IR /Y
shareholder and non-controlling interests is AEEHEAMSEEEBEE - M&E
determined using the market method. The 2AFEFTHAEEFTET
market method to assess the market value of BERMSEEDN2ZEAALERY
the unsold inventories as set out in note 22(d) E¥NTMEGESFE L RKERET
is determined by reference to market value of B)FEAAHAAGMEEEE
comparative comparable properties on a price EeRFEEAMEBEZABHA -

per square meters basis using market data
which is publicly available. The fair value is
negatively corelated to the market value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Fair values (Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value

measurements (Continued)

The movement during the period in the balance
of Level 3 fair value measurements is as

follows:

A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREA TN ARSI
27 cRIEREEREMIAATE
(%)
(e) AFEE)
(i) BEAE=ERLFEITEHNE

# ()
HNE=EAATESESE
MEHIT -

28 COMMITMENTS

follows:

Contracted for:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETT
Amounts due to the JE ST ¥ IR IR PR % FE 4% R
controlling shareholder 1 2= BUIR
and non-controlling
interests
At 1 January 1H1H 48,302 76,246
Fair value changes during the F A A FEZH)
year = (27,944)
At 31 December 12H31H 48,302 48,302
28 EiE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2024 R B TS R 5k R 892024 E12 A31 8 1#
not provided for in the financial statements were as RARXMERALENT :
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARET T
HESE
Construction and development BERERAGH
2,909 4,508

contracts

Commitments mainly related to development costs for the

Group’s properties under development.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Bx= BTSN -

29

30

Million Cities Holdings Limited B R ER AT

AANREITR)

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
issued guarantees to banks to secure the mortgage
arrangements of certain property buyers. The outstanding
guarantees to the banks, amounting to RMB338,456,000
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB373,788,000), will be
terminated upon the completion of transferring the legal
title of the properties to the property buyers. The
directors consider loss arising from these guarantees as a
result of default payment by customers to be insignificant,
as the banks have the rights to sell the property and
recover the outstanding loan balance from sales
proceeds. The Group has not recognised any deferred
income in respect of these guarantees as their fair values
are considered to be insignificant.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party information disclosed
elsewhere, the Group entered into the following material
related party transactions.

(@) Transactions with key management personnel
Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group is as follows:

29

30

ZAREE

B E2024F12A31HIEFE - AEER
AETERERBERBEEYWHEMRITIRME
P& R o 2024 12H318 * K T & R 17
&R B A R #338,456,0007T (20234 :
AR ¥373,788,0007T) © B RBEERE LY
XETERBEBETERRRE-EFR
A AEETERERBAREMER
BABLX RERRITERLEME -
NHEFMSBREREREEERGE R -
AEBHMARZEERBERTMELTER
AN BAERBEAFEITEK-

EXEBLTRS
BREMEMMBEE BB T ERIN K
SEFTLATERBH IS -

() HXEEEEBAENXS
AEBETEEERBASNHMOT :

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T

Salaries, wages and other Fe ITEREMBET
benefits 7,284 10,890

Retirement scheme RRET B 5

contributions 48 48
7,332 10,938
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 30 EXFEBAXRE (&
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) EHEEBEINRS

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET R ARBTT

Accommodation services EEXERERS
received
— an entity controlled by the — R A AR AR 5RO A
controlling shareholder B
of the Company 717 482
Purchase of goods WEEm
— an entity controlled by the — ARQE] AR AR R A
controlling shareholder i
of the Company 20 50
These related party transactions constitute ZEBRHARSBIHE EMARE
connected transactions or continuing connected VUAEREKBEI I I FEBRER
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing SR BHRZEXZBR LM
Rules. However these transactions are exempt from FAFE4ATENIER EN T E RIE
the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the REKFENRG  RERRET L
Listing Rules as they fall into the definition of de MRAFEAAZEN R TR TE ©

minimis transactions under Listing Rule 14A.76(1).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MWK KE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRm BTN - RARKETIR)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 30 EXBBAIRS (2)

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Balances with related parties (c) EERAEES VA ER
Balances with related parties as at 31 December 2024412 A31 B B B8 B 5 1Y 45 &%
2024 are detailed as follows: EXIpORNE
Amounts due from related parties recorded in other 50 8% P H ) FE U 5K 1B R A B & A A
receivables and interests in associates: 2 FE T B JE IR B B 5 BIR
Non-trade in nature HEGME

2024 2023
20244F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR T T

Amounts due from associates JFE Ui Bt & N B 5RO0R
(note (i) (B 5% G) ) 222,141 193,039
Less: loss allowance included B AEEE D B R Y
in interest in associates BAEE (122,505) (84,191)
99,636 108,848
Amounts due from JE L I 28 P #E 25 SRIE

non-controlling interests 24,570 64,411

124,206 173,259
() At 31 December 2024, amounts due from () #EZ2024512A318 - fEUHE
associates included capital loan (before ENRRBRERTHE AR
allowance) granted to the associates amounting ZCECEREEN AR
to RMB204,141,000 (31 December 2023: 204,141,0007T (2023%F12 A
RMB175,039,000). 318 : A R #175,039,000

JL) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

—ZT U FIR « Annual Report 2024

Balances with related parties (Continued)

A MR RKE &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BB - A REFR)
30 EXRFEBARE (&)

(c) EREAEETT MAER(E)

Non-trade in nature (Continued) HEZMHE(E)
Amounts due to related parties recorded in other 0 8RB M FE 5 SR IE B9 JE ST B B
payables: FRIE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T T
Amounts due to non-controlling & {~f 342 f% # 25 71 18
interests 341,586 337,554
Amounts due to controlling J& 1< 122 1
shareholder 25,649 27,209
Amounts due to entities JE A 25 B 4% A% AR R P
controlled by controlling HRE IR
shareholder of the Company 32 115
Amounts due to an associate JE - Bt 2 R - 4,950
367,267 369,828

Guarantee issued to related parties

As at 31 December 2024, the Group issued a
financial guarantee in connection with a counter-
guarantee arrangement with a related party of the
other shareholder of Logan Junhong to secure a
banking facility of Logan Junhong, and a financial
guarantee to Well Kong PRC to secure the
repayment of the amount together with the accrued
interest till 30 June 2025 therefrom due to the other
shareholder of Well Kong PRC. Details of the

guarantees issued are set out in note 22(c).

267
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R2024%12 8318 » A% B 5t 82 5
KBRE—REO— BB I
B RIERTHEIREE B FSELR - LAYE
REXBEHRTRE  WMES
PERETBER UERARS
FEANS —REREEEBREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZEETHR  AAREIITR)
30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(e) Guarantee issued to the Group from a related
party
As at 31 December 2024, the Group, Mr. Wong Ting
Chung, the chairman and executive director of the
Company provided personal guarantee to secure the
loan borrowed from the Group to a third party. The
details are disclosed in note 16.

Guarantee issued to the Group from related party
constitutes connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. However this transaction is
exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules for the following reasons: (i)
such guarantee is on normal commercial terms or
better, and (ii) no security over the Group’s assets is
granted in respect of such guarantee under Rule
14A.90.

(f) Leasing arrangement

30 EXRFEBAXRE (&
() BHABMAEEEM/NER

2024F12A31H - A& B - AR
AEFERATESTREREERR
EBERTFTE=FIRBEEAER-
EX A IR

BT AAKERENERBELD
HRABUAEERER S REE
BER S - AT B8 B8 R
WIEH B8 X R E EIRFR R
Ko (i) 48 B8 H& IR 75 & S 14A.901K AT 48
WEAREBOEEFEER - MZ
RHEHRET LR E4AE
MR B E

(H HEZRH

Lease liabilities due to a related
party:

— Related interest expense

— Amounts owed by the Group

BiE:

— HENERX
— KNEBRN R

-2 TNEE

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBTIT
18 4

685 116

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group entered into one lease agreement with a
related party for use of property. The amounts of
rent payable (excluding taxes) by the Group under
the lease ranging from RMB12,762 to RMB15,513
per month, which were determined with reference to
market price.
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B E2024F12A31B L FE - A&
EHEABR AL DYERE DR
ZoBEBEZEERZE ~X5ESA
EEXRHES(TFTEH)NTARYE
12,7627t & A R #155137L - &
DEMGEKREBET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RE MW R K E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

31 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 31 A EEMBRRR
FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 At

December 31 December

2024 2023

R2024F 20234

12H31H 12H31H

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 AR TR AR T T

Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RWERARIMEKE 14 648,899 631,588
648,899 631,588
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments AN 215 246
Cash and cash equivalents HBehkReEED 10,016 17,951
10,231 18,197
Current liability REBEE
Other payables H th FE - 3B 203 69
203 69
Net current assets RBEEFE 10,028 18,128
NET ASSETS EEFE 658,927 649,716
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR B
Share capital &% 7= 26(b) 6,605 6,605
Reserves B 652,322 643,111
TOTAL EQUITY EEBE 658,927 649,716
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of EE 22 MN2025%3H31H #it/F &5 # T
directors on 31 March 2025. %o
Wong Ting Chung Lau Ka Keung
TER 2 X
Director Director
o EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR &)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB ERTHAN - AARET|R)

32 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 32 FEMBEAF
The particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 H E2024%F12A318 T ZH B AW
December 2024 are set out below: FIFAEH T

Proportion of ownership

interest
BEEERLLH
Date and place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and  Held by the Held by
Company name establishment paid-in capital Company a subsidiary  Principal activity
BETR N ol P
AAER Bt AR )E k) BRRFFHE 58 BE TEED
Huizhou Yuefu Real Estate Co., Ltd. 29 April 2006 RMB38,000,000 4.99% 90.4%  Property development
Chinese Mainland
BEMmHEEREFRAAN 2006F4A298 A R%38,000,0007T 4.99% 04% MEEE
H B A BE
Huizhou China Field Real Estate 8 April 2003 HKD 68,000,000 - 100%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. Chinese Mainland
BEMEEEHMEREBRAA 200344 A8H 68,000,000/ 7T - 100% WEER
H B A BE
Huizhou Cheer Happy Real Estate 6 April 2006 USD 12,000,000 - 100%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. Chinese Mainland
BEMGEBEMERZEBRAA 200654 A6H 12,000,000% 7T - 100% WEER
H B A BE
Huizhou Million Cities Real Estate 10 May 2001 RMB52,500,000 5% 49.5%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. Chinese Mainland
BEMTEREHEREFRAAN 2001958108 AR #¥52,500,0007C 5% 495% MEER
H B A BE

Million Cities Jianji Real Estate (Tianjin) Co.,
Ltd.
EREEEX(RR)ERAA"

Guangdong Hongtuo Construction Co.,
Ltd.
ERLAEXBRA AN

Huizhou Weihuisheng Real Estate Co., Ltd.

BNEEREXBERAA

Million Cities Holdings Limited B R ER AT

18 August 2010
Chinese Mainland
201048H18H

H B A BE

21 September 2018

Chinese Mainland
2018F9AH21H
lEipN

10 August 2020
Chinese Mainland
202048 A10H

H B A BE

USD 70,000,000

70,000,000% 7T

RMB40,080,000

A K %40,080,0007T

RMB240,000,000

A R #240,000,0007T

270

55%  Property development

55% WEEE

50%  Construction services

50% RERS

100%  Property development

100% MEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RE MW R K E R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - UKARKEFITR)

32 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 32 FEMBAT (&)
Proportion of ownership
interest
FEEERLA
Date and place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and  Held by the Held by
Company name establishment paid-in capital Company a subsidiary  Principal activity
BETR b NG| WEAR
AAER AL BL S B A R it B BREREFHE 2] ¥E TEED
Huizhou Chuangweihuifu Real Estate Co., 4 April 2020 RMB300,000,000 - 80%  Property development
Ltd. Chinese Mainland
BMEIBEZEXARAA" 20204 R48 A K#300,000,0007C = 80% MEER
B A BE
* These entities are Chinese Mainland limited liability * ZEBRRTEAEERAEMEA
companies. The English translation of the company names AIENEZREHRLE AXEAEE 75%

is for reference only. The official names of the companies 75 o
are in Chinese.

33 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE 33 EERERERA
CONTROLLING PARTY
As at 31 December 2024, the directors consider the 2024F12H31H " EERAASEEE
immediate parent of the Group to be Fortune Speed AR AR EBHBR RSk 2
Investments Limited which was incorporated in the BVI KA EBR AR NEBMHZKRER
and the ultimate controlling party of the Group to be FRAERE - WAKLEBFR AR
Happy Family Trust. Fortune Speed Investments Limited EER T HEARER 2B EREK -
does not produce financial statements available for public
use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e BB K E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZEETHR  AAREIITR)

34 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2024
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended

B ZE2024F12A31H L EECHE
1B R ERIEET ~ F5] E A
FRENURETE

34

BEMBHRRTNEAL FESHMA
SEBEMEZ BT HEERTER - BE

standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2024 and which have not been adopted in
these financial statements. These developments include

F2024F12A31B L FE W AR LR TR
BERMBEBRRER ZFHREBA®E
RS EERA AT EIE -

the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTEHH2EBBEN
BB ER

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 1 January 2025
— Lack of exchangeability

(BBEEDFE2RNER]  EXEHHZE — RS AN 20251 A1H

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments: disclosures — Amendments to the classification and
measurement of financial instruments

(BEABUMBHRELENDFIRNES M4 TARERBM B RELER BT
SHMTA #E — HEHTANSHRTEIEET

1 January 2026

20261 A1H

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

(BAEMBHRELERDSHEANNFESE — F115

1 January 2026
20261 H1H

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements

(BEMBHRELER)F8K - HHFHEK 925 RHKF

1 January 2027
20271 H1H

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures
(BAMBRERDFIOR  HFLARZZEANE LA FE

1 January 2027
20271 H1H

AREBEAEFNFEERAERZEEINE
HEE ZHARL  EwWSRRAREE
AITNKAREHRAVBRRELEEAY
@ o

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LU

RESULTS E 4+
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20245 20234F 20224 20214 20204 20194

GIUGHOOS  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
INCLEPH A RE T ARE®TT ARBTT AR®TRL AR®TR

Revenue WA 99,710 641,634 571,183 1,348,501 1,241,360 354,284
Cost of sales HERAR (116,839) (806,135) (296,093) (1,035,122 (690,122) (221,286)
Gross (loss)/profit E(BR) 7B 17,129 (164,501) 275,090 313,379 551,238 132,998
(Losses)/Profit before BRBia (BR)

taxation gl (122,874) (526,246) 237,055 289,562 471,026 58,836
Income tax AT (20,640) (80,987) (122,615) (102,280) (239,163) (41,168)

(Losses)/Profit attributable AATEERR
to equity shareholders of PE1h (B 18),/

the Company B A (143,514) (482,278) 69,178 166,381 112,746 17,954
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
M12H31R
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20245 20234F 20224 20214 20204F 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
INSL B ARET T ARETT ARETET ARETET ARETR

Non-current assets FRBEE 341,659 470,118 764,947 598,878 565,826 267,605
Current assets RBEE 1,099,523 1,202,282 1,989,471 2,440,101 2,832,113 3,597,996
Total assets HWEE 1,441,182 1,672,400 2,754,418 3,038,979 3,397,939 3,865,601
Total equity R 701,527 849,895 1,460,039 1,361,254 1,168,667 924,883
Non-current liabilities *kREBEE 4,101 3,182 11,501 7,372 4,465 104,630
Current liabilities REBEaE 735,554 819,323 1,282,878 1,670,353 2,224,807 2,836,088
Total liabilities BEHAE 739,655 822,505 1,294,379 1,677,725 2,229,272 2,940,718
Total equity and liabilities EEREaEAE 1,441,182 1,672,400 2,754,418 3,038,979 3,397,939 3,865,601
Net current assets REBEEFE 363,969 382,959 706,593 769,748 607,306 761,908
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GLOSSARY

="
A 5
“AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company
[RERBFARE ] BREBERE
“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board
[BtEEE] EESETHNEITZES
“Board” the board of Directors
[E=g] EFg
“CG Code” the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
[EZE &R ETRBIMESECIFrEH B EE ST REEE S RENTAEX
“Chairman” the chairman of the Board
e EEEEF
“Cheer Happy” Cheer Happy (H.K.) Limited
M5 R BRE(EE)BRAA
“Company” or “the Million Cities Holdings Limited
Company”
[R2A7A]] BIERAER AR
“Director(s)” the director(s) of the Company
[E%] RARARESE
“Executive Committee” the executive committee of the Board
[MITEEE] EEZgHWTEEY
“FY2023” the year ended 31 December 2023
[ 202381 B F & | B ZE2023F12A31H L FE
“FY2024” the year ended 31 December 2024
[20248f B F [ | B E2024F12A31A L FE
“GDP” Gross domestic product
[ b & B 4R 1E i EEBE
“GFA” gross floor area
[ 52 S5 TH 75 BEEE
“Gold Concept Group” Gold Concept Development Limited together with its subsidiaries
[ Gold Concept% 4 | Gold Concept Development Limited:& [7] £ ff & A &)

“Group” or “the Group” the Company and its subsidiaries
[REE ] Apal REKB A A
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“HK$”
%7t

“Hong Kong”
(&% ]

“Huizhou Cheer Happy”
(B 15 R

“Huizhou China Field”
[ R E]

“Huizhou Jiahong”
E-VIE-TN

“Huizhou Million Cities”
R

“Join Kong”

2%

“Listing”
[ ]

“Listing Date”

[ £ B 8

“Listing Rules”
[ Er R Al

“Main Board”

[EWR]
“Model Code”
[1% %<7 Al |

“Nameson”

[F 5

“Nameson Group”

[FanEsE |
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GLOSSARY (CONTINUED)
K (&)

Hong Kong Dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BEREEEBET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
P EE B RITRR

Huizhou Cheer Happy Real Estate Development Company Limited*
BMNEEREMERZEGR A A

Huizhou China Field Real Estate Development Company Limited*
FMNEEFMERZEERA A

Huizhou Jiahong Information Consulting Company Limited
BIMNFELEREAERAD A

Huizhou Million Cities Real Estates Development Limited
BENTEREMERZEGR QA

Join Kong (H.K.) Limited
2B (BB) BRAF

listing of the shares of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
RRRRDRBEZPAER BT

20 December 2018, the date on which the shares of the Company were listed and
from which dealings therein were permitted to take place on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

2018F12H20H ' RARAIRMEERBMIMER EHREEHN A H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
Bt 32 P 38 7 £ T AR Bl

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Bt 22 BT 1R

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FHARBINERCIE FHHTAEFTETESFRXZINERESTE

Nameson Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman lIslands, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1982) and was owned by Happy Family Trust as to approximately 65.8% and
Mr. Wong Ting Chung as to approximately 8.8% as at the date of this report, is a
connected person of the Company

EREERERAR —HXHASHSTMAINRF > ERMHOBRMER L (IR
A 1982)  MAREBPHEREEREREIREE DRI HEH £65.8% K 4
8.8% ' RARFMBEEAL

Nameson Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries

FIEEIR B R D RE R E M E QA
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GLOSSARY (CONTINUED)

w (&)

“Nomination Committee”

[fRREEE

“PRC” or “China”
[H ]

“Prospectus”

[HBRER]

“Remuneration
Committee”

FHEER

“RMB”
AR

“SFC”

iy

Az m =

“SFO”

(78 7 K HI & 5% B

“Share Option Scheme”

[ R ae ot &1

“Sq.m."

By

“Stock Exchange”
B 32 B |

“Tianjin Jianji”
[ RFEE]

“United States”
E3=

“Well Kong Group”
[(BAE&E]

*

reference only.

ZABAEETRXA
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the nomination committee of the Board

EZeETITNRAZES

the People’s Republic of China
REARAFE

the prospectus of the Company dated 10 December 2018
2018F12A10R A AR R ER

the remuneration committee of the Board
EEeBETHNTFMNEESR

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

TEEEEBEARE

the Securities and Futures Commission
BHEMPEEREKEZE S

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEREDFESNER S REERD - B TREE] - R AE M7 X2k

the share option scheme of the Company approved and adopted on 26 November
2018
72018511 A26 B B 4t /& R IR 2 28 2 ) BE AR 4 51 2l

square metres

F 7K

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMERIMARLDA

Million Cities Jianji Real Estate (Tianjin) Company Limited*
BEWEEEE(RB)EARAA

the United States of America
EFEREREH

Well Kong Investments Limited together with its subsidiaries
EAEAREARAREREME QA

The company does not have an official English name. The English translation of the company name is for

CHEZREHRS2E -
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MILLION CITIES

R X = www.millioncities.com.cn

2gedad

ﬁ YA L4

Hong Kong Office &&= R

Address #b3lk : Unit D, 21/F., Block 1, Tai Ping Industrial Centre,
57 Ting Kok Road, Tai Po, New Territories, Hong Kong
ERTRAETAR 7T AT IEFLE—E21EDE

Tel B : (852) 2689-1999
Fax 8H : (852) 2689-1882

China Office BIAMRERE

Address #u3l : 6/F, Block 5, 8 Longhe East Road,
Huicheng District, Huizhou City, Guangdong, China
HEEREEMNT R EENRE 8 HESE 6
Tel &3 : (86) 752-331-6668

Fax @& : (86) 752-331-6777


www.millioncities.com.cn
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